
 

 

 
Notice of meeting and agenda 
 
 

City of Edinburgh Council 
 
10.00 am Thursday, 1st June, 2023 

 
Main Council Chamber, City Chambers 

 

This is a public meeting and members of the public are welcome to attend. 

The law allows the Council to consider some issues in private. Any items under “Private 
Business” will not be published, although the decisions will be recorded in the minute. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Contacts 

Email:  gavin.king@edinburgh.gov.uk 

Tel:  0131 529 4239 

 

 

 

Public Document Pack



 

 

City of Edinburgh Council - 1 June 2023 Page 2 of 24 

 

 

 

1. Order of business 
 
1.1   Including any notices of motion and any other items of business 

submitted as urgent for consideration at the meeting. 

 

 

2. Declaration of interests 
 
2.1   Members should declare any financial and non-financial interests 

they have in the items of business for consideration, identifying 
the relevant agenda item and the nature of their interest. 

 

 

3. Deputations 
 
3.1   If any 

 

 

4. Minutes 
 
4.1   The City of Edinburgh Council of 4 May 2023 – submitted for 

approval as a correct record 

 

25 - 184 

5. Leader's Report 
 
5.1   Leader’s report 

 

185 - 188 

6. Appointments 
 
6.1   If any 

 

 

7. Reports 
 
7.1   Interim Resource - Director of Adult Social Care – Report by the 189 - 192 



 

 

City of Edinburgh Council - 1 June 2023 Page 3 of 24 

 

 

Chief Executive 
 
7.2   Children, Education and Justice Services Structure – Report by 

the Executive Director of Children, Education and Justice 
Services 

193 - 198 

 
7.3   Heathervale Children's House – Report by the Executive Director 

of Children, Education and Justice Services 
199 - 204 

 
7.4   Family Swim Sessions in Braidburn Pool – Report by the 

Executive Director of Children, Education and Justice Services 
205 - 208 

8. Motions 
 
8.1   By Councillor Lang – Consideration of Private Business 

“Council: 

1)       notes that, at its meeting on 21 March 2023, the Policy & 
Sustainability Committee considered a report on 'Four 
Seasons Healthcare - North Merchiston and Castlegreen 
Care Homes'. 

2)       acknowledges the commercial sensitivity that rightly led the 
committee to consider this item in private. 

3)       notes an addendum was tabled to the report which 
extended beyond the specific case of the two care homes 
and resulted in a majority decision to agree: 

          a)       that 'the council’s role as a care provider is best met 
through council owned and operated care homes' and, 

          b)       that 'CECs presumption going forward should be in 
favour of an         in-house model', and for 'the Convenor to 
communicate this     council position to EIJB'. 

4)       recognises this addendum was never published publicly 
and that any group which may have wished to give a 
deputation on these general issues would not have been 
able to do so. 

5)       further recognises that members of the public were 
excluded and the webcast turned off for the debate and 
vote on the general issues covered by the addendum. 

 



 

 

City of Edinburgh Council - 1 June 2023 Page 4 of 24 

 

 

6)       agrees the Council should aspire to the highest levels of 
openness, transparency and accountability in its decision 
making. 

7)       recognises that, whilst there will be individual cases and 
sensitive matters which require consideration in private, 
discussion and decisions on general policy issues should 
always be held in public unless there are exceptional 
circumstances. 

8)       requests that officers consider the issues which arose on 
21 March 2023 and reports back to Council within six 
months with options on how procedures could be amended 
to ensure discussions on general issues and decisions on 
policy are taken in public, even when the catalyst for such 
a discussion comes from a private agenda item.” 

 
 
8.2   By Councill Kumar – EDI Training 

Council: 

1)         Thanks officers for offering training around Equality and 
Diversity to elected representatives and refers to Council’s 
Equality and Diversity Framework 2021-25. 

2)         Notes on calls for both Police Scotland and Metropolitan 
Police to improve their Equality and Diversity training. 

3)         Recognises that Equality and Diversity training is critical 
and has a profound impact on those with protected 
characteristics under Equality Act 2010; and other people 

·           with learning, sensory, and physical disabilities 

·           experiencing domestic abuse and violence 

·           facing digital exclusion 

·           with care experience 

·           from other underrepresented groups such as ethnic 
minority and Gypsy Travellers. 

4)         Notes that current equality and diversity training is offered 
as a one-off online training for staff. 

5)         Agrees to review our Equality and Diversity training, 

 



 

 

City of Edinburgh Council - 1 June 2023 Page 5 of 24 

 

 

learning, and development practice to be changed to: 

a)         A programme of mandatory training to be 
completed over a three-year period completed both 
in-person and online. 

b)         Additional opportunities for in-person training to 
reflect on case studies and examples of 
unconscious bias training that can impact on how 
we develop policies, procurement, funding, design 
and deliver services. 

c)         Recognises the essential value of ‘lived 
experience, therefore should explore services of 
organisations such as CEMVO Scotland, Multi-
Cultural Family Base and others to provide training 
on behalf of the Council. 

6)         Requests an update to be provided to Policy and 
Sustainability Committee in 2 cycles.” 

 
 
8.3   By Councillor McNeese-Mechan - Russian Kidnapping of 

Ukrainian Children 

“Council: 

1) Reaffirms our commitment to both Edinburgh’s sister city 
Kyiv and the Ukrainian people in their struggle to free their 
country from the illegal Russian invasion.  

2) Notes the City recently welcomed a visit from Member of 
the Ukrainian Parliament Lesia Vasylenko, Head of the 
Subcommittee on Climate Change and Clean Air. Although 
the government and parliament of Ukraine continue to 
function despite the odds, in the past twelve months, 
Vasylenko has had to shift her attention from clean air to 
air raids, due to the ongoing bombardment of the cities and 
countryside of Ukraine.  

3) Notes with concern that on the 9th of March Lesia 
Vasylenko highlighted Russia’s programme of kidnapping 
Ukrainian children and transferring them to camps, a war 
crime. US State Department Spokesman Ned Price has 
also confirmed that the Russian authorities have 

 



 

 

City of Edinburgh Council - 1 June 2023 Page 6 of 24 

 

 

systematically snatched thousands of Ukrainian children, 
ranging in age from 4 months old to 17 years old, and 
refused to return them, having cut off all contact with their 
families confirming these war crimes have taken place.  

4) Strongly denounces the Russian kidnapping and forced re-
education of an estimated 6000 Ukrainian children, 
according to Yale University’s Humanitarian Research Lab. 
Council particularly decries the practice of forcing boys 
aged 14 to 17 to train for armed combat and deployment in 
the Russian army.  

5) Affirms its commitment to the UN Declaration on the Rights 
of the Child, and condemns the Russian authorities’ war 
crimes as well as the attempted cultural eradication of 
banning of the use of the Ukrainian language by the 
kidnapped children.  

6) Supports the decision by the International Criminal Court 
to issue an arrest warrant for Vladimir Putin.  

7) Agrees the Council Leader should write to the UK 
Government to again ask them to suspend diplomatic 
credentials of the Russian Consulate in Edinburgh and 
expel all Russian State agents from the City of Edinburgh 
as well as supporting stronger international sanctions.” 

 
 
8.4   By Councillor McFarlane - Time for Inclusive Education 

“Council: 

1) Celebrates the fact that in 2021 Scotland was the first 
country in the world to agree cross-Party to embed lesbian, 
gay, bisexual and transgender (LGBT) inclusive education 
across the school curriculum and notes that there is a 
national expectation that Local Authorities ensure that all 
schools are delivering an LGBT inclusive education for 
their learners. 

2) Agrees that LGBT inclusive education contributes to 
ensuring that all young people see themselves, their 
families, and the world around them in what they learn. 
Further agrees that this should be meaningful, relevant, 

 



 

 

City of Edinburgh Council - 1 June 2023 Page 7 of 24 

 

 

and part of ordinary learning, rather than exceptional or 
siphoned into particular calendar months or one-off 
occasions. 

3) Notes that the charity Time for Inclusive Education (TIE) 
provides services and resources, co-developed with 
teachers from across Scotland and suitable for primary 
and secondary pupils that include stage appropriate 
educational workshops for pupils, professional learning for 
teachers, and curriculum materials. This is in addition to 
their responsibility for managing the new national platform 
lgbteducation.scot on behalf of the Scottish Government 
and endorsed by a variety of stakeholders including those 
in the education sector. 

4) Understands that schools that have utilised this national 
platform and completed Stages 1 and 2 of the CPD 
pathway provided by TIE have reported significant and 
notable success in increasing the confidence of teachers 
to deliver LGBT inclusive education. Schools who have 
engaged with TIE's learner sessions, including those in 
Edinburgh have reported that pupils within their school 
community have a greater understanding of diversity, the 
impact of prejudice, and anti-bullying. 

4.1) Further understands that these resources and training are 
entirely free and come at no monetary cost to schools due 
to core funding support from The Scottish Government. 

Therefore Council agrees: 

5) To pursue embedding a proactive educational approach to 
addressing the stereotypes and stigma which can lead to 
prejudice or bullying experienced by pupils who are 
LGBT+, perceived or thought to be by others, or have 
LGBT family members (such as same-sex parents) in our 
school settings. This should be additional to procedures for 
supporting pupils who experience instances of bullying due 
to their sexuality, gender identity or perceived 
characteristics of such identities. 

6) To agree that the working ambition of the council should 
be towards a 100% completion rate of the Scottish 
Government’s Stage 1 and Stage 2 national professional 



 

 

City of Edinburgh Council - 1 June 2023 Page 8 of 24 

 

 

learning among Edinburgh’s primary and secondary 
teachers. Additionally, Council agrees to commit to 
publishing our progress towards meeting the national 
expectation annually alongside the percentage of primary 
and secondary teachers who have completed Stage 1 and 
Stage 2 of the CPD pathway to the Education, Children 
and Families Committee. 

7) That appropriate officers should engage directly with TIE 
with a view to working with them to host a launch event for 
the lgbteducation.scot national platform in the City 
Chambers emulating the success in other Local Authorities 
and engaging the city’s headteachers, heads of 
department and council education officers with the 
opportunities that this can bring. 

8) To further request a report to Education, Children and 
Families Committee within three cycles outlining: 

• Progress and efforts to date in rolling out LGBT+ 
inclusive education in Edinburgh identifying any 
challenges encountered thus far and potential 
solutions to overcome them. This should also 
include additional third sector work in this sphere 
such as LGBT+ Youth Scotland’s Charter 
programme. 

• A prospective timeline or work programme looking 
to achieve or near achieve the aspiration of 100% of 
primary and secondary teachers progressing 
through Stage 1 and Stage 2 of the national 
professional learning. 

• Whether it may be appropriate to embed an LGBT+ 
Inclusive Education Action Plan within Edinburgh’s 
Education Improvement Plans.” 

 
 
8.5   By Councillor McFarlane - International Overdose Awareness 

Day 

“Council: 

1) Notes that International Overdose Awareness Day takes 

 



 

 

City of Edinburgh Council - 1 June 2023 Page 9 of 24 

 

 

place on the 31st of August every year and that this is a 
worldwide annual campaign to end overdose, remember 
without stigma those who have died, and acknowledge the 
grief of the family and friends left behind.  

2) Further notes that in 2022 the City of Edinburgh Council 
acknowledged this day by supporting Turning Point 
Scotland with an overdose awareness street stall in Leith. 

3) Agrees to annually mark this day across the city with 
information promoted through the Council’s social media 
channels to both raise awareness and signpost support 
services that are available in addition to engaging with 
Edinburgh’s Health and Social Care Partnership to 
establish whether there can be further on the ground 
activity as in previous years.  

4) Further agrees to a report to Culture and Communities 
Committee in two cycles investigating the possible options 
for a formal memorial or place of remembrance to those 
who tragically lost their lives in this way.” 

 
 
8.6   By Councillor Osler - Bowling Greens 

“Council  

1) Notes with regret that Edinburgh Leisure has given notice 
that they intend to return two bowling venues at St 
Margaret’s Park and Victoria Park prior to the start of the 
2023 bowling season. 

2) Appreciates that this has come as a shock to users of 
these facilities who were given little warning. 

3) Understands that officers from Parks and Greenspace, 
Sports and Estates are meeting to review options for 
alternatives uses which might include public toilets and 
café provision. 

4) Agrees that the Council when presented with the 
opportunity of increasing the provision of publicly 
accessible toilets that this should be explored.  

Therefore  

 



 

 

City of Edinburgh Council - 1 June 2023 Page 10 of 24 

 

 

5) Agrees that a report will go to Culture and Communities 
within two cycles looking into what uses could be provided 
at these venues including them remaining as Bowling 
Greens with publicly accessible toilet provision.” 

 
 
8.7   By Councillor Heap – Celebrating Pride Month 

“Council:  

1) Welcomes the celebration of Pride in Edinburgh this 
month; 

2) Understands that pride is a celebration of the diversity, 
history, achievements and equal status and dignity of the 
LGBTIQ+ community; 

3) Celebrates the significant strides made in LGBTIQ+ 
equality in recent decades, but 

4) Further understands that Pride is also a protest against the 
continuing, and in some cases, increasing, inequalities 
faced by this community; 

5) Notes with regret the 10% and 87% yearly increases in, 
respectively, sexual orientation and transgender hate 
crimes in Scotland in 2021/22; 

6) Further notes with regret that the UK fell several places in 
the recently-published ILGA Europe’s Rainbow Index 
ranking of countries by progress on LGBTI+ equality, 
noting a number of regressions in LGBTIQ+ equality, 
including that “Anti-trans rhetoric continued to cause 
serious damage in the UK again this year, with continued 
hostile reporting in mainstream newspapers” and also that 
“LGBT Youth Scotland’s ‘Life in Scotland’ report found that 
the rate of LGBTI young people thinking Scotland was a 
“good place for LGBTI young people to live” dropping from 
81% to 65% in just five years” 

7) Believes that the Council chamber and Committee 
chambers should be no place for speeches which 
endanger the transgender and broader LGBTIQ+ 
communities. 

 



 

 

City of Edinburgh Council - 1 June 2023 Page 11 of 24 

 

 

8) Welcomes the flying of the Progress Flag from the City 
Chambers for the entirety of Pride Month. 

9) Believes the Council has a central role in driving progress 
towards the full equality and inclusion of LGBTIQ+ people 
in Edinburgh. 

10) And requests a report to the first Full Council after the 
summer recess covering: 

 (a) what progress on LGBTIQ+ equality has been made 
as part of the Council’s Equality and Diversity 
Framework 2021-2025 so far; 

 (b) And what future actions it will take as part of the 
Framework to advance LGBTIQ+ equality including 
(i) what can be done to support local pride activities 
across the city, and 

 (c) How the Council works with Police Scotland to 
tackle LGBTIQ+ hate crime.” 

 
 
8.8   By Councillor Mowat - Critical Risks 

“Council notes:  

That the black rated critical risks for service delivery and 
workforce on the Corporate Leadership Team’s Risk Register is 
unprecedented and presents the most serious challenge to the 
organisation;  

That the Council’s core function is to deliver services to the 
residents of Edinburgh who rely on the Council as their sole 
service provider;  

That Councillors have a duty to both ensure the Corporate 
Leadership Team focuses their attention on addressing this issue 
with the utmost urgency and to support staff to ensure that the 
situation does not worsen;   

That the latest Audit Scotland Local Government Overview 2023 
details the serious challenges facing councils and has produced a 
checklist that all Councillors should complete to focus their 
attention which includes the question “Are we (Councillors and 
senior officers) investing time and capacity into thinking radically 

 



 

 

City of Edinburgh Council - 1 June 2023 Page 12 of 24 

 

 

about the Council’s future operating model?  

Agrees:  

1) That the Chief Executive will bring a report to Full Council 
in 1 cycle detailing a plan to reduce the Critical risks noted 
above, and that plan will be monitored by an appropriate 
Committee for the next six months and a further report 
detailing progress will be brought to Council in December 
2023;  

2) That Councillors support officers by considering whether 
motions, amendments and written questions are necessary 
for the pursuance of Council business and delivery and 
resist bringing those that would add to officer workload and 
to review this restraint when the progress report is brought 
to council in December 2023.” 

 
 
8.9   By Councillor Faccenda - Achieving our Sustainable Food Goals 

“Council notes: 

              In 2023 the Edinburgh Medal was awarded to global food 
campaigner Professor Marion Nestle and Edinburgh has 
now achieved Silver Status from Sustainable Food Places 

              The Edible Edinburgh Sustainable Food Partnership which 
was set up in 2014 to bring together stakeholders and 
partners to address key issues of health, well-being, 
climate change and food justice, campaigning for change 
and informing policy for collaborative food and growing 
projects has produced a Sustainable Food Plan for 
Edinburgh setting out a 10-year plan for the city. 

              That sustainable food systems are central to achieving the 
3 goals of the Council Business Plan, Challenging Poverty, 
Achieving Net Zero 2030 ambitions and the well-being of 
all Edinburgh citizens. 

              The recent report commissioned by the Council on 
developing food markets/hubs across the City to address 
food sustainability and food and health inequalities. 

Council reaffirms that:  

 



 

 

City of Edinburgh Council - 1 June 2023 Page 13 of 24 

 

 

              Everyone in Edinburgh should have equal access to 
affordable, good, healthy food.  

              Our food should be produced in a way that is good for the 
environment and biodiversity making Edinburgh a city that 
produces, provides, and purchases food that is good for 
the planet, good for people and good for all those involved 
in growing, making and selling it. 

              We should support a vibrant and resilient local food 
economy celebrating local food enterprises. 

              People working in the food system should be respected 
and paid a fair wage. 

Furthermore, council notes that: 

Council agrees: 

1)         To continue to support the work of the Edible Edinburgh 
Sustainable Food Partnership 

2)         Build public awareness and active food citizenship. 

3)         Take a strategic and collaborative approach to good food 
governance in council work by gathering information on all 
council provided catering and food procurement with a 
view to revitalising local and sustainable food supply 
chains. 

4)         Council asks for a report in 3 cycles to the Policy and 
Sustainability Committee to bring together an assessment 
of all food related initiatives across the council as a start to 
developing our statutory Food Plan and to avoid repetition 
of work being done due to the current broad range of work 
across the council.” 

 
 
8.10   By Councillor Day - Safe Cycling at Work 

“Council notes there is an increasing number of cycle delivery 
services in the city that do not provide their workers with lights or 
high visability clothing and as such there could be at risk to these 
riders and other road users.  

Council believes that it is essential for all road users to behave 

 



 

 

City of Edinburgh Council - 1 June 2023 Page 14 of 24 

 

 

responsibly and to adhere to the highway code. 

Council agrees employers are responsible for supplying the 
appropriate safety clothing/equipment for their delivery teams and 
therefore agrees to support a joint campaign with the Police, and 
any other relevant organisation, on promoting cycle safety at 
work.” 

 
 
8.11   By Councillor Jones - Edinburgh College Faces Funding Cuts 

“Council notes –  

 Edinburgh College is the flagship college of further education 
for Scotland delivering 10% of all college activity in Scotland. 
It provides education courses to around 27000 students every 
year, helping address skills gaps, employability, social 
mobility and income poverty. 

 900 students are from a care experienced background, 
around 15% are from the 20% most deprived wards and 20% 
of students report having a disability. 

 90% of students report that they are satisfied with their 
Edinburgh College experience, and 95% go onto a positive 
destination. 

 Edinburgh college works with over 2000 businesses and 
10,000 employees a year to aid economic growth and SME 
development furthermore is committed to providing the 
necessary skills for the new Forth Green Freeport. 

 The College welcomes students from over 100 countries and 
undertake teaching work across all five continents. 

 Council notes that the Scottish Government has clawed back 
a £46 million uplift promised to Scotland's universities and 
colleges in the most recent budget. The resulting impact for 
Edinburgh College will likely lead to further staff cuts to 
achieve the cost savings, possible reductions in student 
support services, and further reductions in the number of 
courses offered, all negatively impacting on the College’s 
capacity to deliver good quality outcomes for students, 
addressing skills gaps in the region, and enabling inclusive 

 



 

 

City of Edinburgh Council - 1 June 2023 Page 15 of 24 

 

 

economic growth. 

 Edinburgh College already experiences 13% less funding 
than other colleges throughout Scotland as a result of the 
present funding formula. 

 Only last year, John Swinney, Acting Finance Secretary, said 
“We must have a skills, training and research environment 
that enables our people and businesses to realise their 
potential. For that reason we have increased the resources 
available to the College and university sectors by £26 million 
and £20 million to support this process." Mr Dey confirmed 
that this increase would now not happen. This cut in funding 
is a total betrayal. 

 Council requests that the Leader of the Council writes 
immediately in the strongest terms possible to Minister for 
Higher and Further Education; and Minister for Veterans - 
Graeme Dey, to reverse these cuts and furthermore to 
remove the disparity which already exists in funding received 
by Edinburgh College.” 

 

9. Congratulatory Motions 
 
9.1   By Councillor O'Neill - North Edinburgh Community Festival 

“Council; 

1)         Congratulates North Edinburgh Community Festival which 
took place on Saturday 13th May in West Pilton Park. 

2)         Notes the scale of the event with 80 community stalls, live 
music and performances, Disney themed parade, variety 
of food stalls and other activities for all ages and abilities. 

3)         Further notes the support from sponsors, organisations 
such as Scotmid, Edinburgh College, The National Lottery, 
The Edinburgh Partnership, and local organisations in the 
north of the city including Granton Youth, West Pilton 
Neighbourhood Centre (WPNC), Fresh Start, North 
Edinburgh Arts, L.I.F.T, Project Esperanza, P.C.H.P., 
Stepping Stones and many more. 

 



 

 

City of Edinburgh Council - 1 June 2023 Page 16 of 24 

 

 

4)         Thanks those who organised this free, family friendly and 
community-led event and those who volunteered on the 
festival team ensuring its operation on the day. 

5)         Commends the care taken to accessibility with the 
provision of a wheelchair accessible buggy that helped 
transport people from the WPNC onto the park and around 
the stalls. 

6)         Further commends the work to create, foster and 
showcase the power and community of North Edinburgh. 

7)         Looks forward to the next North Edinburgh Community 
Festival.” 

 
 
9.2   By Councillor Heap – The Forth Act and A Midsummer Night's 

Dream 

“Council: 

1) Welcomes the setting up of a new community theatre 
group in west Edinburgh, The Forth Act. 

2) Notes that it will hold its first production, which will be A 
Midsummer Night’s Dream by William Shakespeare, in 
Saughton Park, 21-24 June. 

3) Welcomes that local people will be involved in all elements 
of the production, including the acting, costumes, direction 
and scenery. 

4) Believes that Community Theatre projects such as The 
Forth Act are essential in ensuring that everyone in the city 
has access to cultural opportunities. 

5) Wishes The Forth Act the best of luck with their production, 
and all the very best with their future development. 

6) Requests The Lord Provost congratulate The Forth Act on 
their establishment and first production.” 

 

 

 
9.3   By Councillor Dobbin - Spartans FC 

“Council: 

 



 

 

City of Edinburgh Council - 1 June 2023 Page 17 of 24 

 

 

Is proud to celebrate and recognise the success of Spartans FC 
in winning the Lowland League (for the second time since the 
league was formed in 2013), and subsequently beating Albion 
Rovers to win promotion to the SPFL: League Division 2.  

Council also recognises the success of the Women’s team in 
having 4 of their players selected as internationals for the 
Scotland under 19’s 

These are magnificent achievements, and great testament to 
Spartans continued commitment to develop young players from 
North Edinburgh and changing lives through sport. 

To celebrate this outstanding achievement Council requests that 
the Lord Provost writes to Spartans to congratulate them on their 
sporting success and to acknowledge the importance of the wide 
range of work that they do in serving the communities of North 
Edinburgh.” 

 
 
9.4   By Councillor Mowat - The Spartans FC 

“That Council; 

Congratulates The Spartans Football Club on their historic 
promotion to the SPFL League 2 following their recent Pyramid 
Play-Off victory against Albion Rovers. 

Further congratulates The Spartans Football Club, who play their 
home games at Ainslie Park in Pilton Drive, for their achievement 
not only in gaining promotion but also on winning their record 
third Lowland League title in doing so. 

Celebrates the work the community club undertake within North 
Edinburgh under the stewardship of Chairman Craig Graham and 
Manager Douglas Samuel and asks the Lord Provost to mark this 
in an appropriate way.” 

 

 

 
9.5   By Councillor Arthur - Spartans FC - Winning the Lowland 

Football League and Promotion to League Two of SPFL 

“Council: 

Congratulates The Spartans FC for winning the Lowland Football 

 



 

 

City of Edinburgh Council - 1 June 2023 Page 18 of 24 

 

 

League on the 8th of April with two games still to play, and then 
going on to win promotion to League Two of SPFL. 

Notes that in part the success is due to how the club is embedded 
in the local community, as Dougie Samuel MBE (manager) put it: 
“I think we’re recognised as being a community anchor 
organisation that does help local people.”  

Welcomes that The Spartans FC will join FC Edinburgh, Heart of 
Midlothian and Hibernian in the SPFL.   

Agrees that the Lord Provost should mark the success of Dougie 
Samuel MBE and his team in an appropriate manner.” 

 
 
9.6   By Councillor O'Neill – Congratulating Spartans FC 

“Council: 

1) Congratulates Edinburgh team Spartans FC for their 
triumph against Albion Rovers which has been hailed as a 
great moment in club history. 

2) Notes that the club was founded in 1951 by University of 
Edinburgh graduates and has been transformed in the past 
20 years thanks to chairman Craig Graham. 

3) Commends this transformation which includes establishing 
a youth academy pathway and a women & girls section. 

4) Further notes that this win promotes Spartans to the 
Scottish Professional Football League (SPFL). 

5) Wishes the team the best of luck with the season and 
congratulates all involved in the club and its work.” 

 

 

 
9.7   By Councillor Mumford - Edinburgh High School Students Union 

“Council; 

- Welcomes the creation of the Edinburgh High School 
Students Union (EHSSU) in January 2023, with the aim of 
“giving a voice to young people in Edinburgh to collectively 
raise issues and create a better and more positive 
educational experience for all”; 

 



 

 

City of Edinburgh Council - 1 June 2023 Page 19 of 24 

 

 

- Celebrates this initiative and recognises that supporting 
EHSSU can enable the Council to further our commitment to 
respecting pupil voice; 

- Congratulates the EHSSU on their six-month anniversary and 
request the Lord Provost marks this in an appropriate way.” 

 

10. Questions 
 
10.1   By Councillor Doggart - Swift IT System – for answer by the 

Convener of the Finance and Resources Committee 

 

209 - 210 

 
10.2   By Councillor Aston - Acquisitions and Disposals Programme – 

for answer by the Convener of the Housing, Homelessness and 
Fair Work Committee 

 

211 - 212 

 
10.3   By Councillor Nicolson - Chief Officer of EIJB – for answer by the 

Chair of the Edinburgh Integration Joint Board 

 

213 - 214 

 
10.4   By Councillor McVey - Controlled Parking Zones – for answer by 

the Convener of the Transport and Environment Committee 

 

215 - 216 

 
10.5   By Councillor Key - EV Charging Equipment – for answer by the 

Convener of the Transport and Environment Committee 

 

217 - 218 

 
10.6   By Councillor McFarlane - Lifelong Learning Review – for answer 

by the Convener of the Culture and Communities Committee 

 

219 - 220 

 
10.7   By Councillor Campbell - Lifelong Learning Review Budget 

Savings – for answer by the Convener of the Culture and 
Communities Committee 

 

221 - 222 

 



 

 

City of Edinburgh Council - 1 June 2023 Page 20 of 24 

 

 

10.8   By Councillor Nicolson -Recruitment of Frontline Staff - Health 
and Social Care Partnership – for answer by the Chair of the 
Edinburgh Integration Joint Board 

 

223 - 224 

 
10.9   By Councillor Macinnes - Scottish Government Funding – for 

answer by the Convener of the Finance and Resources 
Committee 

 

225 - 226 

 
10.10   By Councillor McFarlane - Statue Body and Soul from Hunter 

Square – for answer by the Convener of the Transport and 
Committee 

 

227 - 228 

 
10.11   By Councillor Dobbin - Visit to Taiwan - for answer by the Leader 

of the Council 

 

229 - 230 

 
10.12   By Councillor Dijkstra-Downie - Contraflow Cycling on One Way 

Streets – for answer by the Convener of the Transport and 
Environment Committee 

 

231 - 232 

 
10.13   By Councillor Caldwell - Impact of Controlled Parking Zone TROs 

on the Communal Bin Review and Disabled Parking Bay 
Requests – for answer by the Convener of the Transport and 
Environment Committee 

 

233 - 234 

 
10.14   By Councillor Lang - Builyeon Road in Queensferry – for answer 

by the Convener of the Transport and Environment Committee 

 

235 - 236 

 
10.15   By Councillor Flannery - The Decision to Progress to Legislative 

TRO for B1 Potential CPZ in Southside Newington – for answer 
by the Convener of the Transport and Environment Committee 

 

237 - 238 

 



 

 

City of Edinburgh Council - 1 June 2023 Page 21 of 24 

 

 

10.16   By Councillor Dijkstra-Downie - Food Waste in Schools – for 
answer by the Convener of the Education, Children and Families 
Committee 

 

239 - 240 

 
10.17   By Councillor Thornley - Play Parks Funding – for answer by the 

Convener of the Culture and Communities Committee 

 

241 - 242 

 
10.18   By Councillor Heap - Empty Shopfronts – for answer by the 

Convener of the Culture and Communities Committee 

 

243 - 244 

 
10.19   By Councillor Heap - Save Our Studios Campaign – for answer 

by the Convener of the Culture and Communities Committee 

 

245 - 246 

 
10.20   By Councillor Heap - West Park Place Studios – for answer by 

the Convener of the Culture and Communities Committee 

 

247 - 248 

 
10.21   By Councillor Heap - Filmhouse Meetings – for answer by the 

Convener of the Culture and Communities Committee 

 

249 - 250 

 
10.22   By Councillor Cowdy - Assessment of Sewer Flood Risk – for 

answer by the Convener of the Transport and Environment 
Committee 

 

251 - 252 

 
10.23   By Councillor Cowdy - Recycling Centre Volumes – for answer by 

the Convener of the Transport and Environment Committee 

 

253 - 254 

 
10.24   By Councillor Cowdy - Raising Awareness of Flood Risk - for 

answer by the Convener of the Transport and Environment 
Committee 

 

255 - 256 

 



 

 

City of Edinburgh Council - 1 June 2023 Page 22 of 24 

 

 

10.25   By Councillor Mowat - Murrayfield Road Closures – for answer by 
the Convener of the Transport and Environment Committee 

 

257 - 258 

 
10.26   By Councillor Mitchell - Council Tax Arrears – for answer by the 

Convener of the Finance and Resources Committee 

 

259 - 260 

 
10.27   By Councillor Cowdy - Bus Network Review – for answer by the 

Convener of the Transport and Environment Committee 

 

261 - 262 

 
10.28   By Councillor Whyte - MKA Economics Study – for answer by the 

Convener of the Planning Committee 

 

263 - 264 

 
10.29   By Councillor Parker - Social Housing - Anti-Social Behaviour – 

for answer by the Convener of the Housing, Homelessness and 
Fair Work Committee 

 

265 - 266 

 
10.30   By Councillor Booth - Planning Application Statistics – for answer 

by the Convener of the Development Management Sub-
Committee 

 

267 - 268 

 
10.31   By Councillor Nicolson - EIJB Public Consultation – for answer by 

the Chair of the Edinburgh Integration Joint Board 

 

269 - 270 

 
10.32   By Councillor Booth - Planning Enforcement Statistics – for 

answer by the Convener of the Planning Committee 

 

271 - 272 

Nick Smith 
Service Director, Legal and Assurance 

 



 

 

City of Edinburgh Council - 1 June 2023 Page 23 of 24 

 

 

Information about the City of Edinburgh Council 

The City of Edinburgh Council consists of 63 Councillors and is elected under 
proportional representation.  The City of Edinburgh Council usually meets once a 
month and the Lord Provost is the Convener when it meets.  

The City of Edinburgh Council usually meets in the Council Chamber in the City 
Chambers on the High Street in Edinburgh.  There is a seated public gallery and the 
Council meeting is open to all members of the public.  

Further information 

If you have any questions about the agenda or meeting arrangements, please contact 
Gavin King, Committee Services, City of Edinburgh Council, Business Centre 2.1, 
Waverley Court, 4 East Market Street, Edinburgh EH8 8BG,  Tel 0131 529 4239, email 
gavin.king@edinburgh.gov.uk. 

A copy of the agenda and papers for this meeting will be available for inspection prior to 
the meeting at the main reception office, City Chambers, High Street, Edinburgh. 

The agenda, minutes and public reports for this meeting and all the main Council 
committees can be viewed online by going to https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/.  

Webcasting of Council meetings 

Please note this meeting may be filmed for live and subsequent broadcast via the 
Council’s internet site – at the start of the meeting the Convener will confirm if all or part 
of the meeting is being filmed. 

The Council is a Data Controller under current Data Protection legislation.  We 
broadcast Council meetings to fulfil our public task obligation to enable members of the 
public to observe the democratic process.  Data collected during this webcast will be 
retained in accordance with the Council’s published policy including, but not limited to, 
for the purpose of keeping historical records and making those records available via the 
Council’s internet site. 

Generally the public seating areas will not be filmed.  However, by entering the Council 
Chamber and using the public seating area, individuals may be filmed and images and 
sound recordings captured of them will be used and stored for web casting and training 
purposes and for the purpose of keeping historical records and making those records 
available to the public. 

Any information presented by individuals to the Council at a meeting, in a deputation or 
otherwise, in addition to forming part of a webcast that will be held as a historical 
record, will also be held and used by the Council in connection with the relevant matter 
until that matter is decided or otherwise resolved (including any potential appeals and 

https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/


 

 

City of Edinburgh Council - 1 June 2023 Page 24 of 24 

 

 

other connected processes).  Thereafter, that information will continue to be held as 
part of the historical record in accordance with the paragraphs above. 

If you have any queries regarding this, and, in particular, if you believe that use and/or 
storage of any particular information would cause, or be likely to cause, substantial 
damage or distress to any individual, please contact Committee Services 
(committee.services@edinburgh.gov.uk). 



The City of Edinburgh Council – 4 May 2023                                                 Page 1 of 159 

 Minutes 

The City of Edinburgh Council  

Edinburgh, Thursday 4 May 2023 

Present: 
 

LORD PROVOST 
 

The Right Honourable Robert Aldridge 
 

COUNCILLORS 
 
Scott Arthur 
Danny Aston 
Jule Bandel 
Alan C Beal 
Fiona Bennett 
Marco Biagi 
Chas Booth 
Graeme Bruce 
Steve Burgess 
Jack Caldwell 
Lezley Marion Cameron 
Kate Campbell 
Christopher Cowdy 
James Dalgleish 
Euan R Davidson 
Cammy Day 
Sanne Dijkstra-Downie 
Denis C Dixon 
Stuart Dobbin 
Phil Doggart 
Katrina Faccenda 
Pauline Flannery 
Catherine Fullerton 
Neil Gardiner 
Fiona Glasgow 
Margaret A Graham 
Joan Griffiths 
Dan Heap 
Euan Hyslop 
Stephen P Jenkinson 
Tim Jones 

David Key 
Simita Kumar 
Kevin Lang 
Lesley Macinnes 
Martha Mattos Coelho 
Finlay McFarlane 
Ross McKenzie 
Amy McNeese-Mechan 
Adam McVey 
Jane E Meagher 
Claire Miller 
Max Mitchell 
Jo Mowat 
Alys Mumford 
Marie-Clair Munro 
Vicky Nicolson 
Kayleigh O’Neill 
Hal Osler 
Ben Parker 
Tim Pogson 
Susan Rae 
Neil J Ross 
Jason Rust 
Alex Staniforth 
Edward J Thornley 
Val Walker 
Mandy H Watt 
Iain Whyte 
Norman J Work 
Louise Young 
Lewis J Younie 

  

Page 25

Agenda Item 4.1



The City of Edinburgh Council – 4 May 2023                                                 Page 2 of 159 

1 Deputations 

a) Planning Democracy  

(in relation to item 30 - Motion by Councillor McKenzie – Review Rights 

of Appeal in Planning) 

 The deputation were aware of the pressure on local authority planners and 

members with their limited resources and staffing and their emphasis for 

efficiency.  They indicated that research clearly showed consistand demand 

from members of the public for planning appeal rights. 

 The deputation felt that a system which entitled a developer to a free full 

merits review of a planning decision, whilst denying members of the public 

who would be impacted by that development the same right, was simply 

unjust and unfair.  They believed that a system that treated all people equally 

would deliver better outcomes. 

The deputation urged the Council to support the motion by Councillor 

McKenzie (see item 30 below) 

b) SOS Leith  

(in relation to item 14 – Motion by Councillor Caldwell – Sewage in 

Edinburgh’s Waterways) 

 The deputation indicated that a vast amount of silt had accumulated over the 

years and were worried about what this may be hiding.  They had had 

samples tested by SEPA who had confirmed the presence of faecal matter 

but had indicated that they did not monitor any sites below the high water 

mark. 

The deputation indicated that the motion by Councillor Caldwell addressed 

many of their concerns and urged members to support the motion (see item 

14 below). 

c) NLRP12  

(in relation to Item 27 - Motion by Councillor Parker – Edward Windsor) 

 The Deputation indicated that 100% of their members polled were against the 

motion by Councillor Parker.  They indicated that those who would be affected 

the most by the mtion were residents of the city who were veterans. 

The deputation also stressed that there would be an impact on those who 

were currently taking part in the Duke of Edinburgh’s Award Scheme.  The 

deputation urged the Council not to support the motion (see item 27 below). 

Page 26



The City of Edinburgh Council – 4 May 2023                                                 Page 3 of 159 

d) Water of Leith Conservation Trust (Written Submission) 

(in relation to item 14 – Motion by councillor Caldwell – Sewage in 

Edinburgh’s Waterways) 

 The deputation were concerned about the increase in frequency of Combined 

Sewer Overflows (CSO's) venting into the Water of Leith and stressed that 

they saw the evidence of these events as wet wipes and sanitary products left 

on trees and branches along the river following on from high flow events. 

The deputation’s main concern was around venting CSO's, which was the 

potential build up in Leith due to the impoundment of the river by Leith Docks, 

most rivers had a tidal ebb and flow which meant sewage wa washed into the 

sea but this did not happen in the Water of Leith (see item 14 below). 

e) Our Republic  

(in relation to Item 27 - Motion by Councillor Parker – Edward Windsor) 

 The deputation had looked at the motion in the form of a branding issue in 

that the Duke of Edinburgh as a title and a role did not necessarily have much 

of a relationship with the City of Edinburgh Council.  They felt that if inyone 

was going to be awarded a title it should be linked in some way to the 

democratic process. 

 The deputation stressed that they felt that the Duke of Edinburgh title had no 

relationship with the city and that it was important for a debate to be held on 

whether or not we recognised the Duke of Edinburgh and if they did have any 

relationship with the city (see item 27 below). 

2 Minutes 

Decision 

To approve the minute of the Council of 16 March 2023 as a correct record. 

3 Leader’s Report 

The Leader presented his report to the Council.  He commented on: 

• Late Ken Buchanan - Tribute 

• Edinburgh by Numbers 

• Re-opening North Bridge/Leith Walk/Trams to Newhaven 

• Event in Portobello - correction 

• Apologies to Council on behalf of CGI - failings 

• Thanks to Committee Services team 

• Commend inspection report of Mortonhall Crematorium 

Page 27



The City of Edinburgh Council – 4 May 2023                                                 Page 4 of 159 

• Hosting meeting of Trans Community 

• Black Alliance Scotland Summit  

• Firhill High School - congratulations  

 

The following questions/comments were made: 

Councillor McVey - 

- 

Condolonces to the family of Ken Buchanan 

What is the leader most proud of in the past year 

Councillor Lang - Delays to the delivery of critical road safety 

projects – road safety improvement fund 

Councillor Mumford - Economic Vision for Edinburgh 

Councillor Whyte - Appointed Bailies voting for a motion attacking the 

Royal Family in the City through the Duke of 

Edinburgh 

Councillor Jenkinson - Warm and Welcoming Spaces Summit – success 

of initiative and continuing work 

Councillor Fullerton - Confidence in the EIJB Chair 

Councillor Bennett - Tram Extension – Haymarket to Granton – path 

network 

Councillor Parker - Show gardens at the Chelsea flower show – 

reduction in the use of pesticide glyphosate in 

Edinburgh 

Councillor Cowdy - Overstretched officer resources 

Councillor Lezley Marion 

Cameron 

- Proposed work to be undertaken to provide 

members with an overview of the “state of the city” 

Councillor Macinnes - International Workers Memorial Day – Leader’s 

attendance 

Councillor Davidson - Access to reproductive health care – cancellation 

of Scottish Government’s short term working 

group on buffer zones 

Councillor Bandel - Protecting and enhancing nature – nature 

emergency 

Page 28



The City of Edinburgh Council – 4 May 2023                                                 Page 5 of 159 

Councillor Doggart - Council employees - Care Inspectorate report – 

strategic oversight of key employees 

Councillor Campbell - Forth Green Freeport workstream related to net 

zero being led by INEOS - concerns 

Councillor Younie - Invitations by the new First Minister to meetings of 

the Scottish Government Cabinet 

Councillor Heap - Closure of Gorgie Farm – welfare of animals 

Councillor Aston - 

- 

Workplace parking levy 

Labour Councillor appointments in English 

elections 

 

4 Review of Appointmens to Committees, Boards and Joint 

Boards for 2023-2024 

The Council was invited to appoint members to Committees, Boards and Joint 

Boards for the municipal year 2023/2024. 

Motion 

Council: 

1) Reappoints: 

 Councillor Cammy Day as Council Leader 

 Councillor Mandy Watt as Depute Council Leader 

2) Reappoints: 

Councillor Cammy Day as Convener of the Policy and Sustainability 

Committee 

Councillor Val Walker as Convener of the Culture and Communities 

Committee 

Councillor Joan Griffiths as Convener of the Education, Children and Families 

Committee 

Councillor Jane Meagher as Convener of the Housing, Homelessness and 

Fair Work Committee 

Page 29



The City of Edinburgh Council – 4 May 2023                                                 Page 6 of 159 

Councillor Mandy Watt as Convener of the Finance and Resources 

Committee 

Councillor Scott Arthur as Convener of the Transport and Environment 

Committee 

Councillor James Dalgleish as Convener of the Planning Committee 

Councillor Mandy Watt as Convener of the Pensions Committee 

Councillor Tim Pogson as Chair of the Edinburgh Integration Joint Board 

3) Replace: 

Councillor Jane Meagher with Councillor Lezley Marion Cameron on the 

Culture and Communities Committee 

Councillor Margaret Graham with Councillor Katrina Faccenda on the 

Transport and Environment Committee  

Councillor Val Walker with Councillor Margaret Graham on the Education, 

Children and Families Committee  

Councillor Mandy Watt with Councillor Tim Pogson on the Housing, 

Homelessness and Fair Work Committee 

Councillor James Dalgleish with Councillor Val Walker on the Regulatory 

Committee 

Councillor Val Walker with Councillor Lezley Marion Cameron on Edinburgh 

Leisure 

Councillor Joan Griffiths with Councillor Cammy Day on the Edinburgh 

International Jazz and Blues Festival 

4) Appoints: 

Councillor Margaret Graham to the Regulatory Committee 

Councillor Lezley Marion Cameron to the Equalities Working Group 

Councillor Margaret Graham to the Short Term Lets Working Group 

Councillor Scott Arthur to the Combined Transport, Local Access and Active 

Travel Forum 

5) Remove Councillor Joan Griffiths from the Policy and Sustainability 

Committee 

Page 30



The City of Edinburgh Council – 4 May 2023                                                 Page 7 of 159 

6) Reappoints all remaining Administration members to existing Committee 

places as agreed for 2022/2023 

7) Note the membership of the Lothian Valuation Joint Board and Licensing 

Board as agreed for 2022/2023.” 

- moved by Councillor Day, seconded by Councillor Watt 

Amendment 1 

1) Replaces 1.1 in the recommendations in the report by the Executive Director 

of Corporate Services with “Agrees to replace one Labour member with a 

Liberal Democrat member as set out in section 4.17 to reflect the Council’s 

political proportionality.” 

2) Replaces points 1.2 a and b in the recommendations in the report with:  

“(a) Agrees to remove the current Council Leader and Deputy Leader due to 

systemic failures of leadership and broken promises. Therefor agrees to hold 

these positions vacant until June Council to allow an Administration to be 

formed which can better deliver residents’ needs and aspirations and prioritise 

tackling climate change and fighting poverty.  

(b) Agrees to remove all Conveners and Vice-Conveners to be appointed at June 

Council with individual committees electing a chair at the start of each 

meeting for any committees taking place before June Council.  

3) At 1.2(c) and (d) in the recommendations in the report, agrees to retain the 

current SNP members as outlined in appendix 2 and 3 respectively.  

4) Replaces point 1.2(e) in the recommendations in the report with: 

“The Council notes the damning report on performance of Integrated Joint 

Board and the role the current Convenor has played in allowing this situation 

to develop. Agrees therefore to immediately remove the current Convener 

from the position of IJB Convener or Vice Convener and request that the 

soon-to-be-appointed Convener of the IJB from the NHS chairs any meetings 

until a competent replacement from the Council is appointed in June.” 

- moved by Councillor McVey, seconded by Councillor Dobbin 

  

Page 31



The City of Edinburgh Council – 4 May 2023                                                 Page 8 of 159 

Amendment 2 

Council 

1) Appoints  

Councillor Fiona Bennett as the additional Liberal Democrat member on 

Policy & Sustainability Committee 

2) Reappoints 

Councillor Neil Ross as Convener of the Regulatory Committee 

Councillor Hal Osler as Convener of the Development Management Sub-

Committee 

3) Notes 

Councillor Louise Young as Convener of the Licensing Board 

4) Reappoints all remaining Liberal Democrat members to existing committee 

places as agreed for 2022/23 

5) Replaces  

Councillor Hal Osler with Councillor Alan Beal on “Energy for Edinburgh” 

6) Replaces 

Councillor Kevin Lang with Cllr Sanne Dijkstra-Downie as the Liberal 

Democrat member of the South-East of Scotland Regional Transport 

Partnership. 

- moved by Councillor Young, seconded by Councillor Dijkstra-Downie 

Amendment 3 

Makes the following changes: 

Recommendations 

add the following at the end of point 1.3 in the report by the Executive Director of 

Corporate Services: 

", subject to the following change: to increase the size of the Licensing Board from 9 

members to 10 members, with a political composition of 3 SNP, 2 Scottish Liberal 

Democrats, 2 Labour, 2 Green, 1 Conservative, effective immediately."  

Page 32



The City of Edinburgh Council – 4 May 2023                                                 Page 9 of 159 

Leadership Advisory Panel 

Change “Green Group Leader – Councillors Mumford/Staniforth” 

To “Green Group Co-convener – Councillors Mumford/Parker” 

Recruitment Committee 

Change “group leaders”  

To “group leaders/co-conveners” 

Chief Official Personnel Hearing Committee 

Change Cllr Staniforth to Cllr Parker 

- moved by Councillor Mumford, seconded by Councillor Booth 

Amendment 4 

The Conservative Group Makes the following nominations: 

To specify appointments to the following positions for 2023/24: 

EXECUTIVE COMMITTEES 

Policy and Sustainability Committee 

Councillor Doggart 

Councillor Whyte 

Culture and Communities Committee 

Councillor Mitchell 

Councillor Munro 

Education, Children and Families Committee 

Councillor Cowdy 

Councillor Jones 

Finance and Resources Committee 

Councillor Doggart 

Councillor Bruce 

Page 33



The City of Edinburgh Council – 4 May 2023                                                 Page 10 of 159 

Housing, Homelessness and Fair Work Committee 

Councillor Bruce 

Councillor Whyte 

Transport and Environment Committee 

Councillor Cowdy 

Councillor Munro 

Other Committees 

Governance, Risk and Best Value Committee 

Councillor Mowat 

Councillor Rust 

Pensions Committee 

Councillor Doggart 

Planning Committee and Development Management Sub-Committee 

Councillor Jones 

Councillor Mowat 

Planning Local Review Body 

Panel 1 

Councillor Jones 

Panel 2 

Councillor Mowat 

Regulatory Committee and Licensing Sub-Committee 

Councillor Mowat (Convener of Licensing Sub) 

Leadership Advisory Panel 

Conservative Group Leader – Councillor Whyte 

Administration of Trust Funds 

Page 34



The City of Edinburgh Council – 4 May 2023                                                 Page 11 of 159 

Committee on the Jean F Watson Bequest 

Councillor Mitchell 

Reviews and Appeals 

Committee on Discretionary Rating Relief Appeals 

Councillor Cowdy 

Personnel Appeals Committee 

Councillor Mowat 

Committee on Pupil Student Support 

Councillor Jones 

Members of the Integration Joint Board and Joint Committees 

Councillor Max Mitchell; 

Chief Official Personnel Assessment Committee 

Councillor Jones 

Chief Official Personnel Hearing Committee 

Councillor Whyte 

1.3 To note the membership of the Lothian Valuation Joint Board and Licensing 

Board. 

Lothian Valuation Joint Board/Lothian Electoral Joint Committee 

(9 members – 3SNP, 2L, 2SLD, 1G, 1C) 

Councillor Mitchell 

Licensing Board 

(9 members: 3 SNP,2 L, 2 SLD, 1G, 1 Conservative) 

Councillor Rust (Vice-Convener) 

- moved by Councillor Mowat, seconded by Councillor Rust 

In accordance with Standing Order 22(12), Amendments 1 and 3 were adjusted and 

accepted as addendums to the motion and Amendments 2 and 4 were accepted as 

addendums to the motion. 

Page 35



The City of Edinburgh Council – 4 May 2023                                                 Page 12 of 159 

In accordance with Standing Order 22(12), the Motion and Amendments 2 and 4 

were adjusted and accepted as addendums to Amendment 1 and Amendment 3 was 

accepted as an addendum to Amendment 1. 

Voting 

The voting was as follows: 

For the Motion (as adjusted) - 33 votes 

For Amendment 1(as adjusted) - 29 votes 

(For the Motion (as adjusted):  Lord Provost, Councillors. Arthur, Beal, Bennett, 

Bruce, Caldwell, Lezley Marion Cameron, Cowdy, Dalgleish, Davidson, Day, 

Dijkstra-Downie, Doggart, Flannery, Graham, Griffiths, Jenkinson, Jones, Lang, 

Meagher, Mitchell, Mowat, Munro, Osler, Pogson, Ross, Rust, Thornley, Walker, 

Watt, Whyte, Young and Younie. 

For Amendment 1 (as adjusted):  Councillors Aston, Bandel, Biagi, Booth, Burgess, 

Campbell, Dixon, Dobbin, Fullerton, Gardiner, Glasgow, Heap, Hyslop, Key, Kumar, 

Macinnes, Mattos Coelho, McFarlane, McKenzie, McNeese-Meechan, McVey, Miller, 

Mumford, Nicolson, O’Neill, Parker, Rae, Staniforth and Work.) 

Decision 

To approve the following adjusted motion by Councillor Day (the appointments to 

Committees, Boards and Joint Boards for 2023/24 are detailed in Appendices 1-3 of 

this minute): 

1) To reappoint: 

 Councillor Cammy Day as Council Leader 

 Councillor Mandy Watt as Depute Council Leader 

2) To reappoint: 

Councillor Cammy Day as Convener of the Policy and Sustainability 

Committee 

Councillor Val Walker as Convener of the Culture and Communities 

Committee 

Councillor Joan Griffiths as Convener of the Education, Children and Families 

Committee 

Councillor Jane Meagher as Convener of the Housing, Homelessness and 

Fair Work Committee 

Page 36



The City of Edinburgh Council – 4 May 2023                                                 Page 13 of 159 

Councillor Mandy Watt as Convener of the Finance and Resources 

Committee 

Councillor Scott Arthur as Convener of the Transport and Environment 

Committee 

Councillor James Dalgleish as Convener of the Planning Committee 

Councillor Mandy Watt as Convener of the Pensions Committee 

Councillor Tim Pogson as Chair of the Edinburgh Integration Joint Board 

3) To replace: 

Councillor Jane Meagher with Councillor Lezley Marion Cameron on the 

Culture and Communities Committee 

Councillor Margaret Graham with Councillor Katrina Faccenda on the 

Transport and Environment Committee  

Councillor Val Walker with Councillor Margaret Graham on the Education, 

Children and Families Committee  

Councillor Mandy Watt with Councillor Tim Pogson on the Housing, 

Homelessness and Fair Work Committee 

Councillor James Dalgleish with Councillor Val Walker on the Regulatory 

Committee 

Councillor Val Walker with Councillor Lezley Marion Cameron on Edinburgh 

Leisure 

Councillor Joan Griffiths with Councillor Cammy Day on the Edinburgh 

International Jazz and Blues Festival 

4) To appoint: 

Councillor Margaret Graham to the Regulatory Committee 

Councillor Lezley Marion Cameron to the Equalities Working Group 

Councillor Margaret Graham to the Short Term Lets Working Group 

Councillor Scott Arthur to the Combined Transport, Local Access and Active 

Travel Forum 

5) To remove Councillor Joan Griffiths from the Policy and Sustainability 

Committee 

Page 37



The City of Edinburgh Council – 4 May 2023                                                 Page 14 of 159 

6) To reappoint all remaining Administration members to existing Committee 

places as agreed for 2022/2023 

7) To note the membership of the Lothian Valuation Joint Board and Licensing 

Board as agreed for 2022/2023.” 

8) At 1.2(c) and (d) in the recommendations in the report, agrees to retain the 

current SNP members as outlined in appendix 2 and 3 respectively.  

9) To appoint Councillor Kate Campbell as Convener of the Governance Risk 

and Best Value Committee 

10) To appoint Councillor Fiona Bennett as the additional Liberal Democrat 

member on Policy & Sustainability Committee 

11) To reappoint: 

Councillor Neil Ross as Convener of the Regulatory Committee 

Councillor Hal Osler as Convener of the Development Management Sub-

Committee 

12) To note Councillor Louise Young as Convener of the Licensing Board 

13) To reappoint all remaining Liberal Democrat members to existing committee 

places as agreed for 2022/23 

14) To replace Councillor Hal Osler with Councillor Alan Beal on “Energy for 

Edinburgh” 

15) To replace Councillor Kevin Lang with Councillor Sanne Dijkstra-Downie as 

the Liberal Democrat member of the South-East of Scotland Regional 

Transport Partnership. 

16) To make the following changes: 

Leadership Advisory Panel 

Change “Green Group Leader – Councillors Mumford/Staniforth” to “Green 

Group Co-convener – Councillors Mumford/Parker” 

Recruitment Committee 

Change “group leaders”  to “group leaders/co-conveners” 

Chief Official Personnel Hearing Committee 

Change Cllr Staniforth to Cllr Parker 

Page 38



The City of Edinburgh Council – 4 May 2023                                                 Page 15 of 159 

17) To agree the following appointments to the following positions for 2023/24: 

EXECUTIVE COMMITTEES 

Policy and Sustainability Committee 

Councillor Doggart 

Councillor Whyte 

Culture and Communities Committee 

Councillor Mitchell 

Councillor Munro 

Education, Children and Families Committee 

Councillor Cowdy 

Councillor Jones 

Finance and Resources Committee 

Councillor Doggart 

 Councillor Bruce 

Housing, Homelessness and Fair Work Committee 

Councillor Bruce 

 Councillor Whyte 

Transport and Environment Committee 

Councillor Cowdy 

Councillor Munro 

Other Committees 

Governance, Risk and Best Value Committee 

Councillor Mowat 

Councillor Rust 

Pensions Committee 

Councillor Doggart 

Planning Committee and Development Management Sub-Committee 

Page 39



The City of Edinburgh Council – 4 May 2023                                                 Page 16 of 159 

Councillor Jones 

Councillor Mowat 

Planning Local Review Body 

Panel 1 

Councillor Jones 

Panel 2 

Councillor Mowat 

Regulatory Committee and Licensing Sub-Committee 

Councillor Mowat (Convener of Licensing Sub) 

Leadership Advisory Panel 

Conservative Group Leader – Councillor Whyte 

Administration of Trust Funds 

Committee on the Jean F Watson Bequest 

Councillor Mitchell 

Reviews and Appeals 

Committee on Discretionary Rating Relief Appeals 

Councillor Cowdy 

Personnel Appeals Committee 

Councillor Mowat 

Committee on Pupil Student Support 

Councillor Jones 

Members of the Integration Joint Board and Joint Committees 

Councillor Max Mitchell; 

Chief Official Personnel Assessment Committee 

Councillor Jones 

Page 40



The City of Edinburgh Council – 4 May 2023                                                 Page 17 of 159 

Chief Official Personnel Hearing Committee 

Councillor Whyte 

To note the membership of the Lothian Valuation Joint Board and Licensing 

Board. 

Lothian Valuation Joint Board/Lothian Electoral Joint Committee 

(9 members – 3SNP, 2L, 2SLD, 1G, 1C) 

Councillor Mitchell 

Licensing Board 

(9 members: 3 SNP,2 L, 2 SLD, 1G, 1 Conservative) 

 Councillor Rust (Vice-Convener) 

(References – Act of Council No 7 of 30 June 2022; report by the Executive Director 

of Corporate Services, submitted.) 

5 Scheme of Delegation 2023 

Details were provided on proposed changes to the Scheme of Delegation to Officers 

which document supported internal controls, accountability and the transparent 

operation of the Council and was a statutory requirement. 

Motion 

1) To repeal the existing Scheme of Delegation to Officers and approve in their 

place appendix one of the report by the Executive Director of Corporate 

Services, such repeal and approval to take effect from 5 May 2023. 

2) To delegate authority to the Chief Executive to take such actions and make 

such minor adjustments to the documents set out in appendix one as may be 

necessary to implement the decision of the Council in relation to this report 

and to produce a finalised version of the documents, making them available to 

members for information ahead of publication. 

- moved by Councillor Day, seconded by Councillor Watt 

  

Page 41



The City of Edinburgh Council – 4 May 2023                                                 Page 18 of 159 

Amendment 1 

Council agrees to the following changes: 

On the Scheme of Delegation: 

• At 1.6 under Principles of delegation replaces ‘Leader of the Council (or the 

Depute Leader if the Leader is absent)’ with ‘Group leaders of all political 

parties or their designated substitute’ 

• At 2.1 replace the last sentence to read: “Appropriate elected members will 

include the relevant convener, the council leader, all members of the relevant 

committee and all relevant local ward councillors. In the event of division of 

opinion in those consulted, the decision will not be taken until arrangements 

for additional committee or Council meetings are put in place and the decision 

has been democratically taken by elected members.”   

• At 3.14 (b) under Major Projects replaces ‘Convener of the Finance and 

Resources committee’ with ‘Convener of the Finance and Resources 

committee and group leaders of all other parties or their designated substitute’ 

• Adds to 4.2 (b) “in consultation with all Group Leaders.” 

• At 12.2 under DELEGATION TO SERVICE DIRECTOR: HUMAN 

RESOURCES AND MONITORING OFFICER replaces ‘the Leader of the 

Council’ with ‘group leaders of all parties or their designated substitute’ 

APPENDIX 1, GENERAL DELEGATION TO CHIEF EXECUTIVE AND EXECUTIVE 

DIRECTORS 

• At 14 (b) under Staff replaces ‘the appropriate convener’ with ‘Group leaders 

of all political parties or their designated substitute’  

• At 19 under Use of land and buildings replaces ‘the appropriate convener’ 

with ‘Group leaders of all political parties or their designated substitute’ 

APPENDIX 3 DELEGATION TO THE EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR OF EDUCATION 

AND CHILDREN’S SERVICES 

• At 47 (b) under Social Work replaces ‘the convener or vice convener’ with 

‘Group leaders of all political parties or their designated substitute’ 

• At 47 (e) under Social Work replaces ‘the convener or vice convener’ with 

‘Group leaders of all political parties or their designated substitute’ 

APPENDIX 4 (says 3 in report!) DELEGATION TO THE EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR 

OF CORPORATE SERVICES 

Page 42



The City of Edinburgh Council – 4 May 2023                                                 Page 19 of 159 

• At 22 under Finance replaces ‘the convener or vice convener’ with ‘Group 

leaders of all political parties or their designated substitute’ 

• At 28 under Customer and Digital Services replaces ‘the convener or vice 

convener’ with ‘Group leaders of all political parties or their designated 

substitute’ 

APPENDIX 5 (says 4 in the report!) DELEGATION TO THE CHIEF OFFICER - 

EDINBURGH HEALTH AND SOCIAL CARE PARTNERSHIP 

• At 16 (e) under All service users replaces ‘the relevant convener or vice 

convener’ with ‘Group leaders of all political parties or their designated 

substitute’ 

APPENDIX 6 DELEGATION TO THE EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR OF PLACE 

• At 203 (II) under Licensing replaces ‘the convener of the Licensing Sub-

Committee’ with ‘Group leaders of all political parties or their designated 

substitute’ 

• At 204 under Licensing replaces ‘the convener of the Licensing Sub-

Committee’ with ‘Group leaders of all political parties or their designated 

substitute’ 

• At 213 under Licensing replaces ‘the convener of the Licensing Sub-

Committee’ with ‘Group leaders of all political parties or their designated 

substitute’ 

• At 320 under Parks and Greenspace replaces ‘the convener of the Culture 

and Communities Committee’ with ‘Group leaders of all political parties or 

their designated substitute’ 

• At 420 under Culture replaces ‘the convener of the Committee on the Jean F 

Watson Bequest’ with ‘Group leaders of all political parties or their designated 

substitute’ 

APPENDIX 6 DELEGATION TO THE CHIEF PLANNING OFFICER 

Agrees to retain section 6 of the Chief Planning Officer delegations as currently and 

reject all proposed changes. 

- moved by Councilllor McVey, seconded by Councillor Campbell 

  

Page 43



The City of Edinburgh Council – 4 May 2023                                                 Page 20 of 159 

Amendment 2 

Council: 

1) Recognises the ongoing concerns around governance of Health and Social 

Care in Edinburgh and therefore defers the decision on Appendix 4 of the 

Scheme to the next Full Council meeting, and instructs officers to engage 

further with members of the IJB and group leaders/co-conveners on this 

appendix specifically; 

2) Accepts the rest of the Scheme of Delegation with the following amendments  

2.1 Throughout the document where the term “Group Leader” appears, 

change to “Group Leader or Co-Convener" 

2.2 Throughout the document where the term “his/her” appears, change to 

“their” 

2.3 At 1.6 change “Leader of the Council” to “Leader of the Council along 

with leaders/co-conveners (or substitutions accordingly) of each group 

represented in the council. 

2.4 At 2.1 change the last sentence to read “Appropriate elected members 

will include the relevant convener or vice-convener, leader/co-convener 

of all groups, and where appropriate group spokespeople and/or ward 

councillors 

2.5 At 3.15 c) add “and any other relevant committee” after Governance, 

Risk and Best Value Committee 

2.6 At 10.1 change ‘cultural strategy’ to ‘delivery of cultural strategy’, revert 

‘transport strategy’ to ‘transport planning’ 

2.7 Throughout appendices, change references to Council Leader to 

“Leader of the Council along with leaders/co-conveners (or 

substitutions accordingly) of each group represented in the council” 

2.8 In PLACE (Appendix 6) reject the change of six to twenty objections, 

therefore keeping the threshold at the lower number.  

Additionally 

3) Council requests that best practice guidance is produced and circulated in 

order to ensure a consistent approach in keeping elected members appraised 

of decisions taken and authorised under delegated authority. This guidance 

should particularly pertain to 2.3 (responsibility to inform), 2.4 (Reports), and 

Page 44



The City of Edinburgh Council – 4 May 2023                                                 Page 21 of 159 

have due regard for the need to keep Elected Members informed and updated 

about relevant decision in a timeous and fair way.   

4) Council requests a briefing note is circulated to members on the process for 

how BID ballots are handled in relation to officer, ward member and convener 

responsibilities. 

- moved by Councillor Mumford, seconded by Councillor Parker 

In accordance with Standing Order 22(12), Amendment 2 was adjusted and 

accepted as an addendum to the motion. 

In accordance with Standing Order 22(12), Amendment 2 was accepted as an 

addendum to Amendment 1. 

Voting 

The voting was as follows: 

For the Motion (as adjusted) - 32 votes 

For Amendment 1 (as adjusted) - 29 votes 

(For the Motion (as adjusted):  Lord Provost, Councillors. Arthur, Beal, Bennett, 

Bruce, Caldwell, Lezley Marion Cameron, Cowdy, Dalgleish, Davidson, Day, 

Dijkstra-Downie, Doggart, Flannery, Graham, Griffiths, Jenkinson, Jones, Lang, 

Meagher, Mitchell, Mowat, Munro, Osler, Pogson, Ross, Rust, Thornley, Walker, 

Watt, Whyte and Younie. 

For Amendment 1 (as adjusted):  Councillors Aston, Bandel, Biagi, Booth, Burgess, 

Campbell, Dixon, Dobbin, Fullerton, Gardiner, Glasgow, Heap, Hyslop, Key, Kumar, 

Macinnes, Mattos Coelho, McFarlane, McKenzie, McNeese-Meechan, McVey, Miller, 

Mumford, Nicolson, O’Neill, Parker, Rae, Staniforth and Work. 

Decision 

To approve the following adjusted motion by Councillor Day: 

1) To repeal the existing Scheme of Delegation to Officers and approve in their 

place appendix one of the report by the Executive Director of Corporate 

Services, such repeal and approval to take effect from 5 May 2023 with the 

following amendments:  

a) Throughout the document where the term “Group Leader” appears, 

change to “Group Leader or Co-Convener". 

b) Throughout the document where the term “his/her” appears, change to 

“their”. 

Page 45



The City of Edinburgh Council – 4 May 2023                                                 Page 22 of 159 

2) To request that best practice guidance be produced and circulated in order to 

ensure a consistent approach in keeping elected members appraised of 

decisions taken and authorised under delegated authority. This guidance 

should particularly pertain to 2.3 (responsibility to inform), 2.4 (Reports), and 

have due regard for the need to keep Elected Members informed and updated 

about relevant decision in a timeous and fair way.   

3) To request a briefing note be circulated to members on the process for how 

BID ballots were handled in relation to officer, ward member and convener 

responsibilities. 

4) To delegate authority to the Chief Executive to take such actions and make 

such minor adjustments to the documents set out in appendix one to the 

report as may be necessary to implement the decision of the Council in 

relation to this report and to produce a finalised version of the documents, 

making them available to members for information ahead of publication. 

(References – Act of Council No 6 of 9 February 2023: report by the Executive 

Director of Corporate Services, submitted) 

6 Council Reporting 

Details were provided on a revised Report Template for Council reporting, along with 

associated guidance, with the aim of increasing the focus on sustainability, equalities 

and risk together with a proposal for the removal of the Background section. 

Motion 

1) To note the proposed changes to the Council/Committee Report Template 

and the Report Writing Guidance at Appendices 1 and 2 of the report by the 

Executive Director of Corporate Sevices. 

2) To agree to adopt the revised report template and associated revised 

guidance, to take effect from 29 July 2023. 

- moved by Councillor Day, seconded by Councillor Watt 

Amendment 1 

1) To note the proposed changes to the Council/Committee Report Template 

and the Report Writing Guidance at Appendices 1 and 2 of the report by the 

Wxwcutive Director of Corporate Sevices. 

2) To agree to adopt the revised report template and associated revised 

guidance, to take effect from 29 July 2023. 

Page 46



The City of Edinburgh Council – 4 May 2023                                                 Page 23 of 159 

3) Welcomes the instruction on the new template for the Main Report to be no 

longer than two pages and recognises that concisely written reports benefit 

the democratic process by focusing on the decision that is being made and 

the information needed to make that decision. 

4) Agrees that directors will keep a record of the number and percentage of 

reports that each service area produces where the main body of the report 

goes over 2 pages, this will be reported on an annual basis to GRBV and 

training will be provided for officers writing reports who regularly exceed this 

limit and directors who regularly sign off such reports. 

- moved by Councillor Campbell, seconded by Councillor Dobbin 

Amendment 2 

1) To note the proposed changes to the Council/Committee Report Template 

and the Report Writing Guidance at Appendices 1 and 2 of the report by the 

Wxwcutive Director of Corporate Sevices. 

2) To agree to adopt the revised report template and associated revised 

guidance, with the exception of the proposed removal of the Background 

section proposed in paragraph 4.2, and for these changes to take effect from 

29 July 2023. 

3) For officers to consider how the guidance for the Background section can be 

refined to ensure this section is not unnecessarily lengthy. 

- moved by Councillor Beal, seconded by Councillor Dijkstra-Downie 

Amendment 3 

1) To note the proposed changes to the Council/Committee Report Template 

and the Report Writing Guidance at Appendices 1 and 2 of the report by the 

Wxwcutive Director of Corporate Sevices. 

2) To agree to adopt the revised report template and associated revised 

guidance, to take effect from 29 July 2023. 

3) Welcomes the new Report Template and Report Writing Guidance, and 

thanks officers for their work on this 

4) Notes that the Report Writing Guidance includes a section on “House Style” 

which specifies some formatting methods which can improve accessibility, but 

that there is no general guidance about this within the document 

5) Believes it is important that reports are written and formatted in a way to meet 

accessibility standards, not only for councillors and officers, but also for 

Page 47



The City of Edinburgh Council – 4 May 2023                                                 Page 24 of 159 

members of the public who have a democratic right to access committee 

reports 

6) Notes that, despite some work in this area, many of the Council’s 

communication practices are inaccessible in many ways, for example the use 

of PDFs to share information on the website or lack of BSL interpreters at 

Committee / Full Council meetings 

7) Therefore agrees that further updates are made to the Report Template and 

Report Writing Guidance to ensure they meet accessibility standards, and that 

a new section on accessibility is included in the guidance to support officers 

with this, taking learning from the various accessible style and formatting 

guides which are available, such as through Disability Information Scotland 

8) Further requests that, as part of the ongoing programme of work to review 

systemic discrimination within Council business practices and improve 

diversity, a report will come to Policy & Sustainability committee in 2 cycles 

outlining a high-level workplan about how the Council could audit and improve 

accessibility within its communications both internally and externally 

- moved by Councillor Parker, seconded by Councillor Mumford 

In accordance with Standing Order 22(12), Amendments 1 and 3 were accepted as 

addendums to the Motion and Amendment 2 was accepted as an amendment to the 

Motion. 

Decision 

1) To note the proposed changes to the Council/Committee Report Template 

and the Report Writing Guidance at Appendices 1 and 2 of the report by the 

Executive Director of Corporate Sevices. 

2) To agree to adopt the revised report template and associated revised 

guidance, with the exception of the proposed removal of the Background 

section proposed in paragraph 4.2, and for these changes to take effect from 

29 July 2023. 

3) To agree that officers to consider how the guidance for the Background 

section could be refined to ensure this section was not unnecessarily lengthy. 

4) To welcome the instruction on the new template for the Main Report to be no 

longer than two pages and recognise that concisely written reports benefitted 

the democratic process by focusing on the decision that was being made and 

the information needed to make that decision. 

Page 48



The City of Edinburgh Council – 4 May 2023                                                 Page 25 of 159 

5) To agree that directors would keep a record of the number and percentage of 

reports that each service area produced where the main body of the report 

went over 2 pages, this would be reported on an annual basis to GRBV and 

training would be provided for officers writing reports who regularly exceeded 

this limit and directors who regularly signed off such reports.  

6) To welcome the new Report Template and Report Writing Guidance, and 

thank officers for their work on this 

7) To note that the Report Writing Guidance included a section on “House Style” 

which specified some formatting methods which could improve accessibility, 

but that there was no general guidance about this within the document. 

8) To believe it was important that reports were written and formatted in a way to 

meet accessibility standards, not only for councillors and officers, but also for 

members of the public who had a democratic right to access committee 

reports. 

9) To note that, despite some work in this area, many of the Council’s 

communication practices were inaccessible in many ways, for example the 

use of PDFs to share information on the website or lack of BSL interpreters at 

Committee / Full Council meetings. 

10) To therefore agree that further updates be made to the Report Template and 

Report Writing Guidance to ensure they met accessibility standards, and that 

a new section on accessibility be included in the guidance to support officers 

with this, taking learning from the various accessible style and formatting 

guides which were available, such as through Disability Information Scotland. 

11) To further request that, as part of the ongoing programme of work to review 

systemic discrimination within Council business practices and improve 

diversity, a report would come to Policy and Sustainability Committee in 2 

cycles outlining a high-level workplan about how the Council could audit and 

improve accessibility within its communications both internally and externally. 

(Reference: report by the Executive Director of Corporate Services, submitted) 

7 City Strategic Investment Fund – referral from the Policy and 

Sustainability Committee 

The Policy and Sustainability Committee had referred a report on the allocation of 

monies from the City Strategic Investment Fund (Strategic Programme Fund) and 

the City Strategic Investment Fund (Loan Fund) to the City of Edinburgh Council for 

final approval. 

  

Page 49



The City of Edinburgh Council – 4 May 2023                                                 Page 26 of 159 

Decision 

To approve the adjustment of the allocations in the CSIF Strategic Programme to 

further advance the business case for the North/South Tram Line (ESSTS2) and 

allocate CSIF Loan Fund money to the Powderhall Stables block project. 

(References – Policy and Sustainability Committee of 21 March 2023 (item 19); 

referral from the Policy and Sustainability Committee, submitted.) 

8 Stonewall Diversity Champions Programme 

In response to a motion by Councillor Staniforth, details were provided on on the 

estimated additional resources required to cover the membership fee and any 

associated implementation costs to join the Stonewall Diversity Champion’s 

programme and participate in the UK Workplace Equality Index. 

Motion 

1) Further to Policy and Sustainability Committee on 21 March 2023 to agree to 

sign up to the Stonewall Diversity Champions Programme and participate in 

the UK Workplace Equality Index immediately. 

2) To approve the associated recurring costs of £61,040, met on a one-off basis 

from the Council’s unallocated reserves in 2023/24, with these reserves to be 

reinstated and funding identified on a sustainable basis as part of the 2024/25 

budget process. 

- moved by Councillor Day, seconded by Councillor Watt 

Amendment 1 

1) Council notes that Policy and Sustainability Committee decision in principal on 

21 March 2023 “to agree to sign up to the Stonewall Diversity Champions 

Programme and participate in the UK Workplace Equality Index immediately” 

would incur an unbudgeted cost of £61,040 this financial year with similar 

recurring costs in future years. 

2) Council further notes that this comes at a time when the Health and Social 

Care budget has a projected overspend of £35m (equivalent to £100k a day), 

the Council has been required to make approximately £80m of budget cuts 

this financial year and a further cut of over £30m is projected to be required in 

2024/25. 

3) Council considers that spending additional and duplicative taxpayer funds in 

this way is financially unsustainable and unjustifiable and therefore agrees to 

continue with our current membership of Employers Network for Equality and 

Page 50



The City of Edinburgh Council – 4 May 2023                                                 Page 27 of 159 

Inclusion and benchmarking tool until the end of our current four-year 

Diversity and Inclusion Strategy and Plan with a view to reviewing the 

organisations with whom the Council partners and accesses benchmarking 

post 2024. 

- moved by Councillor Whyte, seconded by Councillor Mitchell 

Amendment 2 

1) Further to Policy and Sustainability Committee on 21 March 2023 to agree to 

sign up to the Stonewall Diversity Champions Programme and participate in 

the UK Workplace Equality Index immediately. 

2) To approve the associated recurring costs of £61,040, to support all equality 

work within the Council, met on a one-off basis from the Council’s unallocated 

reserves in 2023/24, with these reserves to be reinstated and funding 

identified on a sustainable basis as part of the 2024/25 budget process. 

- moved by Councillor McVey, seconded by Councillor McFarlane 

In accordance with Standing Order 22(12), Amendment 2 was accepted as an 

addendum to the motion. 

Voting 

The voting was as follows: 

For the Motion (as adjusted) - 53 votes 

For Amendment 1   -   9 votes 

(For the Motion (as adjusted): Lord Provost, Councillors Arthur, Aston, Bandel, Beal, 

Bennett, Biagi, Booth, Burgess, Caldwell, Lezley Marion Cameron, Campbell, 

Dalgleish, Davidson, Day, Dijkstra-Downie, Dixon, Dobbin, Flannery, Fullerton, 

Gardiner, Glasgow, Graham, Griffiths, Heap, Hyslop, Jenkinson, Key, Kumar, Lang, 

Macinnes, Mattos Coelho, McFarlane, McKenzie, McNeese-Meechan, McVey, 

Meagher, Miller, Mumford, Nicolson, O’Neill, Osler, Parker, Pogson, Rae, Ross, 

Staniforth, Thornley, Walker, Watt, Work, Young and Younie. 

For Amendment 1: Councillors Bruce, Cowdy, Doggart, Jones, Mitchell, Mowat, 

Munro, Rust and Whyte.) 

  

Page 51



The City of Edinburgh Council – 4 May 2023                                                 Page 28 of 159 

Decision 

To approve the following adjusted motion by Councilllor Day: 

1) Further to Policy and Sustainability Committee on 21 March 2023 to agree to 

sign up to the Stonewall Diversity Champions Programme and participate in 

the UK Workplace Equality Index immediately. 

2) To approve the associated recurring costs of £61,040, to support all equality 

work within the Council, met on a one-off basis from the Council’s unallocated 

reserves in 2023/24, with these reserves to be reinstated and funding 

identified on a sustainable basis as part of the 2024/25 budget process. 

(References – Policy and Sustainabilty Committee of 21 March 2023 (item 8); report 

by the Executive Director of Corporate Services, submitted.) 

9 Drug and Alcohol Recovery Services in Niddrie and 

Craigmillar 

In response to a motion by Councillor Campbell, details were provided on the 

proposed plan for re-establishing a local base for drug and alcohol recovery drop-in 

services in Niddrie and Craigmillar and the ongoing work on implementing it. 

Motion 

To note the plan for resuming and expanding Drug and Alcohol services in 

Craigmillar. 

- moved by Councillor Pogson, seconded by Councillor Watt 

Amendment  

1) To note the plan for resuming and expanding Drug and Alcohol services in 

Craigmillar. 

2) Council believes that the delivery of addiction services is best located in 

community settings where barriers to service users can be minimised.  

3) Welcomes the ongoing work to re-establish a local base for services. 

4) Requests a business bulletin update to Policy and Sustainability within one 

cycle as to the rationale behind a centralised Opiate Replacement Therapy 

service as opposed to more locality-based models.  

5) Furthermore, requests a briefing session is offered to ward councillors and 

relevant group spokespeople to explore remaining barriers to people in 

Niddrie and Craigmillar accessing drug and alcohol support services locally  

Page 52



The City of Edinburgh Council – 4 May 2023                                                 Page 29 of 159 

- moved by Councillor Davidson, seconded by Councillor Mumford 

In accordance with Standing Order 22(12), the amendment was accepted as an 

addendum to the motion. 

Decision 

To approve the following adjusted motion by Councillor Watt: 

1) To note the plan for resuming and expanding Drug and Alcohol services in 

Craigmillar. 

2) To believe that the delivery of addiction services was best located in 

community settings where barriers to service users could be minimised.  

3) To welcome the ongoing work to re-establish a local base for services. 

4) To request a business bulletin update to Policy and Sustainability within one 

cycle as to the rationale behind a centralised Opiate Replacement Therapy 

service as opposed to more locality-based models.  

5) Furthermore, to request a briefing session be offered to ward councillors and 

relevant group spokespeople to explore remaining barriers to people in 

Niddrie and Craigmillar accessing drug and alcohol support services locally.  

(References – Act of Council No 33 of 9 February 2023; report by the Chief Officer, 

Edinburgh Health and Social Care Partnership, submitted.) 

10 Proposed Compulsory Purchase Order – Granton Waterfront 

(Phase 1) Regeneration Site 

Approval was sought to use the Council’s compulsory purchase powers to promote a 

CPO for seven small parcels of land extending to 3,452 sqm within the Granton 

Waterfront (phase 1) regeneration site. The CPO would be progressed using the 

provisions of and the powers available to the Council under Section 189 of the Town 

and Country Planning (Scotland) Act 1997. 

Decision 

1) To note the decision of the Planning Committee on 24 March 2023 regarding 

this matter. 

2) To agree to proceed with a Compulsory Purchase Order (CPO) for seven 

plots of land (as shown on the map in appendix 1 of the report by the 

Executive Director of Place) within the Granton Waterfront (phase 1) 

Page 53



The City of Edinburgh Council – 4 May 2023                                                 Page 30 of 159 

regeneration site and instruct the Head of Legal Services to commence the 

CPO process. 

3) To approve the draft CPO at appendix 3 of the report. 

4) To note the Council would continue to seek a negotiated acquisition of the 

seven parcels of land in parallel with the CPO process. 

(References: Planning Committee of 24 March 2023 (item 3); report by the Executive 

Director of Place, submitted) 

11 Standing Up for Migrants and Refugees– Motion by Councillor 

Mumford 

The following motion by Councillor Mumford was submitted in terms of Standing 

Order 17: 

“Council: 

1) Notes that the Illegal Migration Bill passed bill passed its second reading in 

the UK Government House of Commons on Tuesday 13th March and is now 

making its way through the next stages of the parliamentary process. 

2) Notes that the UNHCR view is that this Bill “would be a clear breach of the 

Refugee Convention and would undermine a longstanding, humanitarian 

tradition of which the British people are rightly proud”. 

3) Notes that in March 2017 Edinburgh Council agreed to become a 'City of 

Sanctuary' for refugees and asylum-seekers. 

Therefore, Council: 

4) Agrees its opposition to the UK Government’s Illegal Migration Bill, and 

instructs the Council Leader and Lord Provost to make public statements to 

this effect. 

5) Reaffirms its commitment to be a city which welcomes refugees, migrants, 

asylum seekers and all those seeking sanctuary. 

6) Requests a briefing note to be circulated to all Elected Members before 

summer recess updating them on engagement with Edinburgh City of 

Sanctuary and future plans for embedding our commitment as a ‘city of 

sanctuary’ throughout Council operations.” 

  

Page 54



The City of Edinburgh Council – 4 May 2023                                                 Page 31 of 159 

Motion 

To approve the motion by Councillor Mumford 

- moved by Councillor Mumford, seconded by Councillor Bandel 

Amendment 1 

To add to the motion by Councillor Mumford: 

“Welcomes the joint letter from Councillors across the UK - coordinated by the 

Migrant Champions Network – and instructs the Council Leader to sign it on behalf of 

Edinburgh Council.” 

- moved by Councillor Staniforth, seconded by Councillor Parker 

Amendment 2 

To agree the motion by Councillor Mumford subject to the following changes: 

1) Delete paragraph 4 of the motion. 

2) Insert the word “legal” before “migrants” in paragraph 5 of the motion. 

3) Insert the words “the briefing note to include a full breakdown of costs and 

details of the available budget” at the end of paragraph 6 of the motion. 

- moved by Councillor Doggart, seconded by Councillor Jones 

In accordance with Standing Order 22(12), Amendment 1 was adjusted and 

accepted as an addendum to the motion. 

Voting 

The voting was as follows: 

For the Motion (as adjusted) - 53 votes 

For Amendment 2   -   9 votes 

(For the Motion (as adjusted):  Lord Provost, Councillors Arthur, Aston, Bandel, Beal, 

Bennett, Biagi, Booth, Burgess, Caldwell, Lezley Marion Cameron, Campbell, 

Dalgleish, Davidson, Day, Dijkstra-Downie, Dixon, Dobbin, Faccenda, Flannery, 

Fullerton, Gardiner, Glasgow, Graham, Griffiths, Heap, Hyslop, Jenkinson, Key, 

Kumar, Lang, Macinnes, Mattos Coelho, McFarlane, McKenzie, McNeese-Meechan, 

McVey, Meagher, Miller, Mumford, Nicolson, O’Neill, Osler, Parker, Pogson, Rae, 

Ross, Staniforth, Thornley, Walker, Watt, Work, and Younie. 

Page 55

about:blank


The City of Edinburgh Council – 4 May 2023                                                 Page 32 of 159 

For Amendment 2:  Councillors Bruce, Cowdy, Doggart, Jones, Mitchell, Mowat, 

Munro, Rust and Whyte.) 

Decision 

To approve the following adjusted motion by Councillor Mumford: 

1) To note that the Illegal Migration Bill passed bill passed its second reading in 

the UK Government House of Commons on Tuesday 13th March and was 

now making its way through the next stages of the parliamentary process. 

2) To note that the UNHCR view was that this Bill “would be a clear breach of 

the Refugee Convention and would undermine a longstanding, humanitarian 

tradition of which the British people are rightly proud”. 

3) To note that in March 2017 Edinburgh Council agreed to become a 'City of 

Sanctuary' for refugees and asylum-seekers. 

Therefore: 

4) To agree the Council’s opposition to the UK Government’s Illegal Migration 

Bill, and instruct the Council Leader and Lord Provost to make public 

statements to this effect. 

5) To reaffirm the Council’s commitment to be a city which welcomed refugees, 

migrants, asylum seekers and all those seeking sanctuary. 

6) To request a briefing note to be circulated to all Elected Members before 

summer recess updating them on engagement with Edinburgh City of 

Sanctuary and future plans for embedding the Council’s commitment as a ‘city 

of sanctuary’ throughout Council operations and request that the briefing note 

also include information on financial implications. 

7) To welcome the joint letter from Councillors across the UK - coordinated by 

the Migrant Champions Network – and instruct the Council Leader to sign it 

on behalf of Edinburgh Council. 

12 Care Inspection Reports – Motion by Councillor Miller 

The following motion by Councillor Miller was submitted in terms of Standing Order 

17: 

Council: 

1) Notes the findings of the Inspection of Adult Social Work and Social Care 

Services by the Care Inspectorate (published 21 March) and the joint 

Page 56

about:blank


The City of Edinburgh Council – 4 May 2023                                                 Page 33 of 159 

inspection of Adult Support and Protection (published 14 February) both of 

which identify substantial areas for improvement. 

2) Notes with concern the areas identified for improvement, which include 

protection, quality and availability of services, legislative compliance, 

outcomes-focused practice, and community support. 

3) Recognises that, while financial and labour market pressures present 

challenges to the council, change and improvements are needed across 

areas such as IT, workforce strategy, processes, policies, and integration 

across the sector. 

4) Notes the requirement to prepare an improvement plan in response to both 

inspections, thanks officers for beginning this work, and calls for improvement 

plans to be reported to the Policy and Sustainability Committee within one 

cycle.” 

Motion 

To approve the motion by Councillor Miller. 

- moved by Councillor Miller, seconded by Councillor Mumford 

Amendment 1 

1) To add another sentence at point 4 of the motion by Councillor Miller as 

follows: 

“Requests that unpaid carers/parents and service users are involved in the 

development of all improvement plans. 

2) To add to the motion by Councillor Miller: 

“5) Notes that staff inconsistencies due to changes in and reductions to 

services and a reduced workforce caused by Covid and Brexit have 

contributed to the issues raised, particularly in adult protection. 

6) Believes that services were greatly reduced during Covid and this 

resulted in a shrinking of opportunities within and out with the 

partnership and that until services are re-established, the issues in the 

partnership will persist. 

7) Commends and expresses gratitude to the workforce for managing to 

offer core services despite great hardship and change in unique 

circumstances. 

Page 57



The City of Edinburgh Council – 4 May 2023                                                 Page 34 of 159 

8) Commends and expresses gratitude to individuals and unpaid carers 

entitled to services and expresses regret that many had to and still 

endure hardship due to pressures within partnership.” 

- moved by Councillor Nicolson, seconded by Councillor Kumar 

Amendment 2 

1) In point two of the motion by Councillor Miller, between the words “include” 

and “protection”, inserts “strategic leadership and management oversight,” 

2) In point four of the motion, removes “thanks officers for beginning” and 

replaces with “that officers have started”. 

- moved by Councillor Mitchell, seconded by Councillor Doggart 

In accordance with Standing Order 22(12), Amendment 1 was accepted as an 

addendum to the motion and Amendment 2 was accepted as an amendment to the 

motion. 

Decision 

To approve the following adjusted motion by Councillor Miller: 

1) To note the findings of the Inspection of Adult Social Work and Social Care 

Services by the Care Inspectorate (published 21 March) and the joint 

inspection of Adult Support and Protection (published 14 February) both of 

which identified substantial areas for improvement. 

2) To note with concern the areas identified for improvement, which included 

strategic leadership and management oversight, protection, quality and 

availability of services, legislative compliance, outcomes-focused practice, 

and community support. 

3) To recognise that, while financial and labour market pressures presented 

challenges to the council, change and improvements were needed across 

areas such as IT, workforce strategy, processes, policies, and integration 

across the sector. 

4) To note the requirement to prepare an improvement plan in response to both 

inspections, that officers have started this work, and call for improvement 

plans to be reported to the Policy and Sustainability Committee within one 

cycle. To request that unpaid carers/parents and service users be involved in 

the development of all improvement plans. 

Page 58



The City of Edinburgh Council – 4 May 2023                                                 Page 35 of 159 

5) To note that staff inconsistencies due to changes in and reductions to services 

and a reduced workforce caused by Covid and Brexit had contributed to the 

issues raised, particularly in adult protection. 

6) To believe that services were greatly reduced during Covid and this resulted 

in a shrinking of opportunities within and out with the partnership and that until 

services were re-established, the issues in the partnership would persist. 

7) To commend and express gratitude to the workforce for managing to offer 

core services despite great hardship and change in unique circumstances. 

8) To commend and express gratitude to individuals and unpaid carers entitled 

to services and express regret that many had to and still endured hardship 

due to pressures within partnership. 

13 Tourism Tax – Motion by Councillor Day 

The following motion by Councillor Day was submitted in terms of Standing Order 

17: 

“1) Council notes that Manchester has become the first city in the UK to introduce 

a tourist tax, with visitors having to pay an extra £1 a night. 

2) Recognises that Manchester is using its devolved powers to levy this ‘city 

visitor charge’ from the first of April. 

3) Regrets that the Scottish Government has yet to fully devolve the power to 

Edinburgh in order for it to raise essential revenue to fund council services. 

4) Agrees that the Council Leader engage with Tourism groups in the city to put 

pressure on the Scottish Government to devolve the tourism tax power and to 

write to the relevant Minister in the Scottish Government.” 

Motion 

To approve the motion by Councillor Day. 

- moved by Councillor Day, seconded by Councillor Griffiths 

Amendment 1 

1) To delete second paragraph in the motion by Councillor Day and replace with: 

“Recognises that the Manchester Visitor Levy is implemented through an 

Accommodation Business Improvement District Model.” 

Page 59



The City of Edinburgh Council – 4 May 2023                                                 Page 36 of 159 

2) In the final paragraph of the motion, delete “Tourism Groups” and replace 

with: 

“Tourist, Hospitality and all relevant groups”. 

- moved by Councillor Faccenda, seconded by Councillor Watt 

Amendment 2 

To delete paragraph 4 in the motion by Councillor Day and replace with: 

“4) Notes the strength of Edinburgh’s campaign for tourist levy powers has relied 

on the consistency and professional approach of Edinburgh's plan. 

5) Further notes the consistent high levels of support from Edinburgh residents 

for this policy but also notes the confusing and contradictory comments made 

by administration members due to poor leadership, meaning there is more 

uncertainty over the shape of Edinburgh’s plans. 

6) Therefore requests a report in 2 cycles to Full Council to confirm the Council’s 

prospectus, which will then be used in further approaches to the Scottish 

Government.” 

- moved by Councillor McVey, seconded by Councillor Campbell 

Amendment 3 

To delete paragraphs 2, 3 and 4 in the motion by Councillor Day and add:  

“2) Recognises that Manchester’s tourist tax will be levied by 73 accommodation 

providers who have formed an Accommodation Business Improvement 

District (BID) and does not require devolution of power to Manchester City 

Council or the Greater Manchester Combined Authority.  

3) Recognises that while Edinburgh could explore a similar approach within the 

provisions of the Planning etc. (Scotland) Act 2006, that this would result in 

the proceeds of the tax being used to implement a BID business plan.   

4) Believes that such an approach would not be in line with the Council’s agreed 

position in relation to a Transient Visitor Levy, which was reaffirmed in the 

Council Leader’s letter to the Deputy First Minister of October 2022, which 

requests that “proposed legislation would give Council’s discretion over how 

the revenue is spent”.  

5) Notes that in the 2022-2023 Programme for Government, the Scottish 

Government committed to introduce legislation to give local authorities the 

power to apply a Local Visitor Levy.   

Page 60



The City of Edinburgh Council – 4 May 2023                                                 Page 37 of 159 

6) Requests that the Council Leader awaits the outcome of the next Transient 

Visitor Update to Policy and Sustainability Committee before entering into any 

further communication with Scottish Government ministers on this subject.” 

- moved by Councillor McKenzie, seconded by Councillor Mumford 

In accordance with Standing Order 22(12), Amendment 1 was accepted as an 

amendment to the motion and Amendments 2 and 3 were adjusted and approved as 

amendments to the motion.  

Decision 

To approve the following adjusted motion by Councillor Day: 

1) To note that Manchester had become the first city in the UK to introduce a 

tourist tax, with visitors having to pay an extra £1 a night. 

2) To recognise that the Manchester Visitor Levy was implemented through an 

Accommodation Business Improvement District Model. 

3) To recognise that Manchester’s tourist tax would be levied by 73 

accommodation providers who had formed an Accommodation Business 

Improvement District (BID) and did not require devolution of power to 

Manchester City Council or the Greater Manchester Combined Authority. 

4) To regret that the Scottish Government had yet to fully devolve the power to 

Edinburgh in order for it to raise essential revenue to fund council services. 

5) To note the strength of Edinburgh’s campaign for tourist levy powers had 

relied on the consistency and professional approach of Edinburgh's plan. 

6) To believe that such an approach would not be in line with the Council’s 

agreed position in relation to a Transient Visitor Levy, which was reaffirmed in 

the Council Leader’s letter to the Deputy First Minister of October 2022, which 

requested that “proposed legislation would give Council’s discretion over how 

the revenue is spent”. 

7) Therefore to request a report in 2 cycles to Full Council to confirm the 

Council’s prospectus, which would then be used in further approaches to the 

Scottish Government. 

8) To note that in the 2022-2023 Programme for Government, the Scottish 

Government committed to introduce legislation to give local authorities the 

power to apply a Local Visitor Levy. 

Page 61



The City of Edinburgh Council – 4 May 2023                                                 Page 38 of 159 

14 Sewage in Edinburgh’s Waterways – Motion by Councillor 

Caldwell 

The following motion by Councillor Caldwell   was submitted in terms of Standing 

Order 17 and verbally adjusted in terms of Standing Order 22(5): 

“Council - 

Regrets 

1) That there are a large number of Combined Sewer Overflow (CSOs) outputs 

in Edinburgh’s waterways, such as along the Water of Leith, the River Almond 

and the Figgate Burn. 

2) That many CSOs are not actively monitored, despite promises from Scottish 

Water and SEPA that a number of upgrades and monitoring would be 

installed by the end of 2022. 

3) That although plans have come forward Scottish Water to reduce the amount 

of CSOs in total, action is still to be taken outwith ‘upgrading’ a small 

percentage of CSOs. 

Notes 

1) The important benefits that our rivers and coastline plays for our community, 

and that many voluntary organisations clean up our waterways, and thanks 

them for their ongoing service. 

2) The current situation is contradictory to the City of Edinburgh Council’s 

declaration of a Nature and Climate Emergency. 

3) The City of Edinburgh Council is a member of the Edinburgh and Lothians 

Drain Partnership along with Scottish Water, SEPA and others. 

Requests 

1) The Edinburgh and Lothians Drains Partnership holds an extraordinary 

meeting to draft a publicly accessible plan of action and invites key 

stakeholders and campaign groups including (but not exclusive to) The Water 

of Leith Conservation Trust, River Almond Action Group, Figgate Friends, 

Forth Rivers Trust and SOS Leith with Full Minutes published on the Council 

website alongside a map of all riverbased CSOs within the City of Edinburgh. 

2) That Transport and Environment Committee is: 

Page 62



The City of Edinburgh Council – 4 May 2023                                                 Page 39 of 159 

a) provided six-monthly updates on the installation of sewage monitoring 

to the business bulletin. 

b) provided ongoing data when this monitoring is live.  

3) The Council Leader write to the Scottish Government, Scottish Water and 

SEPA, outlining the Council’s major concern that no-one knows how much 

sewage is being dumped in Edinburgh’s biodiverse waterways. 

Believes 

that the ambition should be that Edinburgh’s waterways are free from the discharge 

of human waste.” 

Motion 

To approve the motion by Councillor Caldwell. 

- moved by Councillor Caldwell, seconded by Councillor Osler 

Amendment 1 

To replace the “Requests” section in the motion by Councillor Caldwell with: 

1) Notes that the Drainage Partnership was established to develop a strategic 

approach to drainage and the management of surface water flood risk, not 

foul or combined flows. 

2) Notes that by strategically cutting surface water input to combined sewers 

CSO discharges can be reduced.   

3) Notes that CSOs are very much owned and maintained by Scottish Water as 

sewerage infrastructure, and discharge from them is regulated by SEPA. 

4) Notes that in the five years to 2021 recorded sewage spills in Scotland's rivers 

and seas increased by 40%, but at that time Scottish Water was only required 

to monitor less than 3% of these CSOs for pollution, so the true extent of the 

problem remains unknown. 

5) Asks that the TEC Convener writes to the Scottish Government, Scottish 

Water and SEPA, outlining the Council’s major concern that no-one knows 

how much sewage is being dumped in Edinburgh’s biodiverse waterways, and 

request a six-monthly update on the installation of CSO monitoring should be 

requested along with ongoing data on spill volumes.  

6) Further asks that the TEC Convener invites Scottish Water to host a 

workshop to discuss the issue with interested Councillors, key stakeholders 

Page 63



The City of Edinburgh Council – 4 May 2023                                                 Page 40 of 159 

(inc SEPA and CEC) and campaign groups including (but not exclusive to) 

The Water of Leith Conservation Trust, River Almond Action Group, Figgate 

Friends, Forth Rivers Trust and SOS Leith. 

- moved by Councillor Arthur, seconded by Councillor Graham 

Amendment 2 

To add at point 1 of the “request section” in the motion by Councillor Caldwell: 

“The extraordinary general meeting should also include representatives from the wild 

swimming community.” 

- moved by Councillor Campbell, seconded by Councillor Dobbin 

Amendment 3 

To add new point 3 to the motion by Councillor Caldwell and then renumbers:  

“Requests a report detailing the impact that building new housing close to waterways 

will have on CSOs”. 

- moved by Councillor Mowat, seconded by Councillor Cowdy 

In accordance with Standing Order 22(12), Amendment 1 was accepted as an 

amendment to the Motion and Amendments 2 and 3 were accepted as addendums 

to the motion.  

Decision 

To approve the following adjusted motion by Councillor Caldwell: 

Council - 

Regrets 

1) That there were a large number of Combined Sewer Overflow (CSOs) outputs 

in Edinburgh’s waterways, such as along the Water of Leith, the River Almond 

and the Figgate Burn. 

2) That many CSOs were not actively monitored, despite promises from Scottish 

Water and SEPA that a number of upgrades and monitoring would be 

installed by the end of 2022. 

3) That although plans had come forward Scottish Water to reduce the amount 

of CSOs in total, action was still to be taken outwith ‘upgrading’ a small 

percentage of CSOs. 

Page 64



The City of Edinburgh Council – 4 May 2023                                                 Page 41 of 159 

Notes 

1) The important benefits that our rivers and coastline played for our community, 

and that many voluntary organisations clean up our waterways, and thanks 

them for their ongoing service. 

2) The current situation was contradictory to the City of Edinburgh Council’s 

declaration of a Nature and Climate Emergency. 

3) The City of Edinburgh Council was a member of the Edinburgh and Lothians 

Drain Partnership along with Scottish Water, SEPA and others. 

Requests 

1) To note that the Drainage Partnership was established to develop a strategic 

approach to drainage and the management of surface water flood risk, not 

foul or combined flows. 

2) To note that by strategically cutting surface water input to combined sewers 

CSO discharges could be reduced.   

3) To note that CSOs were very much owned and maintained by Scottish Water 

as sewerage infrastructure, and discharge from them was regulated by SEPA. 

4) To note that in the five years to 2021 recorded sewage spills in Scotland's 

rivers and seas increased by 40%, but at that time Scottish Water was only 

required to monitor less than 3% of these CSOs for pollution, so the true 

extent of the problem remained unknown. 

5) To ask that the TEC Convener write to the Scottish Government, Scottish 

Water and SEPA, outlining the Council’s major concern that no-one knows 

how much sewage was being dumped in Edinburgh’s biodiverse waterways, 

and request a six-monthly update on the installation of CSO monitoring should 

be requested along with ongoing data on spill volumes.  

6) To further ask that the TEC Convener invite Scottish Water to host a 

workshop to discuss the issue with interested Councillors, key stakeholders 

(inc SEPA and CEC) and campaign groups including (but not exclusive to) 

The Water of Leith Conservation Trust, River Almond Action Group, Figgate 

Friends, Forth Rivers Trust and SOS Leith. The workshop should also include 

representatives from the wild swimming community. 

7) To request a report detailing the impact that building new housing close to 

waterways would have on CSOs. 

Believes 

Page 65



The City of Edinburgh Council – 4 May 2023                                                 Page 42 of 159 

that the ambition should be that Edinburgh’s waterways be free from the discharge of 

human waste. 

15 Consideration of Private Business – Motion by Councillor 

Lang 

The following motion by Councillor Lang was submitted in terms of Standing Order 

17: 

“Council:  

1) notes that, at its meeting on 21 March 2023, the Policy & Sustainability 

Committee considered a report on 'Four Seasons Healthcare - North 

Merchiston and Castlegreen Care Homes'.  

2) acknowledges the commercial sensitivity that rightly led the committee to 

consider this item in private.  

3) notes an addendum was tabled to the report which extended beyond the 

specific case of the two care homes and resulted in a majority decision to 

agree:  

a) that 'the council’s role as a care provider is best met through council 

owned and operated care homes' and,  

b) that 'CECs presumption going forward should be in favour 

communicate this council position to EIJB'.  

4) recognises this addendum was never published publicly and that any group 

which may have wished to give a deputation on these general issues would 

not have been able to do so.  

5) further recognises that members of the public were excluded and the webcast 

turned off for the debate and vote on the general issues covered by the 

addendum.  

6) agrees the Council should aspire to the highest levels of openness, 

transparency and accountability in its decision making.  

7) recognises that, whilst there will be individual cases and sensitive matters 

which require consideration in private, discussion and decisions on general 

policy issues should always be held in public unless there are exceptional 

circumstances.  

8) requests that officers consider the issues which arose on 21 March 2023 and 

reports back to Council within six months with options on how procedures 

Page 66



The City of Edinburgh Council – 4 May 2023                                                 Page 43 of 159 

could be amended to ensure discussions on general issues and decisions on 

policy are taken in public, even when the catalyst for such a discussion comes 

from a private agenda item.” 

Decision 

To continue consideration of the motion by Councillor Lang to the next meeting of 

the City of Edinburgh Council on 1 June 2023. 

16 Period Product Provision – Motion by Councillor Bennett 

The following motion by Councillor Bennett was submitted in terms of Standing 

Order 17 and verbally adjusted in terms of Standing Order 22(5): 

“1) Council recognises that access to sanitary products is essential for those who 

menstruate. 

2) Council agrees that an increase in poverty has accelerated the uptake and 

requirement of free period products in public buildings throughout Edinburgh. 

3) Council notes that access to free period products is possible due to provision 

in public buildings, such as libraries, schools, and community centres. 

4) Council regrets that, currently, there are many community buildings which, 

while previously receiving free period products to distribute, no longer do, 

especially third sector partners. 

5) Council requests a report to Policy and Sustainability Committee within 2 

cycles detailing where such information is available: 

a) The possible costs associated with extension of provision. 

b) An application scheme for interested parties to receive products to 

distribute.” 

Motion 

To approve the motion by Councillor Bennett. 

- moved by Councillor Bennett, seconded by Councillor Younie 

Amendment 1 

To add to the motion by Councillor Bennett: 

“The report should cover provision for key partners such as pantries, food banks, 

and third sector organisations, where access to period products is a vital part of the 

Page 67



The City of Edinburgh Council – 4 May 2023                                                 Page 44 of 159 

support provided and where access has been limited since the Council’s citywide roll 

out.” 

- moved by Councillor Kumar, seconded by Councillor Dobbin 

Amendment 2 

1) After “5. Council requests a report to Policy & Sustainability Committee within 

2 cycles detailing:” in the motion by Councillor Bennet, insert; 

“a) Which areas of the city are reporting running out of products for those 

in need? 

b) Which public buildings are seeing an increase in people taking free 

period products? 

c) Which third sector organisations and buildings are seeing an increase 

in people taking free period products? 

Reorder accordingly. 

2) After “The possible costs associated with extension of provision” in the 

motion, insert; 

e) The possible costs associated with extension or provision of 

specifically biodegradable or reusable products? 

Reorder accordingly.” 

- moved by Councillor O’Neill, seconded by Councillor Mumford 

Amendment 3 

To add to in Paragraph 5 in the motion by Councillor Bennett: 

“a) Which details the status of premises that provide free period products (i.e. are 

they open for staff, the public and whether hours of access are restricted to 

assess whether it is restriction of provision or access to buildings which is 

causing the problem); 

b) Widely publicises the link to the Hey Girls website where building managers 

can apply to become a community partner and access appropriate products.” 

- moved by Councillor Mowat, seconded by Councillor Munro 

In accordance with Standing Order 22(12), Amendments 1, 2 and 3 were accepted 

as addendums to the motion. 

Page 68



The City of Edinburgh Council – 4 May 2023                                                 Page 45 of 159 

Decision 

To approve the following adjusted motion by Councillor Bennett: 

1) To recognise that access to sanitary products was essential for those who 

menstruated. 

2) To agree that an increase in poverty had accelerated the uptake and 

requirement of free period products in public buildings throughout Edinburgh. 

3) To note that access to free period products was possible due to provision in 

public buildings, such as libraries, schools, and community centres. 

4) To regret that, currently, there were many community buildings which, while 

previously receiving free period products to distribute, no longer did, 

especially third sector partners. 

5) To request a report to Policy and Sustainability Committee within 2 cycles 

detailing where such information was available: 

a) Which areas of the city were reporting running out of products for those 

in need? 

b) Which public buildings were seeing an increase in people taking free 

period products? 

c) Which details the status of premises that provided free period products 

(i.e. were they open for staff, the public and whether hours of access 

were restricted to assess whether it was restriction of provision or 

access to buildings which was causing the problem). 

d) Widely publicises the link to the Hey Girls website where building 

managers could apply to become a community partner and access 

appropriate products. 

e) Which third sector organisations and buildings were seeing an increase 

in people taking free period products. 

f) The possible costs associated with extension of provision. 

g) The possible costs associated with extension or provision of 

specifically biodegradable or reusable products? 

h) An application scheme for interested parties to receive products to 

distribute. 

Page 69



The City of Edinburgh Council – 4 May 2023                                                 Page 46 of 159 

i) The report should cover provision for key partners such as pantries, 

food banks, and third sector organisations, where access to period 

products was a vital part of the support provided and where access had 

been limited since the Council’s citywide roll out. 

17 Ekbatan Girls – Motion by Councillor McNeese-Mechan 

The following motion by Councillor McNeese-Mechan was submitted in terms of 

Standing Order 17: 

“Council notes with deep concern that the Iranian Security Forces continue to snatch 

women and girls from schools, homes, and universities. In the latest such act of 

violence against women, five girls from the Ekbatan neighbourhood have been 

snatched by the so-called ‘morality police’, despite assurances from the Iranian 

Attorney General late last year that this had been abolished.  

The City of Edinburgh Council declares our commitment to stamping out violence 

against women and girls wherever it occurs. We further affirm our understanding that 

key to tackling the global scourge of gender-based violence, it is essential to 

recognise the misogyny that underlies it.  

Council agrees to support local organisations in their efforts to raise awareness, 

including but not limited to, offering free space for meetings for local Iranian networks 

in Edinburgh who are coordinating support and resistance in Iran.  

Further agrees to write to all Edinburgh MPs encouraging them to seek action by the 

foreign office through diplomatic and intelligence channels to ensure the return of the 

Ekbatan girls to their families and push for identification of and action against those 

who kidnapped them, whether by the Iranian regime or internationally.” 

Motion 

To approve the motion by Councillor McNeese-Mechan. 

- moved by Councillor McNeese-Mechan, seconded by Councillor Kumar 

Amendment  

1) To delete paragraph 3 of the motion by Councillor McNeese-Mechan and 

replace with: 

“Council agrees to support local organisations in their efforts to raise 

awareness. 

To request that the Council Leader hosts a round table discussion to better 

understand the needs of those involved.  

Page 70



The City of Edinburgh Council – 4 May 2023                                                 Page 47 of 159 

2) To delete paragraph 4 of the motion and replace with: 

“Further agrees that the Council Leader will write to all Edinburgh MPs 

encouraging them to seek action by the Foreign Office through diplomatic and 

intelligence channels to ensure the return of the Ekbatan girls to their families 

and push for identification of and action against those who kidnapped them, 

whether by the Iranian regime or internationally.”. 

- moved by Councillor Lezley Marion Cameron, seconded by Councillor Walker 

In accordance with Standing Order 22(12), the amendment was accepted as an 

amendment to the motion. 

Decision 

To approve the following adjusted motion by Councillor McNeese-Mechan: 

1) To note with deep concern that the Iranian Security Forces continued to 

snatch women and girls from schools, homes, and universities. In the latest 

such act of violence against women, five girls from the Ekbatan 

neighbourhood had been snatched by the so-called ‘morality police’, despite 

assurances from the Iranian Attorney General late last year that this had been 

abolished.  

2) To declare a commitment to stamping out violence against women and girls 

wherever it occurred. To further affirm an understanding that key to tackling 

the global scourge of gender-based violence, it was essential to recognise the 

misogyny that underlies it.  

3) To agree to support local organisations in their efforts to raise awareness. 

4) To request that the Council Leader host a round table discussion to better 

understand the needs of those involved.  

5) To further agree that the Council Leader write to all Edinburgh MPs 

encouraging them to seek action by the Foreign Office through diplomatic and 

intelligence channels to ensure the return of the Ekbatan girls to their families 

and push for identification of and action against those who kidnapped them, 

whether by the Iranian regime or internationally. 

  

Page 71



The City of Edinburgh Council – 4 May 2023                                                 Page 48 of 159 

18 Making Public Sexual Harassment Illegal Campaign – Motion 

by Councillor Mattos Coelho 

The following motion by Councillor Mattos Coelho was submitted in terms of 

Standing Order 17: 

“Council acknowledges that ‘Make PSH (Public Sexual Harassment) Illegal’ 

Campaign’s was launched at the Scottish parliament on International Women’s Day, 

8th March 2023. The campaign is calling on the Scottish Government to follow the 

recommendation as set out by the Criminal Justice and Misogyny Working Group ,, 

to make public sexual harassment illegal in Scotland.  

Council recognises that the “Women’s Safety in public places – phase two” 

consultation closed on the 26 March and is intrinsically linked to the campaign 

above.  

Therefore, Council agrees:  

- to support and endorse the campaign.  

- that the Lord Provost will sign the open letter and encourage all other 

councillors to sign.  

- to request that the Director of Corporate Services work with trade unions 

through the joint consultative forum and any other appropriate forums to 

explore actions to raise awareness and reduce these behaviours through staff 

networks.  

- to also request the Director for Education and Children’s Services works to 

identify further actions through schools, to equip teachers and parents with 

the necessary tools to teach children from P1 to S6 that harassment is not 

acceptable to tackle it across society.” 

Motion 

To approve the motion by Councillor Mattos Coelho. 

- moved by Councillor Mattos Coelho, seconded by Councillor Nicolson 

Amendment 1 

Replace final paragraph of the motion by Councillor Mattos Coelho with: 

“Further requests a report to Education, Children and Families Committee in 5 cycles 

detailing: 

Page 72

https://www.gov.scot/binaries/content/documents/govscot/publications/independent-report/2022/03/misogyny-human-rights-issue/documents/misogyny-human-rights-issue/misogyny-human-rights-issue/govscot:document/misogyny-human-rights-issue.pdf


The City of Edinburgh Council – 4 May 2023                                                 Page 49 of 159 

a) How the Council can follow the recommendations of Baroness Helena 

Kennedy’s report by the criminal justice and misogyny working group; 

b) How the Council has supported and endorsed the campaign; 

c) How Education and Children’s Services will work to identify further actions 

through schools, to equip teachers and parents with the necessary tools to 

teach children from P1 to S6 that harassment is not acceptable and to tackle it 

across society.” 

- moved by Councillor O’Neill, seconded by Councillor Booth 

Amendment 2 

To insert additional bullet point at the end of the motion by Councillor Mattos Coelho: 

“Instructs the Chief Executive to ensure that the City of Edinburgh Council provides 

necessary single-sex spaces for women, such as toilets, in all public premises.” 

- moved by Councillor Mowat, seconded by Councillor Munro 

In accordance with Standing Order 22(12), Amendment 1 was accepted as an 

amendment to the motion.  

Voting 

The voting was as follows: 

For the Motion (as adjusted) - 53 votes 

For Amendment 2   -   9 votes 

(For the Motion (as adjusted):  Lord Provost, Councillors Arthur, Aston, Bandel, Beal, 

Bennett, Biagi, Booth, Burgess, Caldwell, Lezley Marion Cameron, Campbell, 

Dalgleish, Davidson, Day, Dijkstra-Downie, Dixon, Dobbin, Faccenda, Flannery, 

Fullerton, Gardiner, Glasgow, Graham, Griffiths, Heap, Hyslop, Jenkinson, Key, 

Kumar, Lang, Macinnes, Mattos Coelho, McFarlane, McKenzie, McNeese-Meechan, 

McVey, Meagher, Miller, Mumford, Nicolson, O’Neill, Osler, Parker, Pogson, Rae, 

Ross, Staniforth, Thornley, Walker, Watt, Work, and Younie. 

For Amendment 2:  Councillors Bruce, Cowdy, Doggart, Jones, Mitchell, Mowat, 

Munro, Rust and Whyte.) 

Decision 

To approve the following adjusted motion by Councillor Mattos Coelho 

1) To acknowledge that ‘Make PSH (Public Sexual Harassment) Illegal’ 

Campaign’s was launched at the Scottish parliament on International 

Page 73



The City of Edinburgh Council – 4 May 2023                                                 Page 50 of 159 

Women’s Day, 8th March 2023. The campaign was calling on the Scottish 

Government to follow the recommendation as set out by the Criminal Justice 

and Misogyny Working Group ,, to make public sexual harassment illegal in 

Scotland.  

2) To recognise that the “Women’s Safety in public places – phase two” 

consultation closed on the 26 March and was intrinsically linked to the 

campaign above.  

3) Therefore, to agree:  

- to support and endorse the campaign.  

- that the Lord Provost would sign the open letter and encourage all 

other councillors to sign.  

- to request that the Director of Corporate Services work with trade 

unions through the joint consultative forum and any other appropriate 

forums to explore actions to raise awareness and reduce these 

behaviours through staff networks.  

- To further request a report to Education, Children and Families 

Committee in 5 cycles detailing: 

a) How the Council could follow the recommendations of Baroness 

Helena Kennedy’s report by the criminal justice and misogyny 

working group; 

b) How the Council had supported and endorsed the campaign; 

c) How Education and Children’s Services would work to identify 

further actions through schools, to equip teachers and parents 

with the necessary tools to teach children from P1 to S6 that 

harassment was not acceptable and to tackle it across society. 

19 Single Parents Day – Motion by Councillor Mattos Coelho 

The following motion by Councillor Mattos Coelho was submitted in terms of 

Standing Order 17: 

“Council:  

Notes that:  

- 39% of children in single parent households are living in poverty –amounting 

to 90,000 children in Scotland.  

Page 74

https://www.gov.scot/binaries/content/documents/govscot/publications/independent-report/2022/03/misogyny-human-rights-issue/documents/misogyny-human-rights-issue/misogyny-human-rights-issue/govscot:document/misogyny-human-rights-issue.pdf
https://www.gov.scot/binaries/content/documents/govscot/publications/independent-report/2022/03/misogyny-human-rights-issue/documents/misogyny-human-rights-issue/misogyny-human-rights-issue/govscot:document/misogyny-human-rights-issue.pdf


The City of Edinburgh Council – 4 May 2023                                                 Page 51 of 159 

- 40% of those are in households where the single parent is working.  

- 92% of single parent families are headed by women.  

- In Edinburgh, one in four (27%) families is headed by a single parent. 

- Single parents are one of the hardest hit groups by the economic and social 

impacts of the pandemic and the cost-of-living crisis.  

- Most single parents report feeling isolated and without significant support, and 

isolation contributes to low self-esteem, poor confidence, anxiety and 

depression.  

- Lone parents are one of the six priority family types identified by the Scottish 

government as being at high risk of child poverty.  

Notes that there is a clear gender inequality and that Single Parents should be 

specifically acknowledged and their strength celebrated. Further notes that since 

1984 the United States has been making a “Single Parents Day” to help raise 

awareness to their existence and struggles.  

Therefore, requests that Lord Provost takes necessary actions to make the 21st 

March each year “Single Parents Day” and work with officers to mark this in an 

appropriate way.” 

Motion 

To approve the motion by Councillor Mattos Coelho. 

- moved by Councillor Mattos Coelho, seconded by Councillor Lezley Marion 

Cameron 

Amendment  

After the last paragraph in the motion by Councillor Mattos Coelho, insert; 

“Further requests a report the Education, Children and Families Committee meeting 

closest to 21st March 2024 on; 

1) How the Council supports single parents who are employed or elected to the 

organisation. 

2) How the Council supports single parents across the city by means of; 

 a) Income maximalisation and financial support 

 b) Inclusive family activities 

Page 75



The City of Edinburgh Council – 4 May 2023                                                 Page 52 of 159 

 c) Nursery and childcare 

 d) Support for wellbeing and mental health 

3) How the Council can engage with single parents and One Parent Families 

Scotland (OPFS) to improve services of the areas mentioned in 2.” 

- moved by Councillor O’Neill, seconded by Councillor Booth 

In accordance with Standing Order 22(12), the amendment was accepted as an 

addendum to the motion.  

Decision 

To approve the following adjusted motion by Councillor Mattos Coelho: 

1) To note that:  

- 39% of children in single parent households were living in poverty –

amounting to 90,000 children in Scotland.  

- 40% of those were in households where the single parent was working.  

- 92% of single parent families were headed by women.  

- In Edinburgh, one in four (27%) families was headed by a single 

parent.  

- Single parents were one of the hardest hit groups by the economic and 

social impacts of the pandemic and the cost-of-living crisis.  

- Most single parents reported feeling isolated and without significant 

support, and isolation contributed to low self-esteem, poor confidence, 

anxiety and depression.  

- Lone parents were one of the six priority family types identified by the 

Scottish government as being at high risk of child poverty.  

2) To note that there was a clear gender inequality and that Single Parents 

should be specifically acknowledged and their strength celebrated. To further 

note that since 1984 the United States had been making a “Single Parents 

Day” to help raise awareness to their existence and struggles.  

3) To therefore, request that Lord Provost take necessary actions to make the 

21st March each year “Single Parents Day” and work with officers to mark this 

in an appropriate way. 

Page 76



The City of Edinburgh Council – 4 May 2023                                                 Page 53 of 159 

4) To further request a report the Education, Children and Families Committee 

meeting closest to 21st March 2024 on; 

a) How the Council supports single parents who are employed or elected 

to the organisation. 

b) How the Council supports single parents across the city by means of; 

  i) Income maximalisation and financial support 

  ii) Inclusive family activities 

  iii) Nursery and childcare 

  iv) Support for wellbeing and mental health 

c) How the Council can engage with single parents and One Parent 

Families Scotland (OPFS) to improve services of the areas mentioned 

in 4 b). 

20 Heathervale Care Home Services – Motion by Councillor Key 

The following motion by Councillor Key was submitted in terms of Standing Order 17: 

“Council: 

1) Notes the most recent inspection report by the Care Inspectorate of 

Heathervale Care Home Service. 

2) Is very concerned with the quality grading of “Adequate”; this equates to an 

evaluation assessment of 3 on a scale of 1 to 6 and means that “strengths 

only just outweigh weaknesses”. 

3) Is further concerned that this Service is not showing signs of improvement 

and is not achieving the high-quality grades that were evident 5 years ago. 

4) Calls for a report to Council in one cycle that details the improvement plan 

called for by the Care Inspectorate and that assures council that all actions 

called for in the report have been completed satisfactorily. 

5) Is very disappointed that Councillors, in their role as Corporate Parents, only 

became aware of the details of this report through press media coverage 

rather than through a Member’s Brief or other appropriate channel. 

  

Page 77



The City of Edinburgh Council – 4 May 2023                                                 Page 54 of 159 

6) Calls for a comprehensive report within 2 cycles on all accommodation 

services that provide care to our young people within Edinburgh and to 

arrange Members’ visits to them within this calendar year, 2023. 

- moved by Councillor Kumar, seconded by Councillor Glasgow 

Decision 

To approve the motion by Councillor Key. 

21 EDI Training – Motion by Councillor Kumar 

The following motion by Councillor Kumar was submitted in terms of Standing Order 

17: 

“Council:  

1) Thanks officers for offering training around Equality and Diversity to elected 

representatives and refers to Council’s Equality and Diversity Framework 

2021-25.  

2) Reflects on calls for both Police Scotland and Metropolitan Police to improve 

their Equality and Diversity training.  

3) Recognises that Equality and Diversity training is critical and has a profound 

impact on those with protected characteristics under Equality Act 2010; and 

other people  

• with learning, sensory, and physical disabilities 

• experiencing domestic abuse and violence 

• facing digital exclusion 

• from other underrepresented groups such as ethnic minority and Gypsy 

Travellers. 

4) Notes that current equality and diversity training is offered as a one-off online 

training for staff.  

5) Agrees to review our Equality and Diversity training, learning, and 

development practice to be changed to:  

a) Mandatory training every 3 years completed online.  

b) Provides opportunities for in-person training to reflect on case studies 

and examples of unconscious bias training that can impact on how we 

develop policies, procurement, funding, design and deliver services. 

City of Edinburgh Council - 4 May 2023 Page 12 of 33  

Page 78



The City of Edinburgh Council – 4 May 2023                                                 Page 55 of 159 

c) Explores services of organisations such as CEMVO Scotland, Multi-

Cultural Family Base and others to provide training on behalf of the 

Council.  

6) Requests an update to be provided to Policy and Sustainability Committee in 

2 cycles.” 

Decision 

To continue consideration of the motion to the next meeting of the Council on 1 June 

2023. 

22 Edinburgh as a Feminist City – Motion by Councillor O’Neill 

The following motion by Councillor O’Neill was submitted in terms of Standing Order 

17: 

“Council: 

1) Recognises that more work is needed to create safer and inclusive spaces for 

women and people of marginalised genders and that it is fundamental that 

gender equity is central to land use planning, and the management and 

design of public spaces. 

2) Also recognises the disparity in women’s everyday lives which is exacerbated 

by lack of local and accessible job opportunities, lack of proximity to services 

and efficient public transport, and lack of access to green space and a safe 

public realm. 

3) Notes the Violence Against Women and Girls Priority Papers published by 

Public Health Scotland which identify key areas of work including Place, Early 

Years, Mental Health, Inclusive Economy and Being Healthy and Active. 

4) Commends the existing work of Equally Safe Edinburgh that promotes the 

delivery of an integrated, high-quality response to violence against women 

and girls, and children and young people affected by gender-based violence 

in Edinburgh. 

5) Further commends the work of the Women’s Safety in Public Places 

Community Improvement Partnership, which is taking a broad approach to 

tackling the safety of women in the public spaces of the city. 

6) Notes the other review work being done to create a more inclusive Edinburgh 

across the Council, including Equality Impact Assessments, the refreshment 

of Edinburgh Design Guidance, Active Travel Plan, the Circulation Plan, Open 

Space Strategy, and the formation of City Plan 2030. 

Page 79



The City of Edinburgh Council – 4 May 2023                                                 Page 56 of 159 

7) Further notes work being carried out through Transport and Environment 

Committee, looking at mobility analysis – using CCTV systems to collect a 

wide range of traffic and mobility data including how pavement users move 

around at junctions and locations. 

8) Believes a gender-neutral approach to city development does not work and 

that women and people of marginalised genders have diverse needs that are 

not currently reflected in practice. 

9) Believes that we can learn from other European cities such as Vienna and 

Barcelona who have recently published a manual called ‘Gender 

mainstreaming made easy’, and a ‘Handbook for everyday life urban planning: 

Urban planning with a gender perspective’ respectively, resulting in the 

implementation of wider pavements, more benches in public spaces, 

improved lighting, ramps for wheelchairs and buggies and visible 

commemorations of women and the queer community. 

Finally, Council requests. 

10) Engagement from officers, elected members and experts in the form of 

workshop meetings to aid drafting the report. 

Subsequently requests; 

11) A report to Full Council in three cycles on how a feminist town planning 

approach and gendered lens can be adopted across the Council which should 

include; 

a) Recommendations from current Council policy and upcoming changes 

to documents mentioned in points 6 and 7. 

b) Reference to stakeholder involvement, budget implications and further 

recommendations to relevant committees.” 

Motion 

To approve the motion by Councillor O’Neill. 

- moved by Councillor O’Neill, seconded by Councillor Mumford 

Amendment 1 

1) To delete paragraph 2 in the motion by Councillor O’Neill and replace with: 

“Also recognises the disparity in women’s everyday lives which is exacerbated 

by lack of local and accessible job opportunities, lack of proximity to services 

Page 80



The City of Edinburgh Council – 4 May 2023                                                 Page 57 of 159 

including women’s healthcare services, lack of efficient public transport, and 

lack of access to green space and a safe public realm.” 

2) To follow on from point 6 in the motion, inserts a new point: 

“7) Note the process to ‘The Getting Home Safely’ street audit work 

undertaken to inform the George Street and First New Town 

Transformation Project, and this approach is viewed as good practice 

for similar such projects.” 

- moved by Councillor Dalgleish, seconded by Councillor Lezley Marion Cameron 

Amendment 2 

Council 

Delete from “Council therefore requests…” to end of the motion by Councillor O’Neill 

and insert: 

“10) Recognises that a number of strands of work are either ongoing or being 

developed to promote the safety of women in public spaces. 

11) Agrees to set up a short time cross party working group to consider how all 

these strands can be brought together into a single plan that a) takes into 

account the experience from Vienna and Barcelona, b) makes sure the City 

can provide safer spaces for women and people of marginalised genders and 

c) ensures gender equity is central to land use planning and the management 

and design of public spaces. 

12) Agrees the outcome of this work should subsequently be reported to the 

Planning Committee. 

- moved by Councillor Osler, seconded by Councillor Bennett 

In accordance with Standing Order 22(12), Amendments 1 and 2 were accepted as 

amendments to the motion.  

Decision 

To approve the following adjusted motion by Councillor O’Neill 

1) To recognise that more work was needed to create safer and inclusive spaces 

for women and people of marginalised genders and that it was fundamental 

that gender equity was central to land use planning, and the management and 

design of public spaces. 

Page 81



The City of Edinburgh Council – 4 May 2023                                                 Page 58 of 159 

2) To also recognise the disparity in women’s everyday lives which was 

exacerbated by lack of local and accessible job opportunities, lack of proximity 

to services including women’s healthcare services, lack of efficient public 

transport, and lack of access to green space and a safe public realm. 

3) To note the Violence Against Women and Girls Priority Papers published by 

Public Health Scotland which identified key areas of work including Place, 

Early Years, Mental Health, Inclusive Economy and Being Healthy and Active. 

4) To commend the existing work of Equally Safe Edinburgh that promoted the 

delivery of an integrated, high-quality response to violence against women 

and girls, and children and young people affected by gender-based violence 

in Edinburgh. 

5) To further commend the work of the Women’s Safety in Public Places 

Community Improvement Partnership, which was taking a broad approach to 

tackling the safety of women in the public spaces of the city. 

6) To note the other review work being done to create a more inclusive 

Edinburgh across the Council, including Equality Impact Assessments, the 

refreshment of Edinburgh Design Guidance, Active Travel Plan, the 

Circulation Plan, Open Space Strategy, and the formation of City Plan 2030. 

7) To note the process to ‘The Getting Home Safely’ street audit work 

undertaken to inform the George Street and First New Town Transformation 

Project, and this approach was viewed as good practice for similar such 

projects. 

8) To further note work being carried out through Transport and Environment 

Committee, looking at mobility analysis – using CCTV systems to collect a 

wide range of traffic and mobility data including how pavement users moved 

around at junctions and locations. 

9) To believe a gender-neutral approach to city development did not work and 

that women and people of marginalised genders had diverse needs that were 

not currently reflected in practice. 

10) To believe that we could learn from other European cities such as Vienna and 

Barcelona who had recently published a manual called ‘Gender 

mainstreaming made easy’, and a ‘Handbook for everyday life urban planning: 

Urban planning with a gender perspective’ respectively, resulting in the 

implementation of wider pavements, more benches in public spaces, 

improved lighting, ramps for wheelchairs and buggies and visible 

commemorations of women and the queer community. 

Page 82



The City of Edinburgh Council – 4 May 2023                                                 Page 59 of 159 

11) To recognise that a number of strands of work were either ongoing or being 

developed to promote the safety of women in public spaces. 

12) To agree to set up a short time cross party working group to consider how all 

these strands could be brought together into a single plan that a) took into 

account the experience from Vienna and Barcelona, b) made sure the City 

can provided safer spaces for women and people of marginalised genders 

and c) ensured gender equity was central to land use planning and the 

management and design of public spaces. 

13) To agree the outcome of this work should subsequently be reported to the 

Planning Committee. 

23 Disposable Vapes – Motion by Councillor Parker 

The following motion by Councillor Parker was submitted in terms of Standing Order 

17: 

“Council: 

1) Notes the recent increase in use of disposable vapes and the negative impact 

this has on health, wellbeing and the environment.  

2) Further notes increased pressures felt by the Council to deal with the safe 

disposal of disposable vapes including fire risk at recycling centres.  

3) Notes that several Councils including Glasgow, Falkirk, Dundee, 

Renfrewshire, North Ayrshire and East Lothian have written to the Scottish 

Government to convey their support for a ban on disposable vapes.  

4) Therefore, requests the Council Leader also writes to the Scottish 

Government Minister for Green Skills, Circular Economy and Biodiversity to 

convey the Council’s support for the banning of disposable vapes as part of 

the Scottish Government’s urgent review into the environmental impact of 

these as undertaken by Zero Waste Scotland.  

5) Additionally, requests a report to Transport & Environment Committee in 3 

cycles setting out what current provision is in place for the recycling of 

disposable vapes and what more could be done to make this easier for 

residents whilst a ban is not in place.” 

Motion 

To approve the motion by Councillor Parker. 

- moved by Councillor Parker, seconded by Councillor Mumford 

Page 83



The City of Edinburgh Council – 4 May 2023                                                 Page 60 of 159 

Amendment  

To delete point 5 in the motion by Councillor Parker and insert: 

5) Notes that the Scottish Government Minister for Green Skills, Circular 

Economy and Biodiversity (Lorna Slater MSP) requested an “urgent” review in 

January of the environmental impacts and management of single-use vapes. 

6) Notes that Veolia has launched a national in-store vape collection service. 

7) Notes that the council can collect small waste electricals alongside the blue 

box glass service, and vapes could be recycled as part of that.  

8) Notes that the Recycle Your Electricals webpage offers details of multiple 

places were vapes can be recycled in Edinburgh: 

https://www.recycleyourelectricals.org.uk/ 

9) Requests that points 8 & 9 are promoted via the Council’s social media 

channels.  

10) Asks that this information is provided in a concise briefing to Councillors along 

with a copy of the letter sent to Lorna Slater MSP demanding action. 

- moved by Councillor Arthur, seconded by Councillor Graham 

In accordance with Standing Order 22(12), the amendment was adjusted and 

accepted as an amendment to the motion.  

Decision 

To approve the following adjusted motion by Councillor Parker: 

1) To note the recent increase in use of disposable vapes and the negative 

impact this has on health, wellbeing and the environment.  

2) To further note increased pressures felt by the Council to deal with the safe 

disposal of disposable vapes including fire risk at recycling centres.  

3) To note that several Councils including Glasgow, Falkirk, Dundee, 

Renfrewshire, North Ayrshire and East Lothian had written to the Scottish 

Government to convey their support for a ban on disposable vapes.  

4) To therefore, request the Council Leader also write to the Scottish 

Government Minister for Green Skills, Circular Economy and Biodiversity to 

convey the Council’s support for the banning of disposable vapes as part of 

the Scottish Government’s urgent review into the environmental impact of 

these as undertaken by Zero Waste Scotland.  

Page 84

https://www.recycleyourelectricals.org.uk/


The City of Edinburgh Council – 4 May 2023                                                 Page 61 of 159 

5) To note that the Scottish Government Minister for Green Skills, Circular 

Economy and Biodiversity (Lorna Slater MSP) requested an “urgent” review in 

January of the environmental impacts and management of single-use vapes. 

6) To note that Veolia had launched a national in-store vape collection service. 

7) To note that the council could collect small waste electricals alongside the 

blue box glass service, and vapes could be recycled as part of that.  

8) To note that the Recycle Your Electricals webpage offered details of multiple 

places where vapes could be recycled in Edinburgh: 

https://www.recycleyourelectricals.org.uk/ 

9) To request that points 7 and 8 be promoted via the Council’s social media 

channels.  

10) To ask that this information be provided in a concise briefing to Councillors 

along with a copy of the letter sent to Lorna Slater MSP demanding action. 

24 Class Bus Passes for Schools – Motion by Councillor 

Dijkstra-Downie 

The following motion by Councillor Dijkstra-Downie was submitted in terms of 

Standing Order 17: 

“Council notes that: 

1) All children and young people in Scotland aged 5-21 are currently eligible for 

free bus travel. 

2) Children and young people can only take advantage of free bus travel when 

they are able to present a National Entitlement Card with valid free travel 

entitlement activated. 

3) Last year, data released showed that around 1 in 4 eligible children and 

young people in Edinburgh had not applied for a free bus travel pass. 

4) All primary and secondary school pupils in Edinburgh fall within the qualifying 

age bracket for free bus travel. 

Council further understands that: 

5) Edinburgh schools frequently use local bus travel for school outings but find 

that not all school pupils either possess or have access to free bus passes at 

the time of travel, resulting in unnecessary costs, delays and inequity when 

using local buses for school-related travel. 

Page 85

https://www.recycleyourelectricals.org.uk/


The City of Edinburgh Council – 4 May 2023                                                 Page 62 of 159 

6) Edinburgh schools would welcome access to a number of teacher-

administered ‘class bus passes’ that would each allow an entire class access 

to free bus travel. 

Council therefore asks: 

7) Officers to investigate the possibility of the implementation of such a scheme 

and report to the Transport & Environment Committee in two cycles. 

8) The Convener of the Transport & Environment Committee to write to Lothian 

Buses and McGills to ask them how a pilot scheme might be implemented.” 

Motion 

To approve the motion by Councillor Dijkstra-Downie. 

- moved by Councillor Dijkstra-Downie, seconded by Councillor Thornley 

Amendment  

After point 6 in the motion by Councillor Dijkstra-Downie, inserts a new point 7: 

“Children and young people go on outings with organised groups out with the school 

day. These organisations play a vital role in the holistic education of our children and 

young people and would also benefit from accessing this bus pass scheme. 

To renumber the remaining points accordingly.” 

- moved by Councillor Graham, seconded by Councillor Arthur 

In accordance with Standing Order 22(12), the amendment was accepted as an 

addendum to the motion.  

Decision 

To approve the following adjusted motion by Councillor Dijkstra-Downie: 

1) To note that all children and young people in Scotland aged 5-21 were 

currently eligible for free bus travel. 

2) To note that children and young people could only take advantage of free bus 

travel when they were able to present a National Entitlement Card with valid 

free travel entitlement activated. 

3) To note that last year, data released showed that around 1 in 4 eligible 

children and young people in Edinburgh had not applied for a free bus travel 

pass. 

Page 86



The City of Edinburgh Council – 4 May 2023                                                 Page 63 of 159 

4) To note that all primary and secondary school pupils in Edinburgh fell within 

the qualifying age bracket for free bus travel. 

5) To understand that Edinburgh schools frequently used local bus travel for 

school outings but found that not all school pupils either possessed or had 

access to free bus passes at the time of travel, resulting in unnecessary costs, 

delays and inequity when using local buses for school-related travel. 

6) To understand that Edinburgh schools would welcome access to a number of 

teacher-administered ‘class bus passes’ that would each allow an entire class 

access to free bus travel. 

7) To understand that children and young people go on outings with organised 

groups out with the school day. These organisations played a vital role in the 

holistic education of our children and young people and would also benefit 

from accessing this bus pass scheme. 

8) To ask officers to investigate the possibility of the implementation of such a 

scheme and report to the Transport and Environment Committee in two 

cycles. 

9) To ask the Convener of the Transport and& Environment Committee to write 

to Lothian Buses and McGills to ask them how a pilot scheme might be 

implemented. 

25 Noise App – Motion by Councillor Aston 

The following motion by Councillor Aston was submitted in terms of Standing Order 

17: 

“Council: 

1) Recognises that noise nuisance caused by neighbours can, like other forms of 

antisocial behaviour, be a blight on the lives of Edinburgh’s council tenants. 

2) Accepts that noise nuisance complaints are often challenging for officers to 

investigate and take action on, as well as being challenging to substantiate 

because of the difficulty in obtaining corroboration. 

3) Acknowledges that the Council should take all reasonable and available steps 

to assist the process of substantiating noise complaints, including looking at 

new tools such as digital applications. 

4) Understands that a number of Registered Social Landlords operating in 

Edinburgh and some other local authorities use a noise recording app to help 

Page 87



The City of Edinburgh Council – 4 May 2023                                                 Page 64 of 159 

substantiate allegations of nuisance noise, which their tenants are able to 

download onto their smartphones. 

5) Requests a report in three cycles to the Housing, Homelessness and Fair 

Work Committee (or to the Culture and Communities Committee, depending 

on which is held to be the executive committee responsible), making an 

evaluation of the efficacy of apps of this type, an assessment of legal 

considerations such as compliance with the Regulation of Investigatory 

Powers (Scotland) Act, potential cost implications, and any other relevant 

factors.” 

Motion 

To approve the motion by Councillor Aston. 

- moved by Councillor Aston, seconded by Councillor Hyslop 

Amendment 1 

1) To replace paragraph 1) in the motion by Councillor Aston with: 

“Recognises that noise nuisance caused by neighbours can, like other forms 

of antisocial behaviour, be a blight on the lives of Edinburgh’s residents.” 

2) To replace paragraph 5) in the motion with: 

“Requests a report in three cycles to the Housing, Homelessness and Fair 

Work Committee making an evaluation of the efficacy of apps of this type, an 

assessment of legal considerations such as compliance with the Regulation of 

Investigatory Powers (Scotland) Act, potential cost implications, property 

ownership types potentially covered, and any other relevant factors.” 

- moved by Councillor Jenkinson, seconded by Councillor Meagher 

Amendment 2 

To add to the motion by Councillor Aston: 

“6) Notes that not all tenants have access to the internet and smartphones due to 

digital exclusion and as such, the Noise App report must present the app as a 

potential supplementary option to existing noise reporting policies.” 

- moved by Councillor Flannery, seconded by Councillor Caldwell 

  

Page 88



The City of Edinburgh Council – 4 May 2023                                                 Page 65 of 159 

Amendment 3 

To add to the motion by Councillor Aston: 

“6) Notes that noise complaints don’t solely affect Council tenants and any report 

should detail how appropriate apps could be made available to all residents 

suffering noise nuisance to assist them in reporting this to Police Scotland 

through 101.” 

- moved by Councillor Bruce, seconded by Councillor Whyte 

In accordance with Standing Order 22(12), Amendments 1, 2 and 3 were accepted 

as amendments to the Motion.  

Decision 

To approve the following adjusted motion by Councillor Aston: 

1) To recognise that noise nuisance caused by neighbours can, like other forms 

of antisocial behaviour, be a blight on the lives of Edinburgh’s residents. 

2) To accept that noise nuisance complaints were often challenging for officers 

to investigate and take action on, as well as being challenging to substantiate 

because of the difficulty in obtaining corroboration. 

3) To acknowledge that the Council should take all reasonable and available 

steps to assist the process of substantiating noise complaints, including 

looking at new tools such as digital applications. 

4) To understand that a number of Registered Social Landlords operating in 

Edinburgh and some other local authorities used a noise recording app to 

help substantiate allegations of nuisance noise, which their tenants were able 

to download onto their smartphones. 

5) To request a report in three cycles to the Housing, Homelessness and Fair 

Work Committee making an evaluation of the efficacy of apps of this type, an 

assessment of legal considerations such as compliance with the Regulation of 

Investigatory Powers (Scotland) Act, potential cost implications, property 

ownership types potentially covered, and any other relevant factors. 

6) To note that not all tenants had access to the internet and smartphones due 

to digital exclusion and as such, the Noise App report must present the app as 

a potential supplementary option to existing noise reporting policies. 

7) To note that noise complaints did not solely affect Council tenants and any 

report should detail how appropriate apps could be made available to all 

Page 89



The City of Edinburgh Council – 4 May 2023                                                 Page 66 of 159 

residents suffering noise nuisance to assist them in reporting this to Police 

Scotland through 101. 

26 Europe Day – Celebrating Edinburgh’s European Identity – 

Motion by Councillor Heap 

The following motion by Councillor Heap was submitted in terms of Standing Order 

17: 

“Council 

Recognises that Europe Day, celebrated by the Council of Europe on 5 May, marks 

the foundation of the Council of Europe on 5 May 1949, and is a celebration of peace 

and unity in Europe.  Notes that the role of the Council of Europe is to promote 

human rights, democracy and the rule of law across the continent. 

Understands that Edinburgh is a leading city of a Council of Europe member state. 

Recognises that many citizens of Edinburgh value the City’s identity as a European 

city, and that Edinburgh derives economic, cultural and social benefits from being 

recognised as such throughout the rest of the European continent and the world. 

Therefore, requests that: 

• On a date on or close to 5 May 2024 and around the same time every year after, 

the City of Edinburgh Council hosts an appropriate civic celebration of 

Edinburgh’s European identity 

• Retrospectively for 2023 but within one month of the passage of the motion, and 

on a date on or close to 5 May 2024 every year after, the Council Leader 

publishes a statement outlining what the Council has done to: 

(1) develop links with other Council of Europe nations and,  

(2) promote human rights, democracy and the rule of law in the city 

• Within one week of the passage of this motion, the flag of the Council of Europe 

is flown from the city chambers on a year-round basis as much possible given 

the need to fly other flags listed in the Council’s Flag Protocol. 

• Officers report within two cycles on what the City of Edinburgh Council can do to 

increase engagement with the Council of Europe and other local governments in 

member states.” 

  

Page 90



The City of Edinburgh Council – 4 May 2023                                                 Page 67 of 159 

Motion 

To approve the motion by Councillor Heap. 

- moved by Councillor Heap, seconded by Councillor Bandel 

Amendment 1 

To add at end of paragraph 3 of the motion by Councillor Heap: 

“The City of Edinburgh is a founding member of the Eurocities network through 

which more than 200 cities are genuine partners with the EU ‘to create a better 

future for all’”. 

- moved by Councillor Lezley Marion Cameron, seconded by Councillor Walker 

Amendment 2 

1) To add a second sentence at the first bullet point in the motion by Councillor 

Heap: 

“Recognises that The European Union also celebrates Europe Day on the 9 

May, which marks the anniversary of the Schuman Declaration of 1950, 

considered to be the first official step in the creation of what is now the 

European Union.” 

2) Amends the first two bullets under “requests that” in the motion: 

To replace:  

“….on a date on or close to 5 May…” 

With: 

“for a week on or close to the 5th to the 9th of May…” 

- moved by Councillor Mattos Coelho, seconded by Councillor Kumar 

Amendment 3 

To delete from “Therefore requests” to end of the motion by Councillor Heap and 

insert: 

“Therefore agrees that: 

1) the most immediate and tangible task open to Edinburgh Council in advancing 

the cause of the Council of Europe is to actively help those fleeing from 

Page 91



The City of Edinburgh Council – 4 May 2023                                                 Page 68 of 159 

Ukraine, a fellow CoE member where human rights and the rule of law are 

most under threat. 

2) officers should continue to remain focused on this most critical of tasks, 

ensuring both the Scottish and UK Government provides the appropriate 

funding to make this happen. 

3) on or close to 5 May each year, the flag of the Council of Europe is flown from 

the City Chambers and that the Council’s flag protocol be updated to reflect 

this, noting how the Ukrainian flag rightly continues to be flown in solidarity 

with the people of Ukraine. 

4) that the Council’s social media channels should also be used to promote 

Europe Day each year. 

5) agrees that this term’s review of the Council’s International Framework, the 

outcome of which is due to be reported to the Policy & Sustainability 

Committee, should include an analysis of the opportunities to collaborate 

more with other cities in CoE member states.” 

- moved by Councillor Lang, seconded by Councillor Dijkstra-Downie 

In accordance with Standing Order 22(12), Amendment 1 was accepted as an 

addendum to the Motion, Amendment 2 was accepted as an amendment to the 

Motion and Amendment 3 was adjusted and accepted as an addendum to the 

Motion. 

In accordance with Standing Order 22(12), The Amendments 1 and 2 were accepted 

as addendums to Amendment 3. 

Voting 

The voting was as follows: 

For the Motion (as adjusted)  - 27 votes 

For Amendment 3 (as adjusted)  - 33 votes 

(For the Motion (as adjusted): Councillors Aston, Bandel, Biagi, Booth, Burgess, 

Campbell, Dixon, Dobbin, Fullerton, Gardiner, Glasgow, Heap, Hyslop, Kumar, 

Macinnes, Mattos Coelho, McFarlane, McNeese-Meechan, McVey, Miller, Mumford, 

Nicolson, O’Neill, Parker, Rae, Staniforth and Work 

For Amendment 3 (as adjusted): Lord Provost, Councillors. Arthur, Beal, Bennett, 

Bruce, Caldwell, Lezley Marion Cameron, Cowdy, Dalgleish, Davidson, Day, 

Dijkstra-Downie, Doggart, Faccenda, Flannery, Graham, Griffiths, Jenkinson, Jones, 

Lang, Meagher, Mitchell, Mowat, Munro, Osler, Pogson, Ross, Rust, Thornley, 

Walker, Watt, Whyte and Younie.) 

Page 92



The City of Edinburgh Council – 4 May 2023                                                 Page 69 of 159 

Decision 

To approve the following adjusted Amendment 3 by Councillor Lang: 

1) To recognise that Europe Day, celebrated by the Council of Europe on 5 May, 

marked the foundation of the Council of Europe on 5 May 1949, and was a 

celebration of peace and unity in Europe. Recognises that The European 

Union also celebrates Europe Day on the 9 May, which marks the anniversary 

of the Schuman Declaration of 1950, considered to be the first official step in 

the creation of what is now the European Union. 

2) To note that the role of the Council of Europe was to promote human rights, 

democracy and the rule of law across the continent. 

3) To understand that Edinburgh was a leading city of a Council of Europe 

member state.  The City of Edinburgh was a founding member of the 

Eurocities network through which more than 200 cities were genuine partners 

with the EU ‘to create a better future for all’. 

4) To recognise that many citizens of Edinburgh valued the City’s identity as a 

European city, and that Edinburgh derived economic, cultural and social 

benefits from being recognised as such throughout the rest of the European 

continent and the world. 

5) To request that for a week on or close to the 5th to the 9th of May and around 

the same time every year after, the City of Edinburgh Council host an 

appropriate civic celebration of Edinburgh’s European identity.  

6) To request that retrospectively for 2023 but within one month of the passage 

of the motion, and for a week on or close to the 5th to the 9th of May every 

year after, the Council Leader publishes a statement outlining what the 

Council has done to: 

a) develop links with other Council of Europe nations and,  

b) promote human rights, democracy and the rule of law in the city. 

7) To agree the most immediate and tangible task open to Edinburgh Council in 

advancing the cause of the Council of Europe was to actively help those 

fleeing from Ukraine, a fellow CoE member where human rights and the rule 

of law were most under threat. 

8) To agree officers should continue to remain focused on this most critical of 

tasks, ensuring both the Scottish and UK Government provided the 

appropriate funding to make this happen. 

Page 93



The City of Edinburgh Council – 4 May 2023                                                 Page 70 of 159 

9) To agree that on or close to 5 May each year, the flag of the Council of 

Europe be flown from the City Chambers and that the Council’s flag protocol 

be updated to reflect this, noting how the Ukrainian flag rightly continued to be 

flown in solidarity with the people of Ukraine. 

10) To agree that the Council’s social media channels should also be used to 

promote Europe Day each year. 

11) To agree that this term’s review of the Council’s International Framework, the 

outcome of which was due to be reported to the Policy and Sustainability 

Committee, should include an analysis of the opportunities to collaborate 

more with other cities in CoE member states. 

27 Edward Windsor – Motion by Councillor Parker 

The following motion by Councillor Parker was submitted in terms of Standing Order 

17: 

“Council: 

1) Notes that in March Charles Mountbatten-Windsor gifted the title of Duke of 

Edinburgh to his brother, Edward, on his 59th birthday. 

2) Notes the absence of any kind of consultation with the people of Edinburgh 

over who should be given a title bearing the name of their home, and the lack 

of democratic legitimacy of the title of Duke. 

3) Notes that the people of the city have democratic paths to elect their 

representatives through elections to the City of Edinburgh Council, the 

Scottish Parliament, and the Parliament of the United Kingdom. 

4) Notes that according to the Lieutenancies Act 1997 the formal relationship 

between the City of Edinburgh and the Royal Family is through the office of 

the Lord Provost, who is an elected member. 

5) Notes a briefing note circulated to members of the Finance & Resources 

Committee confirming that the appointment of a Duke and Duchess of 

Edinburgh signals an increase in upcoming royal activity in the city. 

Therefore, Council: 

6) Agrees that the only legitimate representation of the people of Edinburgh is 

that which is democratic and accountable to them; 

Page 94



The City of Edinburgh Council – 4 May 2023                                                 Page 71 of 159 

7) Believes that the title of Duke of Edinburgh should hold no official status in the 

city, and therefore this Council also believes it should be considered an 

illegitimate title; 

8) Regrets the bestowal of the title of Duke and Duchess of Edinburgh to 

members of the Royal Family and believes these titles should not exist; 

9) Regrets the increased disruption and costs which may be incurred by 

Edinburgh and its citizens by this undemocratic bestowal of a title referring to 

our city; 

10) Regrets that this title may confer official standing in events hosted by the 

Council, including special privileges or access to Council property regarding 

events for the city or its people; and 

11) Regrets that the titles of Duke and Duchess of Edinburgh will be used in 

Council communication and believes that instead the current holders of the 

titles should be referred to by their names.” 

Motion 

To approve the motion by Councillor Parker. 

- moved by Councillor Parker, seconded by Councillor Mumford  

Amendment 1 

To delete all of the motion by Councillor Parker and replace with: 

“Council: 

1) Welcomes His Majesty King Charles III bestowing of the title of Duke of 

Edinburgh on His Royal Highness Prince Edward, only the sixth recipient of 

the title since it was established in 1726; 

2) Appreciates that the name of the city will continue to be recognised around 

the world, especially in connection with the Duke of Edinburgh Award 

Scheme; 

3) Notes that the establishment, by the current Duke’s father, of the Duke of 

Edinburgh Award Scheme has created opportunities to many young people 

across the world regardless of background and that this valuable work has 

been continued by the current Duke including prior to his becoming recipient 

of the title; 

Page 95



The City of Edinburgh Council – 4 May 2023                                                 Page 72 of 159 

4) Notes the extensive work carried out with and for charities in the City by the 

Duke and Duchess of Edinburgh, including his patronage of the Edinburgh 

International Festival, another global showcase for the city; and 

5) Welcomes the Duke and Duchess to the city, and especially the City 

Chambers, when they perform duties in the city.” 

- moved by Councillor Doggart, seconded by Councillor Whyte 

Amendment 2 

To take no action on the motion by Councillor Parker. 

- moved by Councillor Day, seconded by Councillor Lang 

In terms of Standing Order 24(4), the Lord Provost ruled that a first vote be taken for 

or against Amendment 2, for no action. 

Voting 

The voting was as follows: 

For no action  - 33 votes 

Against no action - 28 votes 

(For no action: Lord Provost, Councillors. Arthur, Beal, Bennett, Bruce, Caldwell, 

Lezley Marion Cameron, Cowdy, Dalgleish, Davidson, Day, Dijkstra-Downie, 

Doggart, Faccenda, Flannery, Graham, Griffiths, Jenkinson, Jones, Lang, Meagher, 

Mitchell, Mowat, Munro, Osler, Pogson, Ross, Rust, Thornley, Walker, Watt, Whyte, 

and Younie. 

Against no action:  Councillors Aston, Bandel, Biagi, Booth, Burgess, Campbell, 

Dixon, Dobbin, Fullerton, Gardiner, Glasgow, Heap, Hyslop, Kumar, Macinnes, 

Mattos Coelho, McFarlane, McKenzie, McNeese-Meechan, McVey, Miller, Mumford, 

Nicolson, O’Neill, Parker, Rae, Staniforth and Work 

Decision 

To take no action on the motion by Councillor Parker. 

  

Page 96



The City of Edinburgh Council – 4 May 2023                                                 Page 73 of 159 

28 West Edinburgh Parking Dispensation – Motion by Councillor 

Mowat 

The following motion by Councillor Mowat was submitted in terms of Standing Order 

17: 

“Council notes: 

That residents were informed in week beginning 17th April 2023 that parking 

dispensations allowing residents with a valid parking permit to park in spaces other 

than residents or shared parking spaces in their zone would be rescinded on 1st May 

2023. 

That this is less than 2 weeks' notice and that includes rescinding parking 

dispensations in Zone 1 which is currently experiencing a significant traffic diversion 

through residential streets removing residents parking spaces; that due to works for 

CCWEL there has been a significant loss of parking to both accommodate the works 

and as part of the design and that the plans for CCWEL and the associated 

reduction in parking were drawn up prior to the Pandemic and not altered when the 

TRO was approved. 

That there has been significant change from office to residential accommodation in 

the West End during the design and implementation of CCWEL and: 

Council therefore agrees that there should be no rescinding of the dispensation to 

park in pay and display spaces until work has been undertaken to ensure there is 

adequate parking provision for resident permit holders and a report made to 

Transport and Environment Committee in 2 cycles containing: 

• An assessment of the impact of the combination of continuing severe disruption 

whilst works for CCWEL are implemented, the change of building occupancy in 

parts of the West End and the change in working patterns created by the 

Pandemic on the previous estimates of the parking provision required. 

• Current number of parking spaces by category; resident, shared and pay and 

display in each parking zone; the number of residents permits issued for each 

zone; and the number of any other permits that can use that zone that are issued 

(for permits that can use zone the total number to be provided). 

That due to the short timescale given regarding this decision to rescind parking 

exemptions this should be suspended across all parking zones in order to assess 

those areas where other measures are needed if the exemptions are to be 

rescinded.” 

  

Page 97



The City of Edinburgh Council – 4 May 2023                                                 Page 74 of 159 

Motion 

To approve the motion by Councillor Mowat. 

- moved by Councillor Mowat, seconded by Councillor Mitchell 

Amendment 1 

To delete all after paragraph 2 in the motion by Councillor Mowat, and replace with: 

“Agrees city-wide to pause lifting the dispensation noted in the communication to 

residents until a report is brought to the Transport & Environment Committee 

confirming the need for the change.” 

- moved by Councillor Arthur, seconded by Councillor Graham 

Amendment 2 

Council 

1) Adds a new first paragraph to the motion by Councillor Mowat: 

“That the Transport & Environment Committee agreed to remove parking 

dispensations in 2018, as part of the Parking Action Plan, but did not follow 

through on this action.” 

2) Adds after the first sub-paragraph ending ‘parking provision required.’ In the 

motion, the following new paragraph  

“Council therefore agrees there should be no rescinding of the dispensation 

that allows permit holders to park in other streets or zones in response to local 

circumstances until work has been undertaken to ensure that there is 

adequate parking provision for resident permit holders and a report made to 

the Transport & Environment Committee in two cycles containing:” 

- moved by Councillor Osler, seconded by Councillor Ross 

Amendment 3 

1) Amends paragraph 2 in the motion by councillor Mowat to delete the word 

“significant”. 

2) Amends paragraph 4 in the motion onwards to read: 

“4) Notes that residents are currently benefiting from a grace period during 

which they will receive an advisory ticket, and that penalty charges are 

not currently being applied 

Page 98



The City of Edinburgh Council – 4 May 2023                                                 Page 75 of 159 

5) Calls for an update to Transport and Environment Committee in two 

cycles containing 

• An assessment of current and future residential and business 

parking demand versus supply 

• A summary of the ways in which increased and improved access to 

public transport and active travel in the city centre by projects such 

as CCWEL will contribute to modal shift 

• Ways in which city centre car parking demand management will 

contribute to this council’s agreed target of reducing car kilometres 

by 30%.” 

- moved by Councillor Miller seconded by Councillor Booth 

In accordance with Standing Order 22(12) Amendments 1, 2 and 3 were adjusted 

and accepted as amendments to the motion. 

Voting 

The voting was as follows: 

For the Motion (as adjusted) - 50 votes 

For Amendment 3   - 10 votes 

(For the motion as adjusted);  Lord Provost, Councillors Arthur, Aston, Beal, Bennett, 

Biagi, Bruce, Caldwell, Lezley Marion Cameron, Campbell, Cowdy, Dalgleish, 

Davidson, Day, Dijkstra-Downie, Dixon, Dobbin, Doggart, Faccenda, Flannery, 

Fullerton, Gardiner, Glasgow, Graham, Griffiths, Hyslop, Jenkinson, Jones, Kumar, 

Lang, Macinnes, Mattos Coelho, McFarlane, McNeese-Meechan, McVey, Meagher, 

Mitchell, Mowat, Munro, Nicolson, Osler, Pogson, Ross, Rust, Thornley, Walker, 

Watt, Whyte, Work and Younie. 

For Amendment 3:  Councillors Bandel, Booth, Burgess, Heap, McKenzie, Miller, 

Mumford, O’Neill, Parker and Rae.) 

Decision 

To approve the following adjusted motion by Councillor Mowat: 

1) To note that the Transport and Environment Committee agreed to remove 

parking dispensations in 2018, as part of the Parking Action Plan, but did not 

follow through on this action. 

2) To note that residents were informed in week beginning 17th April 2023 that 

parking dispensations allowing residents with a valid parking permit to park in 

Page 99



The City of Edinburgh Council – 4 May 2023                                                 Page 76 of 159 

spaces other than residents or shared parking spaces in their zone would be 

rescinded on 1st May 2023.  

3) To note that this is less than 2 weeks' notice and that includes rescinding 

parking dispensations in Zone 1 which is currently experiencing a significant 

traffic diversion through residential streets removing residents parking spaces; 

that due to works for CCWEL there has been a significant loss of parking to 

both accommodate the works and as part of the design and that the plans for 

CCWEL and the associated reduction in parking were drawn up prior to the 

Pandemic and not altered when the TRO was approved.  

4) To note that there has been significant change from office to residential 

accommodation in the West End during the design and implementation of 

CCWEL. 

5) To therefore agrees there should be no rescinding of the dispensation and 

agrees to pause lifting all the dispensations city-wide noted in the 

communication to residents which allows permit holders to park in other 

streets or zones in response to local circumstances until work has been 

undertaken to ensure that there is adequate parking provision for resident 

permit holders and a report made to the Transport and Environment 

Committee in two cycles containing: 

 a) The need for changes;  

b) The current number of parking spaces by category; resident, shared 

and pay and display in each parking zone; the number of residents 

permits issued for each zone; and the number of any other permits that 

can use that zone that are issued (for permits that can use zone the 

total number to be provided).  

c) An assessment of current and future residential and business parking 

demand versus supply. 

29 Save the Filmhouse – Motion by Councillor McFarlane 

The following motion by Councillor McFarlane was submitted in terms of Standing 

Order 17: 

“Council: 

1) Notes the Emergency SNP Motion to March’s Policy and Sustainability 

Committee 2023 secured a unanimous endorsement from councillors 

declaring Edinburgh Council’s preference to retain cultural film and film 

education as the central use of The Filmhouse. 

Page 100



The City of Edinburgh Council – 4 May 2023                                                 Page 77 of 159 

2) However, further notes the private sale of 88 Lothian Road has now 

concluded and the new private owners are reported as Caledonian Heritable 

LTD. 

3) Welcomes the fact that the Edinburgh International Film Festival, its domain 

name, assets and intellectual property have been saved with funding from 

Creative Scotland/Screen Scotland and notes the positive news that the EIFF 

will return to Edinburgh in August 2023 for its 76th edition as part of the 

Edinburgh International Festival. 

4) Notes that the City of Edinburgh Council has previously given grant funding to 

the Centre for Moving Image of £100,000 per year which it has then 

distributed among various activities including educational activity and the 

cultural cinema function, and therefore there is precedent for financial support 

acknowledging the importance and benefits The Filmhouse brings to the city. 

5) Notes that at least one option that could see those with the expertise to 

maintain 88 Lothian Road as a cultural cinema is emerging following the 

efforts of the Save The Filmhouse Campaign. 

6) Council agrees to reiterate its support for cultural cinema to remain at the 

heart of 88 Lothian Road and believes that we as an authority are a key 

stakeholder in efforts to secure this provision which has a rich history locally in 

the city and aligns with the approved City Culture Strategy aims and ambitions 

alongside sustaining the burgeoning film production sector which brings 

economic, social and cultural benefit to the city. 

7) Council therefore further requests that officers immediately contact all cultural 

partners known to be currently involved in talks with Caledonian Heritable 

LTD including Creative Scotland/Screen Scotland and the Minister for Culture 

in the Scottish Government to identify any actions of the City of Edinburgh 

Council which could be the lynchpin to securing agreement to retain a model 

of cultural cinema within the building between the new owner and a cultural 

organisation up to and including: 

• A review of future ongoing CEC revenue funding to support a 

sustainable future for The Filmhouse as a cultural cinema in line with 

previous financial support. 

• Engagement and exploration of how partnership could be established 

between the potential tenants of 88 Lothian Road, Creative Scotland / 

Screen Scotland and the City of Edinburgh Council 

• Full exploration of all options that would achieve our stated ambition for 

88 Lothian Road including that of a prospective rent or lease guarantee 

Page 101



The City of Edinburgh Council – 4 May 2023                                                 Page 78 of 159 

jointly in partnership with Creative Scotland/Screen Scotland if this 

could provide necessary confidence to allow the known potential 

cultural tenants to restore the premises as the home of cultural cinema 

in Edinburgh 

• Any ongoing governance support and oversight necessary to enable 

this outcome to progress 

8) Agrees to engage with Caledonian Heritable LTD to signal our intentions to 

explore all options fully and in detail alongside stakeholders whilst 

understanding any decision would be subject to further Council approval. 

9) Further agrees an update report on progress within 1 cycle to the Culture and 

Communities committee.” 

Motion 

Council: 

1) Notes the Emergency SNP Motion to March’s Policy and Sustainability 

Committee 2023 secured a unanimous endorsement from councillors 

declaring Edinburgh Council’s preference to retain cultural film and film 

education as the central use of The Filmhouse. 

2) Further notes the private sale of 88 Lothian Road has now concluded and the 

new private owners are reported as Caledonian Heritable LTD. 

3) Welcomes the fact that the Edinburgh International Film Festival, its domain 

name, assets and intellectual property have been saved with funding from 

Creative Scotland/Screen Scotland and notes the positive news that the EIFF 

will return to Edinburgh in August 2023 for its 76th edition as part of the 

Edinburgh International Festival. 

4) Thanks CEC officers for their work thus far supporting the former staff of CMI 

and to explore interim ways to continue the provision of cultural cinema in the 

city. 

5) Notes that the City of Edinburgh Council has previously given grant funding to 

the Centre for Moving Image of £100,000 per year which it has then 

distributed among various activities including educational activity and the 

cultural cinema function, acknowledging the importance and benefits 

The Filmhouse and cultural cinema brings to the city. 

6) Notes that at least one option that could see those with the expertise to 

maintain 88 Lothian Road as a cultural cinema is emerging, while 

commending the efforts of the Save The Filmhouse Campaign. 

Page 102



The City of Edinburgh Council – 4 May 2023                                                 Page 79 of 159 

7) Council agrees to reiterate its support for cultural cinema to remain at the 

heart of 88 Lothian Road and believes that we as an authority are a key 

stakeholder in efforts to secure this provision which has a rich history locally in 

the city and aligns with the approved City Culture Strategy aims and ambitions 

alongside sustaining the burgeoning film production sector which brings 

economic, social and cultural benefit to the city. 

8) Council therefore further requests that officers immediately contact all cultural 

partners known to be currently involved in talks with Caledonian Heritable 

LTD including Creative Scotland/Screen Scotland and the Minister for Culture 

in the Scottish Government to identify any actions of the City of Edinburgh 

Council which could be the lynchpin to securing agreement to retain a model 

of cultural cinema within the building between the new owner and a cultural 

organisation up to and including: 

• A review of future ongoing CEC revenue funding to support a sustainable 

future for The Filmhouse as a cultural cinema in line with previous 

financial support. 

• Engagement and exploration of how partnership could be established 

between the potential tenants of 88 Lothian Road, Creative Scotland / 

Screen Scotland and the City of Edinburgh Council. 

• Agrees that the Council Leader, the Convener of Culture and 

Communities together with Screen Scotland meet with Caledonian 

Heritable exploring all options fully for the future of cultural cinema and 88 

Lothian Road 

• Any ongoing governance support and oversight necessary to enable this 

outcome to progress. 

9) Agrees to engage with Caledonian Heritable LTD to signal our intentions to 

explore all options fully and in detail alongside stakeholders whilst 

understanding any decision would be subject to further Council approval. 

10) Further agrees a briefing to culture and communities committee members as 

soon as feasible in addition to a full report on progress to date to culture and 

communities committee in 1 cycle after the meeting on the 11th May 

- moved by Councillor McFarlane, seconded by Councillor Walker 

Amendment 1 

To removes all of the motion by Councillor McFarlane and replace with 

“Council: 

Page 103



The City of Edinburgh Council – 4 May 2023                                                 Page 80 of 159 

1) Notes the decision by the Policy and Sustainability Committee on 21st March 

2023 regarding The Filmhouse. 

2) Notes that the sale of 88 Lothian Road has concluded by the administrators to 

Caledonian Heritable with more than one proposal for its operation. 

3) Thanks officers for their work over the last seven months supporting CMI staff, 

for the work with EIF to deliver an EIFF programme for 2023, and for the 

continued work to explore the showcasing of cultural cinema across the city. 

4) Notes that the Scottish Government, via Creative Scotland/Screen Scotland, 

has been the major funder of CMI, and the Council has recently given 

revenue funding of £100,000 per annum. 

5) Notes that Council officers have been working with Creative Scotland/Screen 

Scotland since October to support a proposal that retains 88 Lothian Road as 

a cultural cinema, and that there is more than one proposal. 

6) Agrees that the Council Leader and the Convener of the Culture and 

Communities Committee write to the Scottish Government to ask that they 

explore what financial support could be provided and, if required, which of 

their agencies could act as a rent or lease guarantor for a suitable enterprise 

as well as providing any necessary governance and risk oversight. 

7) Also agrees that an update report shall be provided to the Culture and 

Communities Committee within one cycle.” 

- moved by Councillor Mitchell, seconded by Councillor Whyte 

Voting 

The voting was as follows: 

For the motion   - 51 votes 

For the amendment  -   9 votes 

(For the motion:  Lord Provost, Councillors Arthur, Bandel, Beal, Bennett, Biagi, 

Booth, Burgess, Caldwell, Lezley Marion Cameron, Campbell, Dalgleish, Davidson, 

Day, Dijkstra-Downie, Dixon, Dobbin, Faccenda, Flannery, Fullerton, Gardiner, 

Glasgow, Graham, Griffiths, Heap, Hyslop, Jenkinson, , Kumar, Lang, Macinnes, 

Mattos Coelho, McFarlane, McKenzie, McNeese-Meechan, McVey, Meagher, Miller, 

Mumford, Nicolson, O’Neill, Osler, Parker, Pogson, Rae, Ross, Staniforth, Thornley, 

Walker, Watt, Work, and Younie. 

For the amendment:  Councillors Bruce, Cowdy, Doggart, Jones, Mitchell, Mowat, 

Munro, Rust and Whyte.) 

Page 104



The City of Edinburgh Council – 4 May 2023                                                 Page 81 of 159 

Decision 

To approve the motion by Councillor McFarlane. 

Declaration of Interests 

Councillor Aston declared an interest (non-financial) in respect of the above item as 

a staff member for an MSP who had made public comments in support of the 

measures detailed motion and left the meeting during the Council’s consideration of 

the above item. 

30 Review Rights of Appeal in Planning – Motion by Councillor 

McKenzie 

The following motion by Councillor McKenzie was submitted in terms of Standing 

Order 17: 

“Council: 

1) Notes the complaint made in September 2022 by Environmental Rights 

Centre Scotland, Planning Democracy, RSPB Scotland and Friends of the 

Earth Scotland to the Aarhus Convention Compliance Committee (ACCC), a 

United Nations body tasked with upholding environmental rights, regarding 

the lack of community appeal rights in planning for members of the public in 

Scotland. 

2) Notes that the complaint centres around the fact that members of the public in 

Scotland, who are not applicants for planning permission, and who seek to 

challenge a planning decision, do not have the same statutory appeal rights 

as applicants; that applicants for planning permission in Scotland enjoy 

statutory appeal rights which enable them to have the full merits of planning 

decisions reviewed at no or low financial cost, and that the only legal recourse 

for members of the public is statutory review or judicial review in the Court of 

Session. 

3) Notes that statutory review and judicial review do not allow for full merits 

reviews of planning decisions and are prohibitively expensive, notes that 

applicants for planning permission therefore have a privileged position in 

terms of their statutory planning appeal rights, relative to other members of 

the public. 

4) Notes that the complaint is now being investigated by the ACCC, who have 

written to the Scottish Government requesting a response by 21 July 2023. 

5) Notes the 2017-2022 Capital Coalition supported a community right of appeal 

in planning, as does the 2022 Edinburgh Labour manifesto. 

Page 105



The City of Edinburgh Council – 4 May 2023                                                 Page 82 of 159 

6) Notes that the Minister for Local Government Empowerment and Planning is 

scheduled to meet all Council Leaders in Scotland shortly. 

7) Therefore agrees that the Council Leader will request at this meeting that the 

Minister responds to the complaint by committing to a review of rights of 

appeal, and will write to the Minister to that effect, and that Planning 

Committee will be updated on progress of this action and any response from 

the Minister.” 

Motion 

To approve the motion by Councillor McKenzie. 

- moved by Councillor McKenzie, seconded by Councillor Booth 

Amendment 1 

1) To follow on from point 5 in the motion by Councillor McKenzie: 

Inserts a new point: 

“6) Council notes that in the most recent vote regarding “right of appeals”, 

the SNP MSPs in the Scottish Parliament voted against proposals 

brought forward by the Scottish Greens and supported by Scottish 

Labour to give communities the same right as developers to appeal 

planning decisions.  

2) To add to point 7 in the motion (Now point 8): 

“The Council leader will also request at this meeting that consideration be 

given to extending the current time periods for the determination of 

applications, specifically in circumstances where applications have been 

continued for a Hearing by Council committees per the recent letter issued to 

the Minister for Local Government and Empowerment and Planning on behalf 

of the Council Planning Committee.” 

- moved by Councillor Dalgleish, seconded by Councillor Lezley Marion Cameron 

Amendment 2 

To add new point 8 to the motion by Councillor McKenzie as follows: 

“Notes that the Scottish Government has overturned 46% of planning decisions 

between the years 2017 and 2022. Calls on the Scottish Government to consider 

introducing a local powers and protection bill which ensures that local planning 

appealdecisions are respected by Scottish Ministers.” 

Page 106



The City of Edinburgh Council – 4 May 2023                                                 Page 83 of 159 

- moved by Councillor Mowat, seconded by Councillor Bruce 

In accordance with Standing Order 22(12), Amendments 1 and 2 were accepted as 

addendums to the motion. 

Decision 

To approve the following adjusted motion by Councillor McKenzie: 

1) To note the complaint made in September 2022 by Environmental Rights 

Centre Scotland, Planning Democracy, RSPB Scotland and Friends of the 

Earth Scotland to the Aarhus Convention Compliance Committee (ACCC), a 

United Nations body tasked with upholding environmental rights, regarding 

the lack of community appeal rights in planning for members of the public in 

Scotland. 

2) To note that the complaint centred around the fact that members of the public 

in Scotland, who were not applicants for planning permission, and who sought 

to challenge a planning decision, did not have the same statutory appeal 

rights as applicants; that applicants for planning permission in Scotland 

enjoyed statutory appeal rights which enabled them to have the full merits of 

planning decisions reviewed at no or low financial cost, and that the only legal 

recourse for members of the public was statutory review or judicial review in 

the Court of Session. 

3) To note that statutory review and judicial review did not allow for full merits 

reviews of planning decisions and were prohibitively expensive, to note that 

applicants for planning permission therefore had a privileged position in terms 

of their statutory planning appeal rights, relative to other members of the 

public. 

4) To note that the complaint was now being investigated by the ACCC, who had 

written to the Scottish Government requesting a response by 21 July 2023. 

5) To note the 2017-2022 Capital Coalition supported a community right of 

appeal in planning, as did the 2022 Edinburgh Labour manifesto. 

6) To note that in the most recent vote regarding “right of appeals”, the SNP 

MSPs in the Scottish Parliament voted against proposals brought forward by 

the Scottish Greens and supported by Scottish Labour to give communities 

the same right as developers to appeal planning decisions 

7) To note that the Minister for Local Government Empowerment and Planning 

was scheduled to meet all Council Leaders in Scotland shortly. 

Page 107



The City of Edinburgh Council – 4 May 2023                                                 Page 84 of 159 

8) Therefore to agree that the Council Leader would request at this meeting that 

the Minister respond to the complaint by committing to a review of rights of 

appeal, and would write to the Minister to that effect, and that Planning 

Committee would be updated on progress of this action and any response 

from the Minister.  The Council leader would also request at this meeting that 

consideration be given to extending the current time periods for the 

determination of applications, specifically in circumstances where applications 

had been continued for a Hearing by Council committees per the recent letter 

issued to the Minister for Local Government and Empowerment and Planning 

on behalf of the Council Planning Committee. 

9) To note that the Scottish Government had overturned 46% of planning 

decisions between the years 2017 and 2022. To call on the Scottish 

Government to consider introducing a local powers and protection bill which 

ensured that local planning appeal decisions were respected by Scottish 

Ministers. 

31 Crisis in NHS Dentistry – Motion by Councillor Davidson 

The following motion by Councillor Davidson was submitted in terms of Standing 

Order 17: 

“Council notes: 

1) that access to NHS Dentistry has become significantly harder in recent years 

for the residents of Edinburgh. 

2) that the number of NHS dental claims in NHS Lothian area reduced from 

958,000 in 2019 to just 555,678 between January and November 2022. 

3) that many dentists are not accepting new NHS patients and that polling has 

shown many of those registered have been unable to get appointments, 

leaving people in pain and causing wider mouth health issues to be missed. 

Council believes access to NHS dentistry is essential for residents of Edinburgh and 

that the SNP/Green Scottish Government is failing to reform the funding structures 

so dentists can return to taking on NHS activity and enable more patients to be seen. 

Council requests the Council leader writes to (a) the Scottish Health Secretary to 

request urgent action to tackle the lack of access to NHS dentists in Edinburgh and 

(b) the Edinburgh Integrated Joint Board to request a written update on the approach 

being to improve access to NHS dentistry in the city for consideration at a future 

meeting of the Policy and Sustainability Committee.” 

  

Page 108



The City of Edinburgh Council – 4 May 2023                                                 Page 85 of 159 

Motion 

To approve the motion by Councillor Davidson. 

- moved by Councillor Davidson, seconded by Councillor Lang 

Amendment 1 

In the last paragraph of the motion by Councillor Davidson, delete the word “future” 

and replace with: 

“Within two cycles.”  

- moved by Councillor Pogson, seconded by Councillor Jenkinson 

Amendment 2 

To replace the second last paragraph of the motion by Councillor Davidson with: 

“Council believes access to NHS dentistry is essential for residents of Edinburgh and 

notes 95% of the population are registered with an NHS dentist. Further notes the 

challenges above are being exacerbated by the impact BREXIT is having on NHS 

and dental recruitment and despite this, Scotland has 59 NHS-registered dentists per 

100,000 people compared to 43/100,000 in England.” 

- moved by Councillor Hyslop, seconded by Councillor Aston 

In accordance with Standing Order 22(12), Amendment 1 was accepted as an 

amendment to the Motion.  

Voting 

The voting was as follows: 

For the Motion (as adjusted) - 44 votes 

For Amendment 2   - 17 votes 

(For the Motion (as adjusted):  Lord Provost, Councillors. Arthur, Bandel, Beal, 

Bennett, Booth, Bruce, Burgess, Caldwell, Lezley Marion Cameron, Cowdy, 

Dalgleish, Davidson, Day, Dijkstra-Downie, Doggart, Faccenda, Flannery, Graham, 

Griffiths, Heap, Jenkinson, Jones, Lang, McKenzie, Meagher, Miller, Mitchell, Mowat, 

Mumford, Munro, O’Neill, Osler, Parker, Pogson, Rae, Ross, Rust, Staniforth, 

Thornley, Walker, Watt, Whyte, and Younie. 

For Amendment 2:  Councillors Aston, Biagi, Campbell, Dixon, Dobbin, Fullerton, 

Gardiner, Glasgow, Hyslop, Kumar, Macinnes, Mattos Coelho, McFarlane, 

McNeese-Meechan, McVey, Nicolson, and Work  

Page 109



The City of Edinburgh Council – 4 May 2023                                                 Page 86 of 159 

Decision 

To approve the following adjusted motion by Councillor Davidson: 

1) To note that access to NHS Dentistry had become significantly harder in 

recent years for the residents of Edinburgh. 

2) To note that the number of NHS dental claims in NHS Lothian area reduced 

from 958,000 in 2019 to just 555,678 between January and November 2022. 

3) To note that many dentists were not accepting new NHS patients and that 

polling had shown many of those registered had been unable to get 

appointments, leaving people in pain and causing wider mouth health issues 

to be missed. 

4) To believe access to NHS dentistry was essential for residents of Edinburgh 

and that the SNP/Green Scottish Government was failing to reform the 

funding structures so dentists could return to taking on NHS activity and 

enable more patients to be seen. 

5) To request the Council leader write to (a) the Scottish Health Secretary to 

request urgent action to tackle the lack of access to NHS dentists in 

Edinburgh and (b) the Edinburgh Integrated Joint Board to request a written 

update on the approach being to improve access to NHS dentistry in the city 

for consideration at a meeting of the Policy and Sustainability Committee 

within 2 cycles. 

32 Bridgend Farm Reserve Funding – Motion by Councillor 

Flannery 

The following motion by Councillor Flannery was submitted in terms of Standing 

Order 17: 

“Council notes: 

1) With disappointment the lack of Scottish Government “Investing in 

Communities” Funding for Bridgend Farmhouse, where this has been granted 

in the past. 

2) That Bridgend Farmhouse has been placed on a ‘reserve list’ for funding, and 

the concern and uncertainty that brings for long-term planning. 

3) Ongoing work to develop the Council’s Community Centre Strategy. 

4) The real pressures that many of our Community Centres and Management 

Committees are presently under. 

Page 110



The City of Edinburgh Council – 4 May 2023                                                 Page 87 of 159 

5) That current uncertainty for Bridgend Farmhouse affects all community groups 

that use the centre, with challenges for programming, staff hire and long-term 

strategy. 

6) With caution, the recent experiences of Drylaw Neighbourhood Centre, 

Muirhouse Millennium Centre and Gorgie Farm. 

7) That the motion ‘Muirhouse Millennium Centre’ agreed by Council in February 

2023 expressed regret that information concerning the financial status of 

community centres was not able to be collected. 

8) The devastating blow to the local community the potential loss of Bridgend 

Farmhouse would be. 

Council therefore asks; 

9) For a briefing note to be circulated to members of Culture and Communities 

committee to provide details of any other Edinburgh organisations on the 

‘reserve list’ for funding, and therefore at similar risk. 

10) For the Convener of Culture and Communities to meet with officers and 

Bridgend Farmhouse to explore what the Council can do to support Bridgend 

Farmhouse, timeously.” 

- moved by Councillor Flannery, seconded by Councillor Thornley 

Decision 

To approve the motion by Councillor Flannery. 

33 Special Needs Swimming Sessions in Braidburn School Pool 

– Emergency Motion by Councillor Arthur 

The Lord Provost ruled that the following item, notice of which had been given at the 

start of the meeting, be considered as a matter of urgency to allow the Council to 

give early consideration to this matter. 

The following motion by Councillor Arthur was submitted in terms of Standing Order 

17: 

“Council: 

1) Thanks the staff at Braidburn School for the work they do. 

2) Deeply regrets Edinburgh Leisure’s decision to terminate the Special Needs 

Swimming Sessions in Braidburn School Pool. 

Page 111



The City of Edinburgh Council – 4 May 2023                                                 Page 88 of 159 

3) These Saturday morning sessions were described as follows by one parent in 

relation to her severely disabled pre-school son and how he “enjoyed his 

Saturday sessions at Braidburn hydro pool, the warm temperature, peaceful 

sensory surroundings (lights) and disabled bed changers made this a 

wonderful experience for him and the highlight of his week. This is particularly 

important for his development as he has been unable to access hydrotherapy 

due to physiotherapy and nursery staff pressures since the COVID pandemic. 

As these were family sessions it also allowed his two siblings to do an activity 

together which they all enjoyed with him which is normally so difficult due to 

his complex health needs.” 

4) Notes that many of the activities Edinburgh Leisure provides are available in 

the private sector, but there is no comparable alternative to the Special Needs 

Swimming Sessions in Braidburn School Pool. 

5) Notes that Edinburgh Leisure wrote to parents (via Councillors) on the 28th of 

April noting that the alternative provision at Gracemount Pool was available, 

but stated “it will not suit all due to it not being a specialist hydrotherapy pool 

or indeed because of its location and the change of day”. 

6) Notes that parents feel “this is huge discrimination against special needs 

children to change something without warning or explanation that worked so 

well was so enjoyed by many”. 

7) Agrees therefore that the Council Leader meets with the Chief Executive of 

Edinburgh Leisure as soon as is possible to make clear that Council opposes 

the termination of Special Needs Swimming Sessions in Braidburn School 

Pool in the strongest possible terms, and to request that a timeline is drafted 

for thie resumption 

Motion 

To approve the motion by Councillor Arthur. 

- moved by Councillor Arthur, seconded by Councillor Jenkinson 

Amendment 1 

To delete para 7 in the motion by Councillor Arthur and replace with: 

“7) Regrets the position that Braidburn hydrotherapy pool is being let out at 

weekends to a private organisation which runs "parent and (able bodied) 

toddler" swimming classes whilst families of children with complex disabilities 

are being decanted from this bespoke venue to Gracemount Leisure Centre 

instead. As noted in Para 5 above, Gracemount is unsuitable for many 

families which means they no longer have access to these fantastic sessions. 

Page 112



The City of Edinburgh Council – 4 May 2023                                                 Page 89 of 159 

8) Thanks staff at Edinburgh Leisure, especially Sara Kemp, for organising the 

original swimming sessions at Braidburn and thanks the Council for funding 

these sessions. 

9) Notes that Council funding for these ASN swimming sessions is currently 

inadequate to cover the provision of the sessions at Bradburn, which is why 

sessions are being moved to Gracemount. 

10) Further notes that the Council-provided funding for these ASN swimming 

sessions will end in September 2023, regardless of venue. 

11) Agrees for a report in one cycle to identify suitable funding sources to allow 

these sessions to continue beyond September 2023 and requests officers 

investigate actions, including additional funding, to secure the immediate 

resumption of ASN swimming sessions at Braidburn.” 

- moved by Councillor Nicolson, seconded by Councillor Glasgow 

Amendment 2 

To add to the motion by Councillor Arthur: 

“8) Notes that the CEO of Edinburgh Leisure has approached colleagues in 

Education regarding resolving this issue but received no response. 9. 

Therefore urges colleagues in Education, Children and Families to support 

Edinburgh Leisure in resolving this situation.” 

- moved by Councillor Staniforth, seconded by Councillor Booth 

In accordance with Standing Order 22(12), Amendment 1 was accepted as an 

amendment to the Motion and Amendment 2 was accepted as an addendum to the 

Motion.   

Decision 

To approve the following adjusted motion by Councillor Arthur: 

1) To thank the staff at Braidburn School for the work they do. 

2) To deeply regret Edinburgh Leisure’s decision to terminate the Special Needs 

Swimming Sessions in Braidburn School Pool. 

3) These Saturday morning sessions were described as follows by one parent in 

relation to her severely disabled pre-school son and how he “enjoyed his 

Saturday sessions at Braidburn hydro pool, the warm temperature, peaceful 

sensory surroundings (lights) and disabled bed changers made this a 

wonderful experience for him and the highlight of his week. This is particularly 

Page 113



The City of Edinburgh Council – 4 May 2023                                                 Page 90 of 159 

important for his development as he has been unable to access hydrotherapy 

due to physiotherapy and nursery staff pressures since the COVID pandemic. 

As these were family sessions it also allowed his two siblings to do an activity 

together which they all enjoyed with him which is normally so difficult due to 

his complex health needs.” 

4) To note that many of the activities Edinburgh Leisure provided were available 

in the private sector, but there was no comparable alternative to the Special 

Needs Swimming Sessions in Braidburn School Pool. 

5) To note that Edinburgh Leisure wrote to parents (via Councillors) on the 28th 

of April noting that the alternative provision at Gracemount Pool was 

available, but stated “it will not suit all due to it not being a specialist 

hydrotherapy pool or indeed because of its location and the change of day”. 

6) To note that parents felt “this is huge discrimination against special needs 

children to change something without warning or explanation that worked so 

well was so enjoyed by many”. 

7) To regret the position that Braidburn hydrotherapy pool was being let out at 

weekends to a private organisation which ran "parent and (able bodied) 

toddler" swimming classes whilst families of children with complex disabilities 

were being decanted from this bespoke venue to Gracemount Leisure Centre 

instead. As noted in Para 5 above, Gracemount was unsuitable for many 

families which meant they no longer had access to these fantastic sessions. 

8) To thank staff at Edinburgh Leisure, especially Sara Kemp, for organising the 

original swimming sessions at Braidburn and thanks the Council for funding 

these sessions. 

9) To note that Council funding for these ASN swimming sessions was currently 

inadequate to cover the provision of the sessions at Bradburn, which was why 

sessions were being moved to Gracemount. 

10) To further note that the Council-provided funding for these ASN swimming 

sessions would end in September 2023, regardless of venue. 

11) To agree for a report in one cycle to identify suitable funding sources to allow 

these sessions to continue beyond September 2023 and requests officers 

investigate actions, including additional funding, to secure the immediate 

resumption of ASN swimming sessions at Braidburn. 

12) To note that the CEO of Edinburgh Leisure had approached colleagues in 

Education regarding resolving this issue but received no response.  

Page 114



The City of Edinburgh Council – 4 May 2023                                                 Page 91 of 159 

13) To therefore urge colleagues in Education, Children and Families to support 

Edinburgh Leisure in resolving this situation. 

Declaration of Interests 

Councillor Key made a transparency statement in respect of the above item as a 

family member was involved in Speacial Needs Swimming Sessions in Braidburn 

School Pool. 

34 Lifelong Learning Review – Motion by Councillor Campbell 

The Lord Provost ruled that the following item, notice of which had been given at the 

start of the meeting, be considered as a matter of urgency to allow the Council to 

give early consideration to this matter. 

The following motion by Councillor Campbell was submitted in terms of Standing 

Order 17: 

“Council:  

Notes extreme disappointment in the outcomes of the Lifelong Learning Review.  

Recognises that many ward councillors have very recently been shocked to learn 

that their local lifelong learning officers who had previously been leading important 

work in our communities have not been matched to jobs or have been moved away 

from the community centres which they have been supporting and notes 

considerable concerns from councillors about both the interim and future impact on 

local community service delivery.  

Regrets that this apparent level of restructure has come with little to no notice to 

partnership organisations working with these officers as key links to CEC or by way 

of briefing to ward councillors.   

Agrees to receive an urgent briefing setting out the new structure, and the number of 

roles which are currently filled including how many lifelong learning officers have 

been put on the redeployment list and how many vacancies there are in the new 

structure.   

Agrees that the Culture and Communities Convener and Council Leader will work 

urgently to review the process and prevent adverse effects on our community 

centres, including instructing officers to meet with management committees urgently 

to discuss how to maintain services.  

Agrees that a report on the Lifelong Learning Review will be reported to the next 

Culture and Communities Committee setting out the engagement that has been 

undertaken with community centre management committees, the outcomes that the 

Page 115



The City of Edinburgh Council – 4 May 2023                                                 Page 92 of 159 

review hopes to deliver and how the new structure is aligned to delivery of those 

outcomes and learning from this process.” 

Motion 

To approve the motion by Councillor Campbell. 

- moved by Councillor Campbell, seconded by Councillor McFarlane 

Amendment  

At paragraph 5 of the motion by Councillor Campbell, to add: 

“The Education, Children and Families Committee.” 

- moved by Councillor Meagher, seconded by Councillor Walker 

In accordance with Standing Order 22(12), the amendment was accepted as an 

addendum to the motion.  

Decision 

To approve the following adjusted motion by Councillor Campbell: 

1) To note extreme disappointment in the outcomes of the Lifelong Learning 

Review.  

2) To recognise that many ward councillors hde very recently been shocked to 

learn that their local lifelong learning officers who had previously been leading 

important work in our communities had not been matched to jobs or had been 

moved away from the community centres which they had been supporting and 

to note considerable concerns from councillors about both the interim and 

future impact on local community service delivery.  

3) To regret that this apparent level of restructure had come with little to no 

notice to partnership organisations working with these officers as key links to 

CEC or by way of briefing to ward councillors. 

4) To agree to receive an urgent briefing setting out the new structure, and the 

number of roles which were currently filled including how many lifelong 

learning officers had been put on the redeployment list and how many 

vacancies there were in the new structure.   

5) To agree that the Culture and Communities and Education, Children and 

Families Conveners and Council Leader would work urgently to review the 

process and prevent adverse effects on our community centres, including 

Page 116



The City of Edinburgh Council – 4 May 2023                                                 Page 93 of 159 

instructing officers to meet with management committees urgently to discuss 

how to maintain services.  

6) To agree that a report on the Lifelong Learning Review would be reported to 

the next Culture and Communities Committee setting out the engagement that 

had been undertaken with community centre management committees, the 

outcomes that the review hoped to deliver and how the new structure was 

aligned to delivery of those outcomes and learning from this process. 

35 West Port Garden – Motion by Councillor McFarlane 

The following motion by Councillor McFarlane was submitted in terms of Standing 

Order 17: 

“Council notes that on the 29th of April the West Port Community Garden celebrated 

ten years since the City of Edinburgh Council handed over the keys to volunteers 

and residents of the Grassmarket and the surrounding area who have tirelessly 

rescued, maintained, and improved the inner-city green space for the benefit of the 

community and visitors alike.  

Established in 1909 by Patrick Geddes as one of several gardens in the Old Town to 

allow inner-city children from the then-slum to experience nature, green space and 

gardening it is notable thanks to the volunteers that the West Port Garden is still 

around and serving its original purpose over a century later as a thriving and calm 

greenspace in the centre of the bustling Grassmarket.  

Council requests that the Lord Provost congratulates GRASS (The Grassmarket 

Residents Association), and the volunteer gardeners of the West Port for all their 

hard work in reaching this milestone in an appropriate way.” 

Motion 

To approve the motion by Councillor McFarlane. 

- moved by the Lord Provost, seconded by Councillor Lezley Marion Cameron 

Amendment  

To insrt in the motion by Councillor McFarlane, after “Patrick Geddes”: 

“And his daughter Norah Geddes who with a team of redoubtable women worked 

and planted the West Port Garden.” 

- moved by Councillor Mowat, seconded by Councillor McFarlane 

In accordance with Standing Order 22(12), the amendment was accepted as an 

addendum to the motion.  

Page 117



The City of Edinburgh Council – 4 May 2023                                                 Page 94 of 159 

Decision 

To approve the following adjusted motion by Councillor McFarlane: 

1) To note that on the 29th of April the West Port Community Garden celebrated 

ten years since the City of Edinburgh Council handed over the keys to 

volunteers and residents of the Grassmarket and the surrounding area who 

had tirelessly rescued, maintained, and improved the inner-city green space 

for the benefit of the community and visitors alike.  

2) Established in 1909 by Patrick Geddes and his daughter Norah Geddes who 

with a team of redoubtable women worked and planted the West Port Garden 

as one of several gardens in the Old Town to allow inner-city children from the 

then-slum to experience nature, green space and gardening it was notable 

thanks to the volunteers that the West Port Garden was still around and 

serving its original purpose over a century later as a thriving and calm 

greenspace in the centre of the bustling Grassmarket.  

3) To request that the Lord Provost congratulate GRASS (The Grassmarket 

Residents Association), and the volunteer gardeners of the West Port for all 

their hard work in reaching this milestone in an appropriate way. 

36 50th Anniversary of the Edinburgh Renaissance Band – Motion 

by Councillor McNeese-Mechan 

The following motion by Councillor McNeese-Mechan was submitted in terms of 

Standing Order 17: 

“Council notes that the Edinburgh Renaissance Band will be celebrating its 50th year 

anniversary in 2023. This group of 11 local musicians formed in 1973 to perform 

medieval and Renaissance music from the period between 1200-1650, including 

both a Scottish and European repertoire, in well-researched concerts that have both 

informed and delighted audiences over the past half century.  

From their very beginnings as a ‘late night Festival Fringe’ show, Edinburgh 

Renaissance Band have expanded to perform in concert halls, period balls and 

corporate events, with the unifying vision to entertain and educate listeners to this 

often obscure four hundred year period of early music. During the recent pandemic, 

ERB played on, delivering a successful online virtual performance.  

Additionally, the ERB have expanded beyond the bounds of the city to participate in 

Dunfermline’s 900th anniversary of the death of St.Margaret, the 450th anniversary 

observation of the Siege of Haddington, and were featured at the opening of the new 

extension of the National Museum of Scotland on Chambers Street in 1992. Further 

Page 118



The City of Edinburgh Council – 4 May 2023                                                 Page 95 of 159 

afield, they have been invited to perform in Paris, Cologne, and Stockholm, amongst 

other European cities.  

Council proudly offers its thanks and congratulations to the Edinburgh Renaissance 

Band for its contributions to the city’s cultural and educational offerings, and 

therefore asks that the Lord Provost observe this significant milestone in an 

appropriate way.” 

- moved by the Lord Provost, seconded by Councillor Lezley Marion Cameron 

Decision 

To approve the motion by Councillor McNeese-Mechan. 

37 150 Year Anniversary of the Scottish Football Association – 

Motion by Councillor Gardiner 

The following motion by Councillor Gardiner was submitted in terms of Standing 

Order 17: 

“City of Edinburgh recognises and celebrates the important role that the Scottish 

Football Association has played in Scottish society over the last one hundred and 

fifty years, promoting and administering football in our country and organising our 

national teams.  

To celebrate this outstanding achievement Council requests that the Lord Provost 

writes to the Scottish Football Association to acknowledge this important anniversary 

and enquires whether the respective managers of the senior national women’s and 

men’s teams would be available to speak at a celebratory event at City Chambers, 

with the team captains from the Capital City’s youth teams also invited to attend.” 

Motion 

To approve the motion by Councillor Gardiner. 

- moved by the Lord Provost, seconded by Councillor Lezley Marion Cameron 

Amendment 

To delete paragraph 2 of the motion by Councillor Gardiner and replace with: 

“Requests the Lord Provost to mark this outstanding achievement in an appropriate 

manner.” 

- moved by Councillor Graham, seconded by Councillor Griffiths 

Page 119



The City of Edinburgh Council – 4 May 2023                                                 Page 96 of 159 

In terms of Standing Order 22(12), the amendment was accepted as an amendment 

to the motion. 

Decision 

To approve the following adjusted motion by Councillor Gardiner: 

1) City of Edinburgh recognises and celebrates the important role that the 

Scottish Football Association had played in Scottish society over the last one 

hundred and fifty years, promoting and administering football in our country 

and organising our national teams. 

2) To request the Lord Provost to mark this outstanding achievement in an 

appropriate manner. 

38 Scotland Men’s Curling Team Win World Curling 

Championships – Motion by Councillor Lezley Marion 

Cameron 

The following motion by Councillor Lezley Marion Cameron was submitted in terms 

of Standing Order 17: 

“Council warmly congratulates the Scotland Men’s Curling Team; Bruce Mouat, 

Grant Hardie, Bobby Lammie and Hammy McMillan; on its emphatic victory over 

Canada in the World Men’s Curling Championship final on 10 April in Ottawa.  

Council asks the Lord Provost to convey, in an appropriate way, Council’s 

congratulations to the Scotland men’s Curling Team and all involved in the training 

and preparations for, and throughout the tournament, culminating in the team’s gold 

medal success in the Men’s World Curling Championships.” 

- moved by the Lord Provost, seconded by Councillor Lezley Marion Cameron 

Decision 

To approve the motion by Councillor Lezley Marion Cameron. 

39 75 Years of the Edinburgh Black Cabs Annual Children’s 

Outing – Motion by Councillor Lezley Marion Cameron 

The following motion by Councillor Lezley Marion Cameron was submitted in terms 

of Standing Order 17: 

“Council notes that in 1947, the first Edinburgh Black Cabs Children’s Outing took 

place.  

Page 120



The City of Edinburgh Council – 4 May 2023                                                 Page 97 of 159 

75 years on, the annual, fun filled, spectacular procession will take place this year on 

Tuesday 13th June. and it is anticipated that up to 50 black cabs and over 100 

children will take part in this year’s outing.  

As per tradition, Black Cab drivers take time out to take children and their parents for 

a memorable, fun day out.  

Prizes will be awarded for the best taxi float, best balloon dressed taxi, and best 

fancy dressed child and taxi driver at a ceremony at Edinburgh Zoo ahead of the 

Lord Provost waving off the annual children’s taxi outing parade to make its way 

through the city.  

Council congratulates the Edinburgh Black Cab trade on its 75th anniversary of the 

first Edinburgh Taxi outing and asks the Lord Provost to formally convey Council’s 

congratulations and gratitude to the Edinburgh Black Cab trade and its sponsors for 

creating fun filled days out and happy memories for the countless of children and 

families who have taken part in what is a firm favourite charitable event in 

Edinburgh’s calendar.” 

- moved by the Lord Provost, seconded by Councillor Lezley Marion Cameron 

Decision 

To approve the motion by Councillor Lezley Marion Cameron. 

40 100 Years of the SNIPEF (The Scottish and Northern Ireland 

Plumbing Employers’ Federation – Motion by Councillor 

Lezley Marion Cameron 

The following motion by Councillor Lezley Marion Cameron was submitted in terms 

of Standing Order 17: 

“Council notes that the Scottish and Northern Ireland Plumbing Employers’ 

Federation (SNIPEF), the principal trade association for plumbing and heating 

businesses in Scotland and Northern Ireland, is celebrating its centenary year in 

2023.  

Promoting high standards across the plumbing and heating industry, SNIPEF 

represents over 750 member firms that employ more than 5,500 operatives. SNIPEF 

provides quality assurance for consumers and works in partnership with bodies like 

Skills Development Scotland to ensure the industry has a highly skilled and qualified 

workforce.  

Council congratulates SNIPEF on reaching its centenary milestone and notes that 

SNIPEF is hosting its forthcoming centenary celebratory lunch and reception event in 

the City Chambers.  

Page 121



The City of Edinburgh Council – 4 May 2023                                                 Page 98 of 159 

Council asks the Lord Provost to convey the congratulations of Council to SNIPEF in 

an appropriate way.” 

- moved by the Lord Provost, seconded by Councillor Lezley Marion Cameron 

Decision 

To approve the motion by Councillor Lezley Marion Cameron. 

41 Edinburgh Leisure turns 25 – Motion by Councillor Lezley 

Marion Cameron 

Decision 

To note that Councillor Lezley Marion Cameron had withdrawn her motion. 

42 Edinburgh Living Wage City – Motion by Councillor Meagher 

The following motion by Councillor Meagher was submitted in terms of Standing 

Order 17: 

“Council:  

• Welcomes and celebrates the outstanding commitments being made by 

employers across Edinburgh to help ensure that in the midst of a continuing cost 

of living crisis, workers in this city can earn a decent wage that is enough to live 

on. 

• Recognises and thanks the 30 employers who became accredited as real Living 

Wage employers during the first quarter of 2023, and thanks the Edinburgh 

Living Wage Action Group for its continuing work to promote fair work and the 

real Living Wage in Edinburgh. These employers join a community of 633 Living 

Wage accredited employers in Edinburgh, collectively employing over 200,000 

workers. 

• Further recognises that this voluntary commitment from employers means that 

levels of low pay employment in Edinburgh are circa 25% lower than they would 

otherwise be. 

• Notes that evidence continues to show that a commitment to fair work is good for 

business as well as being good for workers, and congratulates the many real 

Living Wage employers who have been celebrated by their business peers in 

recent awards ceremonies. These include business such as Edinburgh Dog and 

Cat Home, Edinburgh College, Surgeon’s Quarter, Narro Associates, Capital 

City Partnership – all Living Wage accredited employers - who were recently 

Page 122



The City of Edinburgh Council – 4 May 2023                                                 Page 99 of 159 

recognised for their excellence at this year’s Edinburgh Chamber of Commerce 

business awards. 

• Further notes that on 25th May this year the Council will be host to the first UK 

wide conference bringing together cities and towns who have committed to being 

‘Living Wage Places’. 

• This conference, led by the UK Living Wage Foundation, will include delegates 

from areas such as Cardiff, Sunderland, Dundee, Salford, Greater Manchester, 

Norwich, Scottish Borders and others and will provide a great opportunity to 

showcase the progress made in Edinburgh to date, and learn from best practice 

in the promotion of fair work in partner cities across the UK.” 

- moved by the Lord Provost, seconded by Councillor Lezley Marion Cameron 

Decision 

To approve the motion by Councillor Meagher. 

43 Questions 

The questions put by members to this meeting, written answers and supplementary 

questions and answers are contained in Appendix 4 to this minute. 

  

Page 123



The City of Edinburgh Council – 4 May 2023                                                 Page 100 of 159 

 

APPENDIX 1 

THE CITY OF EDINBURGH COUNCIL 

APPOINTMENTS FOR 2023/24 

CONVENERS AND VICE CONVENERS OF COMMITTEES 
 

 
EXECUTIVE COMMITTEES 
 

Policy and Sustainability 
 

Convener: Councillor Day 
 

Culture and Communities Convener: 
 

Councillor Walker 
 

Education, Children and Families Convener: 
 

Councillor Griffiths 
 

Housing, Homelessness and Fair 
Work 

Convener: 
 

Councillor Meagher 
 

Finance and Resources Convener: 
 

Councillor Watt 
 

Transport and Environment Convener: 
 

Councillor Arthur 
 

 
OTHER COMMITTEES 
 

Governance, Risk and Best Value Convener: 
 

Councillor Campbell 
 

Leadership Advisory Panel 
 

Convener: Councillor Day 
 

Pensions Convener: 
 

Councillor Watt 

Planning 
 

Convener: 
 

Councillor Dalgleish 
 

Development Management Sub  Convener: 
 

Councillor Osler 
 

Regulatory Convener: 
 

Councillor Neil Ross 
 

Licensing Sub-Committee Convener: 
 

Councillor Mowat 
 

Committee on the Jean F Watson 
Bequest 
 

Convener: Councillor Walker 
 

 

 

Page 124



The City of Edinburgh Council – 4 May 2023                                                 Page 101 of 159 

 
APPEALS 
 

  

Committee on Discretionary Rating 
Appeals 
 

Convener: Councillor Day 

Personnel Appeals 
 

Convener: Councillor Griffiths 

Committee on Pupil/Student 
Support 
 

Convener: Councillor Meagher 

Placing in Schools Appeals 
 

 Independent Chairperson 

Chief Official Personnel 
Assessment Committee 

Convener Councillor Neil Ross 

Chief Official Personnel Hearing 
Committee 

Convener Councillor Day 

   

 
RECRUITMENT 
 

Recruitment Committee Convener: Council Leader 
 

 
 
 

 
 

Page 125



The City of Edinburgh Council – 4 May 2023                                                 Page 102 of 159 

APPENDIX 2 

THE CITY OF EDINBURGH COUNCIL 

APPOINTMENTS FOR 2023/24 

MEMBERSHIP OF COMMITTEES, BOARDS AND JOINT BOARDS 
 
 

EXECUTIVE COMMITTEES 

Policy and Sustainability Committee  

(17 members: (including Leader of the Council (Convener) and Depute Leader of the 

Council - 5SNP, 4SLD, 3L, 3G, 2C) 

Councillor Aston 
Councillor Campbell 
Councillor Macinnes 
Councillor McVey 
Councillor Biagi 
Councillor Beal  
Councillor Bennett 
Councillor Dijksta-Downie 
Councillor Lang 
 

Councillor Day (Convener) 
Councillor Meagher 
Councillor Watt 
Councillor Mumford 
Councillor Parker 
Councillor Staniforth 
Councillor Doggart 
Councillor Whyte 
 

Culture and Communities Committee 
(11 members:- 3SNP, 2L, 2SLD, 2G, 2C) 

Councillor Glasgow 
Councillor McFarlane 
Councillor McNeese-Mechan 
Councillor Cameron 
Councillor Walker (Convener) 
Councillor Osler 
 

Councillor Thornley 
Councillor Heap 
Councillor Staniforth 
Councillor Mitchell 
Councillor Munro 
 

Education, Children and Families Committee 
(11 members:- 3SNP, 2L, 2SLD, 2G, 2C) 

Councillor Key 
Councillor Kumar 
Councillor Mattos Coelho 
Councillor Graham 
Councillor Griffiths (Convener) 
Councillor Davidson 
 

Councillor Young 
Councillor Burgess 
Councillor O’Neill 
Councillor Cowdy 
Councillor Jones 
 

  

Page 126



The City of Edinburgh Council – 4 May 2023                                                 Page 103 of 159 

Added Members for Education Matters 

Fiona Beveridge,Church of Scotland 
Representative  
Angela Campbell, Roman Catholic 
Representative 
Dr Ruhy Parris, Third Religious 
Representative 

Parent Representative 1 – Alex Ramage 
(non-voting) (until 24 May 2024) 
Paret Representative 2 - – Sara Collins 
and Louise Collingwood (shared basis) 
(until 24 May 2024) 

Finance and Resources Committee 
(11 members:- 3SNP, 2L, 2SLD, 2G, 2C) 

Councillor Hyslop 
Councillor Macinnes 
Councillor Nicolson 
Councillor Griffiths 
Councillor Watt (Convener) 
Councillor Neil Ross 
 

Councillor Younie 
Councillor Mumford 
Councillor Staniforth 
Councillor Bruce 
Councillor Doggart 
 

Housing, Homelessness and Fair Work Committee 
(11 members:- 3SNP, 2L, 2SLD, 2G, 2C) 

Councillor Campbell 
Councillor Dobbin 
Councillor Kumar 
Councillor Meagher (Convener) 
Councillor Pogson 
Councillor Caldwell 
 

Councillor Flannery 
Councillor Parker 
Councillor Rae 
Councillor Bruce 
Councillor Whyte 
 

Transport and Environment Committee 
(11 members:- 3SNP, 2L, 2SLD, 2G, 2C) 

Councillor Aston 
Councillor McFarlane 
Councillor Work 
Councillor Arthur (Convener) 
Councillor Faccenda 
Councillor Dijkstra-Downie 
 

Councillor Lang 
Councillor Bandel 
Councillor Miller 
Councillor Cowdy  
Councillor Munro 
 

  

Page 127



The City of Edinburgh Council – 4 May 2023                                                 Page 104 of 159 

Other Committees 

Governance, Risk and Best Value Committee 
(11 members:- 3SNP, 2L, 2SLD, 2G, 2C) 

Note: The Conveners and Vice Conveners of the following Committees shall not be 

eligible to serve as members of the Governance, Risk and Best Value Committee: 

The Policy and Sustainability Committee 

The Culture and Communities Committee 

The Education, Children and Families Committee 

The Finance and Resources Committee 

The Housing, Homelessness and Fair Work Committee 

The Transport and Environment Committee 

Councillor Biagi 
Councillor Campbell (Convener) 
Councillor McVey 
Councillor Faccenda 
Councillor Jenkinson 
Councillor Thornley 
 

Councillor Younie 
Councillor Bandel 
Councillor Miller 
Councillor Mowat 
Councillor Rust 
 

Pensions Committee 
(5 members –1SNP, 1L, 1SLD, 1G, 1C) 

(plus 2 external members representing the employers and the members in the 
pension funds 

Councillor Nicolson 
Councillor Watt (Convener) 
Councillor Neil Ross 
 

Councillor Burgess  
Councillor Doggart 
 

External Members 

John Anzani 
 

Richard Lamont 

Planning Committee and Development Management Sub-Committee 
(11 members:- 3SNP, 2L, 2SLD, 2G, 2C) 

Councillor Gardiner 
Councillor Hyslop 
Councillor McNeese-Mechan 
Councillor Lezley Marion Cameron 
Councillor Dalgleish (Convener of 
Planning Committee) 
Councillor Beal 
 

Councillor Osler (Convener of 
Development Management Sub) 
Councillor Booth 
Councillor O’Neill 
Councillor Jones 
Councillor Mowat 
 

Page 128



The City of Edinburgh Council – 4 May 2023                                                 Page 105 of 159 

Planning Local Review Body 
All members of the Planning Committee (other than its Convener) comprising two 
panels of five. 

Panel 1 (5 members) 

Councillor Lezley Marion Cameron 
Councillor Gardiner 
Councillor Jones 
 

Councillor O’Neill 
Councillor Osler 

Panel 2 (5 members) 

Councillor Beal 
Councillor Booth  
Councillor Hyslop 
Councillor McNeese-Mechan 
 

Councillor McNeese-Mechan 
Councillor Mowat 
 

Regulatory Committee and Licensing Sub-Committee 
(9 members:- 3SNP, 2L, 2SLD, 1G, 1C) 

Councillor Dixon 
Councillor Mattos Coelho 
Councillor Fullerton 
Councillor Graham 
Councillor Walker 
 

Councillor Caldwell 
Councillor Neil Ross (Convener of 
Regulatory) 
Councillor Rae 
Councillor Mowat (Convener of Licensing 
Sub) 
 

Leadership Advisory Panel 
(5 members of the Council plus 3 statutory representatives, appointed by the 
committee dealing with education, when considering education business – a group 
leader from each of the 5 groups)) 

SNP Group Leader – Councillor McVey 
Labour Group Leader – Councillor Day  
Scottish Liberal Democrat Group Leader 
– Councillor Lang 
 

Green Group Co-Conveners – Councillors 
Mumford/Parker 
Conservative Group Leader – Councillor 
Whyte 

 

Administration of Trust Funds 

Committee on the Jean F Watson Bequest 
(8 members - 2SNP, 2L, 2SLD, 1G, 1C) plus one nominee of Friends of the City Arts 
Centre and two nominees of Executive Director of Corporate Services 

Councillor Fullerton 
Councillor McNeese-Mechan 
Councillor Meagher 
Councillor Walker 
 

Councillor Osler 
Councillor Thornley 
Councillor Rae 
Councillor Mitchell 
 

Page 129



The City of Edinburgh Council – 4 May 2023                                                 Page 106 of 159 

Reviews and Appeals 

Committee on Discretionary Rating Relief Appeals 
(5 members – 1SNP, 1L, 1SLD, 1G, 1C)  

Councillor Biagi 
Councillor Day (Convener) 
Councillor Beal 
 

Councillor Staniforth 
Councillor Cowdy 
 

Personnel Appeals Committee 
(9 members – 3SNP, 2L, 2SLD, 1G,1C) 

Councillor Dobbin 
Councillor McFarlane 
Councillor McNeese-Mechan 
Councillor Griffiths (Convener) 
Councillor Meagher 
 

Councillor Dijkstra-Downie 
Councillor Flannery 
Councillor Miller 
Councillor Mowat 
 

Committee on Pupil Student Support 
(5 members and one religious representative –1SNP, 1L, 1SLD, 1G, 1C)  

Councillor Key 
Councillor Meagher (Convener) 
Councillor Davidson 
 

Councillor Burgess 
Councillor Jones 
 

Placing in Schools Appeal Committee 
(3 persons drawn from three Panels as described in Committee Terms of Reference 
and Delegated Functions no.17) 

Panel 1 – All members of Council and religious representatives on the committee 
dealing with education business 

Recruitment Committee 

Leader of Council (Convener), Depute Leader of the Council, one relevant executive 
committee convener and group leaders/co-conveners. 

Chief Official Personnel Assessment Committee 
(5 members –1SNP, 1L, 1SLD, 1G, 1C)  

Councillor McVey 
Councillor Arthur 
Councillor Neil Ross (Convener) 
 

Councillor Mumford 
Councillor Jones  
 

Chief Official Personnel Hearing Committee 
(5 members –1SNP, 1L, 1SLD, 1G, 1C)  

Councillor Macinnes 
Councillor Day (Convener) 
Councillor Lang 
 

Councillor Parker 
Councillor Whyte 
 

Page 130



The City of Edinburgh Council – 4 May 2023                                                 Page 107 of 159 

APPENDIX 3 

THE CITY OF EDINBURGH COUNCIL 

APPOINTMENTS FOR 2023/24 

JOINT COMMITTEES AND BOARDS, THE LICENSING BOARD  
 
 

Lothian Valuation Joint Board/Lothian Electoral Joint Committee 
(9 members – 3SNP, 2L, 2SLD, 1G, 1C) 

Councillor Dixon 
Councillor Glasgow  
Councillor McFarlane 
Councillor Dalgleish 
Councillor Jenkinson 
 

Councillor Beal 
Councillor Caldwell 
Councillor Staniforth 
Councillor Mitchell 
 

Licensing Board 

(9 members: 3 SNP,2 L, 2 SLD, 1G, 1 Conservative) 

Councillor Fullerton 
Councillor Key 
Councillor Work 
Councillor Lezley Marion Cameron 
Councillor Graham 
 

Councillor Flannery 
Councillor Young (Convener) 
Councillor Booth  
Councillor Rust (Vice-Convener) 
 

Integration Joint Board 
(5 members: 1SNP, 1L, 1SLD,1G,1C)) 

Councillor Nicolson 
Councillor Pogson (Chair/Vice Chair) 
Councillor Davidson 
 

Councillor Miller 
Councillor Mitchell 
 

Edinburgh and South East of Scotland City Region Deal Joint Committee 
(1 member) 

Council Leader – Councillor Day  

  

Page 131



The City of Edinburgh Council – 4 May 2023                                                 Page 108 of 159 

Edinburgh and South East of Scotland Region – Elected Member Oversight 
Committee 
(2 members – previously the Leader and Depute Leader) 

Councillor Day Councillor McVey 

SEStran (South East of Scotland Regional Transport Partnership) 
(5 members – 1SNP, 1L, 1SLD, 1G, 1C) 

Councillor Aston 
Councillor Arthur 
Councillor Dijkstra-Downie 
 

Councillor Bandel 
Councillor Munro 
 

SESPlan Joint Committee (South East Scotland Regional Joint Committee – 
Planning) 
(2 members) 

Councillor Arthur 
 

Councillor Gardiner 
 

Pentland Hills Regional Park Joint Committee 
(3 members) 

Councillor Bruce 
Councillor Gardiner 
 

Councillor Jenkinson 
 

Pentland Hills Regional Park Consultative Forum 
(2 members) 

Councillor Gardiner 
 

Councillor Jenkinson 
 

 
 
BAILIES 
 
SNP – Councillor Amy McNeese-Mechan 
L  – Councillor Margaret Graham 
SLD – Councillor Pauline Flannery 
G  – Councillor Susan Rae 
C  – Councillor Jason Rust 
  

Page 132



The City of Edinburgh Council – 4 May 2023                                                 Page 109 of 159 

 

Appendix 4 

(As referred to in Act of Council No 43 of 4 May 2023) 

 

QUESTION NO 1 
By Councillor Campbell for answer 
by the Convener of the Housing, 
Homelessness and Fair Work 
Committee at a meeting of the 
Council on 4 May 2023 

   

Question (1) Can the convener provide a breakdown of HRA revenue 

payments to the General fund over the last 3 years, and the 

services that were paid for? 

Answer (1) The Housing Revenue Account (HRA) is a ring-fenced fund 

which sits separately from the general Council budget.  The 

HRA must pay the General Council budget for its use of 

general Council services and assets.  HRA Income and 

Expenditure is subject to external audit scrutiny as part of 

the annual audit of accounting statements.  Within this 

process, the charges levied against the HRA are reviewed 

annually.  A three-year comparison is summarised below in 

Table 1. 

Overheads relate to use of premises, facilities management, 

back-office functions and dedicated management time.  

Question (2) Can this please be broken down into the service that was 

being purchased, and the number of units purchase i.e. 

hours of work or whatever unit of measurement is used? 

Answer (2) See answer (1). 

Question (3) Can this please be presented in a way that allows a 

comparison between different years? 

Answer (3) See answer (1). 

   

 

Page 133



The City of Edinburgh Council – 4 May 2023                                                 Page 110 of 159 

Table 1 – Three-year comparison of General Fund recharges to Housing 

Revenue Account 

 

 

 

 

  

Recharge Description Recharging Department

2019/20 

Outturn 

£000

2020/21 

Outturn 

£000

2021/22 

Outturn 

£000

Overhead Related Costs 

CEC - Central Support Costs Central 6,056 5,692 6,653

SSC - Central Support Costs Safer & Stronger 250 228 97

Place - Departmental Support Costs Place 550 720 335

Corporate & Democratic Core Place 166 254 208

Recharges from Front Line Service 

Contact Centre Business Support 1,134 977 1,016

Rent Collection Business Support 109 110 114

Assisted Technology - Core H&SC 542 745 681

Assisted Technology - Sheltered. H&SC 470 457 430

The Access Point H&SC 76 83 86

Housing Property - Direct Staff Place 1,282 1,971 1,932

Family & Household Support Mgmt Team Safer & Stronger 129 145 175

Family & Household Support Safer & Stronger 1,457 1,485 1,464

Housing Options Team Safer & Stronger 367 421 415

Grounds Maintenance - Core Parks & Greenspace 2,207 2,225 1,743

Grounds Maintenance - Sheltered Housing Parks & Greenspace 88 88 96

Grounds Maintenance - Garden Aid Parks & Greenspace 386 409 399

Total 15,269 16,010 15,844

Page 134



The City of Edinburgh Council – 4 May 2023                                                 Page 111 of 159 

 

QUESTION NO 2 
By Councillor Campbell for answer 
by the Convener of the Housing, 
Homelessness and Fair Work 
Committee at a meeting of the 
Council on 4 May 2023 

   

Question (1) Can the convener please provide a timeline for development 

of the hospital site including: 

• Any investigative works 

• Design and development 

• Planning permission 

• Expected dates of onsite development 

• Expected dates of completion 

Answer (1) NHS Lothian will occupy part of the building for up to two 

years from 31 March 2023 while they relocate services. 

Recent experience in bringing forward complex sites of this 

nature has shown that progression through a good quality 

procurement process, design, consultation and planning 

process will take a number of years. A Prior Information 

Notice (PIN), seeking interest from potential development 

partners, has been issued to the market. The outcome from 

this exercise will inform future procurement routes and 

community engagement will also be key to the success of 

the project.  

It is expected that a development partner will be in place 

towards the end of this year/early next year and a period of 

site investigation, design work and consultation will then 

commence. This will shape the delivery route and planning 

approach.  

 

Page 135



The City of Edinburgh Council – 4 May 2023                                                 Page 112 of 159 

  The developing project timetable will also be influenced by 

timescales for statutory consents and utility connections but 

opportunities to accelerate the programme will be reviewed 

regularly. It is likely to be at least two years before 

development will begin on-site and the first homes to be 

completed in 2026/27. Ward Councillors will be kept 

updated on key milestones and approvals will be sought 

from Committee as required. 

Question (2) Can the convener confirm if there have been discussions 

with H&SC colleagues about the scope for delays, and any 

cost/benefit analysis of delaying development to enable 

continued use of beds including the reduction in costs to 

H&SC of not extending the PFI contract for Ferryfield 

House? 

Answer (2) Place Directorate officers are supporting Health and Social 

Care colleagues in the delivery of the bed-based review and 

all options will continue to be explored until this process has 

concluded, and Members have agreed the optimal 

approach. 

Question (3) Has this been provided to H&SC colleagues in order for 

them to assess whether delaying services coming off 

Liberton Hospital might be more financially viable than 

extending private finance contracts to provide continuity of 

care. 

Answer (3) See answer (2). 

   

  

Page 136



The City of Edinburgh Council – 4 May 2023                                                 Page 113 of 159 

 

QUESTION NO 3 
By Councillor Campbell for answer 
by the Convener of the Housing, 
Homelessness and Fair Work 
Committee at a meeting of the 
Council on 4 May 2023 

   

Question (1) Can the convener please provide details of any discussions 

that have taken place regarding the potential for a sinking 

fund for private owners on low incomes in mixed tenure 

blocks where the council is taking forward improvements? 

Answer (1) The Council offers a Scheme of Assistance for homeowners 

to improve the quality of their homes, with advice, 

information and practical support provided by the Edinburgh 

Shared Repairs Service. 

The Scheme of Assistance also signposts to financial 

support which may be available to support homeowners, 

including financial assistance from the Council for people 

with disabilities.     

To date, however, there have been no discussions about the 

potential to create a sinking fund to support homeowners 

with the cost of life cycle building repairs. 

Question (2) Does the convener believe this is an area where we should 

consider whether the general fund should make 

contributions as happens in other council areas? 

Answer (2) Officers will continue to gather information on the schemes 

operated by other local authorities and will analyse further 

the allocation of this funding and will report back in due 

course 

 

  

Page 137

https://www.edinburgh.gov.uk/downloads/file/24523/scheme-of-assistance-statement-august-2016


The City of Edinburgh Council – 4 May 2023                                                 Page 114 of 159 

 

QUESTION NO 4 
By Councillor McNeese-Mechan for 
answer by the Leader of the Council 
at a meeting of the Council on 4 May 
2023 

   

Question (1) Why was the Council Leader or no member of the Labour 

Group at the Tram All Party Oversight Group on 18/04/23? 

Answer (1) Councillor Arthur and myself were unable to attend the 

meeting due to other commitments. 

I am aware that Councillor Arthur did catch up with the TTN 

team afterwards to understand if any issues had been 

raised, the meeting lasted less than an hour and all issues 

raised were addressed.  

Question (2) What is the Council Leader actually doing about 

meaningfully addressing ongoing issues? 

Answer (2) Councillor Arthur keeps me appraised of the regular contact 

he has with the TTN team. They are proactive in contacting 

myself or Councillor Arthur with any issues which may 

impact on project delivery as they arise. 

  The project remains on time, on budget and will be delivered 

as specified. We look forward to welcoming Leithers (and 

others) onto the service in the coming weeks.  

I know that you could not attend the community walkabout 

on 28th April for good reason. I along with local councillors 

and members of Community Councils Together on Trams 

(CCTT) walked the length of Leith Walk looking at the 

progress of the works. Any issues identified along the way 

have already been raised with the Trams team. If you would 

like to discuss any issues you have noticed, I would be 

happy to speak to you.  

   

  

Page 138



The City of Edinburgh Council – 4 May 2023                                                 Page 115 of 159 

 

QUESTION NO 5 
By Councillor McNeese-Mechan for 
answer by the Convener of the 
Transport and Environment 
Committee at a meeting of the 
Council on 4 May 2023 

   

Question (1) Why was the Convener or no member of the Labour Group 

at the Tram All Party Oversight Group on 18/04/23? 

Answer (1) Myself and Councillor Day were unable to attend the 

meeting due to other commitments.  

I did, however, catch up with the TTN team afterwards to 

understand if any issues had been raised. I understand the 

meeting lasted less than an hour, and all issues raised were 

addressed.  

Question (2) What is the Convener actually doing about meaningfully 

addressing ongoing issues? 

Answer (2) I have regular contact with the TTN team, and they are 

proactive in contacting me as issues arise which may have 

potential to impact on project delivery.  

You last contacted me directly regarding the TTN project on 

Sunday 2nd of April at 4:01am, and I responded at 8:37pm 

the same day. The issues you raised were dealt with fully at 

the TTN meeting requested by Councillor Caldwell (5th of 

April).  

You have raised no further issues with me since then. 

Indeed, I think this is the only issue you have ever raised 

directly with me in relation to TTN.  

  The project remains on time and on budget and will be 

delivered as specified. Indeed, myself and Councillor Day 

look forward to welcoming Leithers (and others) onto the 

service in the coming weeks.  

I know that you could not attend the community walkabout 

on 28th of April for good reason, but please let me know if 

you have any issues I can help you address.  

 

Page 139



The City of Edinburgh Council – 4 May 2023                                                 Page 116 of 159 

QUESTION NO 6 
By Councillor Thornley for answer by 
the Convener of the Transport and 
Environment Committee at a meeting 
of the Council on 4 May 2023 

  Capital Delivery Priorities 

Given the Capital Delivery Priorities approved by TEC on 

20th April, and the Convener’s praise for the ‘Pothole Killer’ 

the Council has acquired on trial: 

Question (1) By what measure is it determined where the ‘Pothole Killer’ 

will be deployed across the city? 

Answer (1) The Pothole Killer team is deployed on a citywide basis with 

the locations identified through the Council’s reporting 

system (Confirm) following site inspections to check 

suitability. 

Question (2) Is there a long-term plan for its use outwith the agreed 

Delivery Priorities? 

Answer (2) Pothole Killer is in the 1st month of a 6-month trial period. 

Following the trial, an assessment will be undertaken to 

determine if it is cost effective (taking account of plant, 

reinstatement quality, workforce and output against 

traditional methods to ensure best value). 

The trial is progressing well, and I have been contacted by a 

number of residents who were pleased to see this incredible 

machine in their area. 

Question (3) If so, would he share this below? 

Answer (3) Please see response to Q2. 

   

 

  

Page 140



The City of Edinburgh Council – 4 May 2023                                                 Page 117 of 159 

 

QUESTION NO 7 
By Councillor Caldwell for answer by 
the Convener of the Planning 
Committee at a meeting of the 
Council on 4 May 2023 

  In February, the Scottish Government’s Planning Minister 

announced planning deregulation as part of NPF4 as well as 

additional funding to allow more playparks and greenspaces 

to be developed and upgraded. 

Question (1) What physical impact will this new policy have on very high-

density, urban wards such as Leith Walk and 

Sighthill/Gorgie which currently have an inequitable level of 

provision compared to other areas of the city? 

Answer (1) The creation of new space will be shaped by development 

and the aspirations of City Plan 2030 across the city. 

Officers will also consider impact and improvements in 

existing spaces to make best use of investment and 

additional funding opportunities, particularly in high-density 

areas, as part of the Council’s replacement Open Space 

Strategy and Thriving Greenspaces Strategy, working with 

communities, partners, and agencies.  

Question (2) Can the Convener please list any new, additional public 

greenspaces that are in the Council’s pipeline, particularly 

for high-density areas where there is less access to gardens 

and private greenspace? 

Answer (2) City Plan 2030 proposes new greenspace provision in 

Gypsy Brae Park, Leith Western Harbour Central Park, Leith 

Links Seaward Extension and Crammond Road. Densities in 

these areas vary, although overall they are higher than 

many other parts of the city. These parks are generally to be 

delivered alongside new development and are expected to 

also benefit existing communities.  

Question (3) Can the Convener please list any new, additional public 

playparks that are in the Council’s pipeline, particularly for 

high density areas with limited outdoor play access? 

Page 141



The City of Edinburgh Council – 4 May 2023                                                 Page 118 of 159 

Answer (3) City Plan 2030 proposes new play facilities in areas of high 

density such as Orchard Brae Avenue, the Royal Victoria 

Hospital and Lanark Road where it crosses the Union canal.  

These facilities are to be provided as part of new 

development. They may be in private ownership however, 

per the Council’s Open Space Strategy, the overwhelming 

majority of existing non-Council play spaces in Edinburgh 

are still publicly accessible. It is expected these new 

proposed play facilities still provide benefit to existing 

communities. 

An update on Playparks Investment was reported to Culture 

and Communities Committee on 7 March 2023.  This 

included a programme of 14 play area projects in the 

pipeline for 2023/24. 

   

 

  

Page 142



The City of Edinburgh Council – 4 May 2023                                                 Page 119 of 159 

 

QUESTION NO 8 
By Councillor Caldwell for answer by 
the Convener of the Transport and 
Environment Committee at a meeting 
of the Council on 4 May 2023 

  Leith Walk and Elm Row Pavements Post-Completion of 

Trams to Newhaven 

I understand that there will be a Service Level Agreement 

period after the completion of the Trams to Newhaven 

project. Can the Convener please confirm: 

Question (1) What Council departments will be involved directly in this 

programme and how will existing knowledge and guidance 

from officers who worked on the Project be retained? 

Answer (1) It is important to note that there will not be a Service Level 

Agreement in place after the completion of the Trams to 

Newhaven project.  Instead, a handover plan is currently 

being developed for the management of the asset, to be 

taken forward as part of ‘business as usual’ activities by the 

Council and Edinburgh Trams.  For the duration of the 

contractual defects period, project management support is 

being procured. 

As noted above, the handover plan is currently being 

finalised with colleagues who will be responsible for asset 

management going forward, but it is anticipated that the 

support provided will include some continuity to capture 

existing knowledge. 

Question (2) How often will officers under this SLA programme seek to 

formally meet with relevant ward councillors, community 

councils and relevant public stakeholders? 

Answer (2) As noted in answer 1, there is no formal SLA programme in 

place.  Meetings take place as part of normal business.  

Question (3) Will part of the programme’s remit include identifying 

elements of the design that do not meet current Edinburgh 

Street Design Guidance and exploring solutions at those 

locations post-completion? 

Page 143



The City of Edinburgh Council – 4 May 2023                                                 Page 120 of 159 

Answer (3) The Trams to Newhaven contractor is obliged to meet the 

Edinburgh Street Design Guidance (ESDG) in place at the 

time the contract was awarded in 2019 (unless specific 

derogations have been sought and approved by the 

Council).  

Where this obligation exists and the design does not meet 

the ESDG, non-compliances are raised as defects through 

the contract and work to identify any such non-compliances 

is already underway. Any aspects not raised by the project 

prior to completion can be raised as part of the defects’ 

resolution process post completion. 

I acknowledge, however, that there are concerns regarding 

some aspects design despite it being constructed as 

specified by the last administration.  

  

Page 144



The City of Edinburgh Council – 4 May 2023                                                 Page 121 of 159 

 

QUESTION NO 9 
By Councillor Caldwell for answer by 
the Convener of the Transport and 
Environment Committee at a meeting 
of the Council on 4 May 2023 

  Can the Convener please confirm if (and how) population 

density and number of residents being impacted by surface 

water is factored when Council officers respond to; 

Question (1) Blocked drains and gully reports, and 

Answer (1) Population density and number of residents being impacted 

is not generally a consideration when responding to blocked 

drain and gully reports. Risk to public safety and disruption 

to the transport network are ultimately the main drivers for 

responses. 

Question (2) Active, ongoing flood and water-based emergencies, and 

Answer (2) When responding to flood events over multiple areas, 

consideration may be given for prioritising areas with higher 

number of residents. This depends on the nature and 

severity of flooding.  

Generally, the population density and number of residents 

being impacted is not a primary consideration when 

responding to emergencies. 

Question (3) New SuDS (Sustainable Urban Drainage Systems) project 

requests / ideas 

Answer (3) New SUDS projects will be designed to take into 

consideration the number of properties draining to the 

system and any existing surface water issues in the area. 

Population density is generally not a consideration for the 

design of SUDS schemes 

 

  

Itm no 10.9 

Page 145



The City of Edinburgh Council – 4 May 2023                                                 Page 122 of 159 

 

QUESTION NO 10 
By Councillor Younie for answer by 
the Convener of the Transport and 
Environment Committee at a meeting 
of the Council on 4 May 2023 

  Further to the answer provided question 10.3 (4) at the 30 

June 2022 meeting of the Council, 

Question (1) Was a decision taken in August 2022 on whether to retain, 

remove or modify the existing measures? 

Answer (1) A decision has not yet been taken, as the School Travel 

Plan for Royal High School has not yet been formally signed 

off. However, it is in final draft form and I understand there is 

strong support from the school community to retain the 

existing temporary measures on a permanent basis. 

Question (2) If so, what decisions were taken? 

Answer (2) Noting the support for retaining the existing temporary 

measures, it is proposed to progress designs and formally 

consult via any traffic orders necessary for permanent 

measures to replace the current temporary layout. 

Question (3) What is the timetable for implementing these decisions? 

Answer (3) A plan is currently being developed for implementing the 

measures supported through the school travel plan review.   

There is not currently a timescale for implementing 

individual measures within each travel plan. 

   

 

  

Page 146



The City of Edinburgh Council – 4 May 2023                                                 Page 123 of 159 

 

QUESTION NO 11 
By Councillor Lang for answer by the 
Convener of the Culture and 
Communities Committee at a 
meeting of the Council on 4 May 2023 

  4.8 of the Council’s ‘Management Rules for Public Parks 

and Greenspace’ states that “metal detecting in any park 

without the written permission of the Scottish Detector Club, 

subject to an agreement between the Council and the 

Scottish Detector Club being valid” is prohibited:  

Question (1) Does the Council have any valid agreement in place with the 

Scottish Detector Club? 

Answer (1) The Council does not have a valid agreement in place with 

the Scottish Detector Club. An agreement was previously in 

place, but this was relinquished, and the Council informed in 

March 2021. 

Question (2) How many requests for metal detecting on council land have 

been received in the last 5 years? 

Answer (2) Since 2018, there have been 2 requests received. 

Question (3) Of these, how many have been granted? 

Answer (3) None. 

Question (4) What guidance or criteria exists for council officers to use 

when considering whether to grant permission for metal 

detecting on council owned land? 

Answer (4) When considering whether to grant permission, advice is 

sought from the Council’s Archaeology Officer. However, in 

order to protect parks and open spaces (many of which are 

sites of historical interest) no permissions have been 

granted since 2016. 

   

 

  

Page 147



The City of Edinburgh Council – 4 May 2023                                                 Page 124 of 159 

 

QUESTION NO 12 
By Councillor Lang for answer by the 
Convener of the Development 
Management Sub Committee at a 
meeting of the Council on 4 May 2023 

   

Question (1) What is the total Healthcare Infrastructure Contribution 

expected from the legal agreement associated with planning 

permission 16/01797/PPP? 

Answer (1) The expected rate of contribution is £210 per household. As 

the application was for a planning permission in principle the 

total number of units is not finalised but the expected 

number of units is 980 units. 

Question (2) How much, if any, of this money is expected to be spent by 

the Council directly and how much is expected to be 

transferred to NHS Lothian? 

Answer (2) Any monies due in planning legal agreements for healthcare 

provision are forwarded to NHS Lothian to spend and deliver 

the infrastructure. This approach is set out in the Finalised 

Supplementary Guidance on Developer Contributions and 

Infrastructure Delivery 2018 section 4 ‘Legal Agreements 

and use of monies’. 

Question (3) What discussions have taken place with NHS Lothian on 

how any monies transferred would be spent to improve 

healthcare provision in Queensferry? 

Answer (3) The expansion of the medical practice in South Queensferry 

was completed in 2018 – this was an action in the LDP 

2016’s action programme to mitigate the impact of 

development in Queensferry. This action was delivered, and 

front funded by NHS Lothian, using developer contributions 

collected retrospectively to recover relevant costs. This is 

set out in Section 8 ‘Completed Actions 2023’ of the recently 

adopted 2023 LDP Action Programme. 

   

 

  

Page 148

https://www.edinburgh.gov.uk/downloads/file/25387/finalised-developer-contributions-and-infrastructure-delivery-supplementary-guidance
https://www.edinburgh.gov.uk/downloads/file/25387/finalised-developer-contributions-and-infrastructure-delivery-supplementary-guidance
https://www.edinburgh.gov.uk/downloads/file/25387/finalised-developer-contributions-and-infrastructure-delivery-supplementary-guidance
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s56493/6.1%20-%20Edinburgh%20Local%20Development%20Plan%20Action%20Programme%202023%20-%20adoption.pdf


The City of Edinburgh Council – 4 May 2023                                                 Page 125 of 159 

 

QUESTION NO 13 
By Councillor Lang for answer by the 
Convener of the Transport and 
Environment Committee at a meeting 
of the Council on 4 May 2023 

   

Question (1) Further to my supplementary to question 10.9 at the 16 

March 2023 meeting of the Council and given we are 

approaching the sixth anniversary of the tragic death at the 

Davidson’s Mains roundabout, has the Convener managed 

to get an explanation as to why this project is taking so 

long? 

Answer (1) I am sorry for the delay in responding to the supplementary 

question which you asked at the Council meeting on 16 

March. As I said in my response to your question, it is 

unacceptable that it has taken so long for this project to be 

progressed.  

Officers have advised me that there have been a number of 

challenges to progressing this project, including time to 

assess the feasibility of various options for this location and 

to develop scheme designs.  Resourcing has been a 

challenge throughout, and delivery of the project was further 

impacted by COVID-19. 

There are some upcoming changes in responsibilities and 

team structure within the transport area.  While I have asked 

officers to prioritise this project, I also recognise that there 

are many competing prioritises in this area and therefore I 

expect a report to Transport and Environment Committee in 

the autumn on the upcoming priorities of the team.  

   

 

  

Page 149



The City of Edinburgh Council – 4 May 2023                                                 Page 126 of 159 

 

QUESTION NO 14 
By Councillor McFarlane for answer 
by the Convener of the Culture and 
Communities Committee at a 
meeting of the Council on 4 May 2023 

   

Question (1) Can the Convener of the Culture and Communities 

Committee share the correspondence sent to the 

Administrators of 88 Lothian Road as mandated by the 

Policy and Sustainability Committee on 21 March 2023 

regarding theCity of Edinburgh’s agreed position to retain 

the site for cultural use. 

Answer (1) The Convener asked the Executive Director of Place to 

make contact with the Administrators to see if the Council 

could give any support. The Administrators were contacted 

on 17 March and responded that the process was 

confidential and ongoing, their duty was to maximise value 

to the Company and creditors and that they would update 

the Council at an appropriate time.  

He also sent a letter to the Scottish Government.  A copy of 

this is attached along with the response. 

Question (2) Can the Convener of the Culture and Communities 

Committee further share what efforts were made 

subsequent to the Emergency Motion passing to engage or 

support cultural bids to purchase 88 Lothian Road. 

Page 150



The City of Edinburgh Council – 4 May 2023                                                 Page 127 of 159 

Answer (2) Officers have been contacted by 3 separate 

organisations/individuals interested in bidding for the 

property (with a view to operating it as a cinema) since the 

Emergency Motion was passed.  

Officers have also been in regular, at least weekly, contact 

with Screen Scotland and have had meetings jointly with 

Screen Scotland and Scottish Government on 12, 17 and 25 

April to get updates and discuss possible ways to support 

the use of the building as a cultural cinema.  

The Council Leader and the Convener met earlier with 

representatives from Screen Scotland and Scottish 

Government with a further meeting arranged for 3 May. 

The Convener and Spokespersons have been given verbal 

updates as the situation evolves, with the latest update on 

18 April. 

   

 

Page 151



The City of Edinburgh Council – 4 May 2023                                                 Page 128 of 159 

Councillor Cammy Day 

Leader of Edinburgh City Council 

City Chambers 

 High Street 

 Edinburgh 

 EH1 1JY 

22 March 2023 

Dear Minister, 

Edinburgh Filmhouse 

You will be aware that following the demise of CMI in October 2022, the sale of the 

former Edinburgh Filmhouse at 88 Lothian Road to a hospitality chain now appears 

to be imminent. I am writing to urge Scottish Government to intervene and save this 

valuable cultural asset for the capital city of Scotland.  

Without a dedicated centre for the showing of cultural cinema and international film, 

the reputations of Edinburgh and Scotland as national and international cultural 

magnets are diminished, as is our ability to discover and nurture homegrown film-

making talent. 

Council officers have been working with colleagues in Screen Scotland/Creative 

Scotland since October to encourage and support any offer that is in line with the 

Administrators duties; a) returns full value to the creditors; b) secures 88 Lothian 

Road as a continuing cultural cinema; and c) ensures a swift conclusion to the 

administration process, and fair compensation to the administrators for same.   

I am aware that there is a standing bid from a private individual who seeks to 

maintain the use of 88 Lothian Road as a cultural cinema and is close to matching 

the current highest bid for the property. Acceptance of this bid would, we understand, 

satisfy the Administrators’ duties to the creditors, and allow the reopening of 

Filmhouse, however this bid is currently not being considered by the Administrators.  

As Leader of Edinburgh City Council, I urge Scottish Government to use any means 

at their disposal including the necessary financial support to ensure this valuable 

cultural asset – which both the City of Edinburgh and the Scottish Government have 

invested significant sums within over the decades - is saved for the city and the 

nation. I, and officers of the Council stand ready to support in any way that is helpful. 

Yours sincerely 

Councillor Cammy Day 

Leader,  The City of Edinburgh Council 

Labour Party, Edinburgh Ward 4 – Forth  

Page 152



The City of Edinburgh Council – 4 May 2023                                                 Page 129 of 159 

M: Minister for Culture, Europe and International Development  

 

Councillor Cammy Day 

Alan.Irvine@edinburgh.gov.uk 

 

Our Reference: 202300348851 

Your Reference: Edinburgh Filmhouse 

19 April 2023 

Dear Councillor Cammy Day, 

Thank you for your correspondence of 22 March 2023 regarding cultural cinema in 

Edinburgh and the sale of 88 Lothian Road. I am responding as these matters now 

fall under my portfolio as the Minister for Culture, Europe and International 

Development. 

I am aware that Council officers have been engaging with Creative Scotland/Screen 

Scotland and Scottish Government officials, and I am pleased that this positive 

engagement continues. I would like to pass on my thanks to all involved at the City of 

Edinburgh Council for their ongoing efforts, and assure you that the Scottish 

Government joins in your commitment to supporting cultural cinema and the 

Edinburgh International Film Festival. As your letter sets out, the Filmhouse and the 

Festival are key cultural assets both in Edinburgh and for Scotland as a whole, and 

their contribution to our creative landscape cannot be overestimated 

As the sale of the Filmhouse is a matter for the Administrators, I’m sure you will 

appreciate that it would not be appropriate for the Scottish Government to comment 

on those proceedings. 

I appreciate the time you have taken to write on this important issue. Please be 

assured that these matters continue to be a high priority for the Scottish 

Government, and we are committed to protecting and celebrating our important 

cultural assets; recognising the important role these play in sustaining and nurturing 

culture to flourish and to evolve as a diverse, positive force in society, across all of 

Scotland. 

Page 153

mailto:Alan.Irvine@edinburgh.gov.uk


The City of Edinburgh Council – 4 May 2023                                                 Page 130 of 159 

Thank you again for your letter, and I hope that our two organisations, along with the 

many others committed to preserving cultural cinema, can continue to work together 

positively and productively to find a solution for the people of Edinburgh and 

Scotland. 

Yours sincerely 

Christina McKelvie 

M: Minister for Culture, Europe and International Development 

Scottish Ministers, special advisers and the Permanent Secretary are covered by the 

terms of the Lobbying (Scotland) Act 2016. See www.lobbying.scot 

St Andrew's House, Regent Road, Edinburgh EH1 3DG 

www.gov.scot 

 

  

Page 154

http://www.lobbying.scot/
http://www.gov.scot/


The City of Edinburgh Council – 4 May 2023                                                 Page 131 of 159 

 

QUESTION NO 15 
By Councillor Lang for answer by the 
Convener of the Transport and 
Environment Committee at a meeting 
of the Council on 4 May 2023 

  Low Traffic Neighbourhood 

Question (1) What criteria is used to determine whether an area should 

be considered for a low traffic neighbourhood? 

Answer (1) For the two LTNs (Liveable Neighbourhoods) that are 

currently being progressed in Leith and Corstorphine the 

following information was used to inform their layout and 

interventions: 

- Traffic levels and speeds, compared against criteria in the 

Edinburgh Street Design Guidance for levels of traffic 

considered safe and attractive for active travel; 

- Walking and cycling counts; 

- Accident and collision data; and 

- Local community engagement and feedback on 

challenges, barriers and opportunities to walking cycling 

and wheeling. 

Both of these schemes were progressed before the draft 

Active Travel Action Plan and Road Safety Action Plans 

were approved. 

Moving forward, the draft Active Travel Action Plan 2030 sets 

out that the following issues will be taken into account in 

considering where to take forward future Liveable 

Neighbourhoods: 

Page 155



The City of Edinburgh Council – 4 May 2023                                                 Page 132 of 159 

  a. Could significantly reduce volumes of rat-running traffic; 

b. Improve the safety of streets, particularly in SIMD areas; 

c. Help children travel to school more actively; 

d. Could provide a viable alternative to the main road 

network for the city’s cycle network; aand 

e. Would enable people to access local services more 

easily by walking,  

Community engagement will be carried out wherever 

proposals for Liveable Neighbourhood are identified. 

Question (2) What formal traffic monitoring is required to be undertaken 

before an area is considered for a low traffic 

neighbourhood? 

Answer (2) From a formal statutory perspective, there is no specified 

traffic monitoring requirements before a Liveable 

Neighbourhood is introduced. However, the Council 

approach has been to undertake traffic monitoring (speeds 

and counts) on all the key roads within a liveable 

neighbourhood area, including the boundary distributor 

roads on the periphery of the liveable neighbourhood area. 

Question  (3) Which areas are currently being considered for possible low 

traffic neighbourhoods in the future? 

Answer  (3) Assessment work is still under development to identify which 

areas may be most appropriate for potential Liveable 

Neighbourhoods. I would welcome suggestions from 

Councillors and Community Councils for schemes to take 

forward.  

   

 

  

Page 156



The City of Edinburgh Council – 4 May 2023                                                 Page 133 of 159 

 

QUESTION NO 16 
By Councillor O’Neill for answer by 
the Convener of the Education, 
Children and Families Committee at a 
meeting of the Council on 4 May 2023 

   

Question (1) What does the Council do centrally with data from Scottish 

National Standardised Assessments (SNSA) and 

Measaichean Coitcheann Nàiseanta airson Foghlam tron 

Ghàidhlig (MCNG)? 

Answer (1) The local authority has facilitated professional learning for 

school staff to support the effective delivery of NSA (shared 

platform for Scottish National Standardised Assessments 

(SNSA) and Measaichean Coitcheann Nàiseanta airson 

Foghlam tron Ghàidhlig (MCNG)).   

We support the transfer of NSA data at the point of P7 

transition between primary and secondary schools.  With the 

implementation of NSA we have ensured that historic SNSA 

reports are available for schools to access. 

Question  (2) What do teachers do with data from SNSA and MCNG? 

Answer (2) The NSA provides teachers with objective data about 

learner progress.  Teachers use the NSA as a diagnostic 

tool to plan next steps in teaching and learning.  It is also 

used to support professional judgement of achieving CfE 

levels. They draw on a range of assessment evidence to 

determine learner progress and plan next steps.  If a child is 

not on track then teachers can plan appropriate 

interventions to accelerate learning. 

Question (3) What improvements have been made in the past year (since 

May 2022) at an individual, classroom, school and local 

level off the back of SNSA and MCNG data? 

Page 157



The City of Edinburgh Council – 4 May 2023                                                 Page 134 of 159 

Answer (3) The NSA forms part of the suite of assessment evidence 

that teachers draw on to assess the progress of individual 

learners and plan next steps.  Tracking and monitoring pupil 

progress to ensure attainment continues to improve is a 

local authority and school priority.  With the introduction of 

Scottish Government Stretch aims, the NSA data is 

supporting the rigour of professional judgements about 

achievement of CFE levels. 

   

 

  

Page 158



The City of Edinburgh Council – 4 May 2023                                                 Page 135 of 159 

 

QUESTION NO 17 
By Councillor O’Neill for answer by 
the Convener of the Education, 
Children and Families Committee at a 
meeting of the Council on 4 May 2023 

   

Question (1) How has the Council deployed the capital funding from the 

Scottish Government to support the expansion of free 

school meals? 

Answer (1) To date the Council has only received a limited amount of 

capital funding for tranche p4/5 - £1.8m.  The Council has a 

working group who have conducted a needs-based analysis 

within the limited budget to take forward 4 projects across 

the estate due for completion by September 2023.  These 

will ease over capacity in 4 key localities across Edinburgh 

A further 22 projects have been identified and early 

feasibility studies have been conducted to allow the council 

to submitted updated cost estimates for the next round of 

capital funding  

   

 

  

Page 159



The City of Edinburgh Council – 4 May 2023                                                 Page 136 of 159 

 

QUESTION NO 18 
By Councillor O’Neill for answer by 
the Convener of the Transport and 
Environment Committee at a meeting 
of the Council on 4 May 2023 

   

Question (1) To ask for an update on actions the Council has taken 

following the signing of Transport for All’s Equal Pavements 

Pledge to improve the accessibility of the city, which was 

agreed in 2021. 

With specific reference to: 

1. How have clear pavements been encouraged? 

2. How has business clutter such as A-boards and street 

furniture been reduced? 

3. How has waste removal scheduling been changed? 

4. How many dropped kerbs have been installed? 

5. How many broken kerbs or kerbs that need to be 

dropped have been identified? 

6. How many Blue Badge Bays have been removed? 

7. How many meetings has the convenor had with 

Disabled People’s Organisations (DPOs)? 

8. How has the Social Model of Disability been embedded 

into future streetspace schemes? 

Answer (1) Strategic Context 

The City Mobility Plan 2021-2030 (CMP), approved by 

Transport and Environment Committee in February 2021, 

provides the strategic policy framework for ensuring that the 

needs of all street users are considered when footways and 

routes are designed and maintained – this includes 

consideration of footway widths, gradients, surfacing and 

clutter. The CMP committed to a 2-yearly review cycle 

primarily to assess progress of and update committed 

actions in its associated Implementation Plan. This review is 

expected to be finalised by the end of this year.  

Page 160

https://www.edinburgh.gov.uk/downloads/file/29320/city-mobility-plan-2021-2030
https://www.edinburgh.gov.uk/downloads/file/29776/the-city-mobility-implementation-plan


The City of Edinburgh Council – 4 May 2023                                                 Page 137 of 159 

  Five draft actions plans to support the delivery of the City 

Mobility Plan were approved for consultation by Transport 

and Environment Committee in December 2022 and 

February 2023. These plans cover Active Travel, Public 

Transport, Parking, Road Safety and Air Quality and have 

been drafted together alongside the emerging strategic 

Streetspace Allocation Framework/Circulation Plan (‘Future 

Streets’). They contain several actions which will further 

improve the city’s accessibility and inclusivity. Consultation 

on these plans started on 17 April, running until 9 July.   

  The Edinburgh Street Design Guidance Factsheets are 

currently being reviewed. They contain specific guidance for 

road infrastructure projects and new developments on all 

aspects of street design. Specific guidance in relation to the 

Equal Pavements Pledge is included on how to: 

• Design barrier free footways for pedestrians in new 

developments 

• Ensure streets are inclusive and free of hazards and 

clutter 

• Ensure footways are designed sufficiently wide for all 

users 

• Ensure street furniture and use of tables and chairs on 

footways has no adverse impact on vulnerable street 

users 

 

Page 161

https://consultationhub.edinburgh.gov.uk/sfc/cmp/
https://www.edinburgh.gov.uk/downloads/download/13723/edinburgh-street-design-guidance


The City of Edinburgh Council – 4 May 2023                                                 Page 138 of 159 

  Following approval by the Council in 2022, enforcement of a 

ban on pavement parking will be introduced from December 

2023, the earliest date allowed by national enabling 

legislation. This will reduce the impact of obstruction caused 

by vehicles parking on footways across the whole of 

Edinburgh. 

On 29 March, the Convener of Transport and Environment 

Committee and officers held an Accessible Streets 

roundtable discussion with stakeholders representing a 

range of disability groups. Discussion focussed on 

challenges faced and how the Council can further support 

greater ease of movement for all along the city’s streets. 

Steps to establish an Accessible Streets Commission and 

Charter with this group are now in progress.  

I am grateful for your constructive contribution to this event. 

  A Boards and Street Furniture 

In 2018 a citywide ban on ‘A’ boards and other temporary 

advertising was introduced – the ban is enforced by Council 

enforcement officers and compliance continues to be very 

high. In terms of street furniture, the Edinburgh Street 

Guidance sets out what is expected, and the permit and 

planning process ensures that any street furniture (including 

applications for outdoor tables and seating at cafes, 

restaurants and licensed premises) will not have adverse 

impacts on pedestrians by ensuring sufficient pavement 

widths are clear of structures. This guidance continues to 

evolve – for example at the April Transport and Environment 

Committee we agreed that EV feeder cabinets should no 

longer be placed on footpaths.  

Bin Scheduling 

In respect of bin scheduling, for kerbside bins the Council 

seeks to achieve same day collection wherever possible 

which limits the number of collection days that bins are 

presented. It is not always possible to adhere to this, but it is 

recognised good practice. The communal bin project is 

addressing all communal bin locations, some of which are 

located on pavements, with a view to moving bin hubs into 

dedicated bays in the carriageway. 

Page 162



The City of Edinburgh Council – 4 May 2023                                                 Page 139 of 159 

  Dropped Crossings 

The Capital Investment Programme approved by Transport 

and Environment Committee on 20 April 2023 includes 

£80,000 dedicated to the installation of dropped crossings.  

In addition, all major capital works will include dropped 

crossings in scheme design. 

The Council does not hold a record of all dropped crossings 

introduced but this is known for some areas of activity 

including:  

• As part of phase 1 of the Active Travel Action Plan’s 

dropped kerb programme, 51 dropped kerbs have been 

installed. Pending funding from Sustrans, there are 

plans to install around 150 as part of phase 2 which will 

cover “Stream 1” streets in Edinburgh; and 

• Four dropped kerbs were introduced as part of general 

maintenance in 2021/22.  25 were installed in 2022/23. I 

accept, however, that more progress is needed in this 

area.  

Blue Badge Bays 

The Council doesn’t hold a record of how many Blue Badge 

bays have been removed.  However, details of the total 

number of bays across the city is held.  This shows that in 

August 2019, there were 270 bays and in August 2022, 

there were 325. 

Meetings with Disabled People’s Organisations 

I have not kept a count of these meetings, but a priority for 

myself and Cllr Day has been to rebuild and strengthen the 

Council’s relationships with these organisations. For 

example, I ensured the Edinburgh Access Panel received an 

invite to a recent George Street workshop, and I was 

pleased to meet them again on Leith Walk on the 28th of 

April along with a RNIB Scotland activist. Although 

Edinburgh is progressing in this area, a focus for me is 

ensuring we work towards minimum criteria set out in the 

Sustrans “Disabled Citizens' Inquiry” report.  

Page 163



The City of Edinburgh Council – 4 May 2023                                                 Page 140 of 159 

  Social Model of Disability 

All future streetscape schemes will be designed and 

progressed considering the Social Model of Disability. All 

streetspace schemes involve early and ongoing 

engagement with a range of user groups, including 

Edinburgh Access Panel, and are subject to detail integrated 

impact assessments. Design of all schemes ensures that 

they are fully inclusive for all users and key to achieving that 

is working with different user groups, including the new 

Accessible Streets Commission once established. 

 

  

Page 164



The City of Edinburgh Council – 4 May 2023                                                 Page 141 of 159 

 

QUESTION NO 19 
By Councillor Bruce for answer by 
the Convener of the Transport and 
Environment Committee at a meeting 
of the Council on 4 May 2023 

  A71 Dalmahoy Junction 

The installation of a fully signalised junction at Dalmahoy 

was agreed at the December TEC Committee. The Ratho 

Community Council and local residents are concerned that 

no works have started.  

Question (1) Please could you explain what is holding up the works? 

Answer (1) While Committee on 8 December 2022 approved the motion 

from yourself and Cllr Jenkinson to proceed with the delivery 

of a traffic signal controlled junction, the decision on 

approving the proposed funding package was deferred for 

alternative proposals to be brought forward (due to a 

shortfall of £1.1m being identified). 

Since Committee, work has proceeded to develop the 

detailed design for the traffic signal controlled junction and a 

contract will shortly be awarded for advanced works to 

implement the planned localised reduction in the speed limit 

to 30mph. 

Discussions are ongoing over possible options for 

alternative funding packages. 

In addition, three areas of land need to be acquired to permit 

the construction of the junction and a right of servitude is 

also required (through land outwith the Council's ownership 

for the piped drainage outfall that is required for a traffic 

signal controlled junction). None of these legal agreements 

have yet been concluded. 

Question (2) If there are blockers to works starting, what are they? 

Answer (2) Prior to issuing tenders to construct the junction, the 

Committee would have to approve a funding package to 

meet the shortfall in the project budget and all of the 

necessary land acquisitions/servitudes would have to be 

successfully concluded. 

Page 165



The City of Edinburgh Council – 4 May 2023                                                 Page 142 of 159 

Question  (3) How and when will these blockers be resolved? 

Answer (3) A further report on funding options will be brought to the 

Committee for consideration in June 2023. 

Officers are working on concluding the necessary land 

acquisitions/servitudes as quickly as possible. 

Question (4) When do you expect the actual works to start? 

Answer (4) It is not currently possible to provide a date for the 

conclusion of the land acquisitions/servitudes, and therefore 

for the start of construction work, with any degree of 

certainty. 

Question (5) How long do you expect the works to take to complete? 

Answer (5) A detailed construction programme will not be available until 

after a contract has been awarded. However, from previous 

experience of similar projects elsewhere, a construction 

duration of between six and nine months is considered to be 

likely. 

Supplementary 

Question 

 Please confirm the full cost for a fully signalised junction at 

Dalmahoy on the A71? 

Supplementary 

Answer 

 A cost estimate of £1.55m was provided for a traffic signal 

controlled junction in the report to the Transport & 

Environment Committee on 8 December 2022.  

 

 

  

Page 166

https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s52661/Item%207.2%20-%20A71%20Dalmahoy%20Junction%20Improvements.pdf


The City of Edinburgh Council – 4 May 2023                                                 Page 143 of 159 

 

QUESTION NO 20 
By Councillor Bruce for answer by 
the Convener of the Transport and 
Environment Committee at a meeting 
of the Council on 4 May 2023 

  Ratho Bus Service 

Question (1) When do you expect the residents of Ratho and surrounding 

area to have a direct bus service to the centre of Edinburgh 

that is reliable and frequent? 

Answer (1) A direct and frequent bus service from Ratho to the city 

centre is not affordable within the current supported bus 

services budget and therefore provision of such a service 

would require significant cuts to be made from other 

supported routes in the city.  

In the short to medium term, bus operators have indicated 

that they would be unable to divert one of their existing 

commercial city centre routes to include Ratho due to the 

perceived negative impact this would have on the journey 

times (for passengers who currently use these routes) and 

because they do not believe that increased patronage would 

justify such a move.  

In the longer term, it is anticipated that there may be 

amendments or enhancements to the commercial network 

as a result of planned West Edinburgh developments, but it 

is too early to say whether this will result in significant 

changes to bus provision in Ratho.  

Question (2) If such a direct bus service to the city centre is not 

proposed, then when do you expect to have a reliable 

frequent shuttle bus service for Ratho that picks up transport 

hubs at Ingliston P&R/Gyle and Hermiston Gait? 

Page 167



The City of Edinburgh Council – 4 May 2023                                                 Page 144 of 159 

Answer (2) The Service 20 (which is fully subsidised by the Council) 

connects Ratho to Ingliston P&R/Gyle and Hermiston Gait 

and is currently contracted to McGill’s.   

The Council is aware of the impact that lack of reliability has 

on the local community and is working with the McGill’s to 

try to ensure that there are improvements to reliability of the 

current service.  

While reliability can be due to a number of factors, in this 

case it has mainly been mechanical issues and ‘on the day’ 

staff issues. 

To address this, McGill’s have indicated that they will soon 

receive newer vehicles for their operation, and this will help 

alleviate the mechanical issues.  In addition, in respect of 

staffing, they are hopeful that they will soon rely less on 

agency workers and, in order to help staff retention, wages 

have risen significantly in the last year. The company are 

also making changes to their commercial service network in 

May 2023 which should free up additional drivers to further 

improve reliability and speed up the return to their original 

contracted frequencies. 

All existing supported bus services are currently being 

reviewed, including some route amendments and services 

are currently proposed to be re-tendered later this year  

   

 

  

Page 168



The City of Edinburgh Council – 4 May 2023                                                 Page 145 of 159 

 

QUESTION NO 21 
By Councillor Doggart for answer by 
the Convener of the Finance and 
Resources Committee at a meeting 
of the Council on 4 May 2023 

  Cost of Replacing Swift IT System 

In light of the admission at the previous Policy & 

Sustainability Committee that, as part of the 2019 Budget 

preparation, officers did not bring a proposal to members for 

the replacement of the Swift IT system, could the Convenor 

confirm: 

Question (1) What was the estimated replacement cost for the system in 

2019? 

Answer (1) The Business Case as presented in 2019 contained 

proposed implementation costs of between £4.5M and 

£5.7M. With recurring annual charging of between £270K 

and £730K for each of the subsequent 5 years. 

Further work with our Digital Partners including all costed 

implementation works returned costs of between £6.5M and 

£7.5M. 

Question (2) Given the flaws discovered in the Swift system, why was the 

proposal for a replacement not brought to members in 

subsequent Budget proposals? 

Answer (2) Due to the prioritisation of the Council’s Capital Budget the 

decision was reached that there were no available funds 

within the budget on each occasion that the replacement of 

this system was raised.  

Question (3) What are the overpayments for the last five financial years 

as discussed in report 7.3 to the emergency F&R meeting 

on 30 March 2023? 

Page 169



The City of Edinburgh Council – 4 May 2023                                                 Page 146 of 159 

Answer (3) Officers are working on pulling together requested 

information, however owing to the complexities in extracting 

information from Swift, this is not yet available.  

Due to the limitations and inflexibility of the Swift system, it 

is necessary to pay carers in advance which may result in 

overpayments when a placement ends.  When this occurs, 

our default is to reclaim overpayments, however there may 

be some circumstances where this is not possible.  

   

 

  

Page 170



The City of Edinburgh Council – 4 May 2023                                                 Page 147 of 159 

 

 

QUESTION NO 22 
By Councillor Doggart for answer by 
the Convener of the Governance, 
Risk and Best Value Committee at a 
meeting of the Council on 4 May 2023 

  Swift IT System – Council is asked to continue this 

question in its entirety to its meeting in June.  

Question (1) When did officers become aware that social work 

information was held outside the Swift system? 

Answer (1)  

Question (2) When did officers become aware that storing social work 

information outside the Swift IT system was not compliant 

with GDPR? 

Answer (2)  

Question (3) On discovering Swift was not GDPR compliant, what actions 

did officers take to mitigate the data security risks? 

Answer (3)  

Question (4) On discovering Swift was not GDPR compliant, what actions 

did officers take to mitigate the data security risks? 

Answer (4)  

Question (5) Does the current Swift usage remain non-compliant with 

GDPR and do the data security risks remain live? 

Answer (5)  

Question  (6) Did individuals referenced in the Tanner report have 

unrestricted access to sensitive personal data held outside 

Swift? 

Answer  (6)  

 

  

Page 171



The City of Edinburgh Council – 4 May 2023                                                 Page 148 of 159 

 

QUESTION NO 23 
By Councillor Mitchell for answer by 
the Chair of the Edinburgh 
Integration Joint Board at a meeting 
of the Council on 4 May 2023 

  Care Homes Procurement 

Please could the Chair confirm: 

Question (1) How many formal procurement exercises were conducted in 

relation to the North Merchiston and Castlegreen care 

homes? 

Answer (1) Following the original commissioning of the care services in 

the two care homes in 2007 and 2008, a Prior Interest 

Notice (PIN) was published in 2019, and 2022. 

Question (2) If any “informal” procurement exercises were conducted? 

Answer (2) No. 

Question (3) How much was spent in total in relation to procurement 

exercises associated with the two care homes? 

Answer (3) There are no additional costs associated with procurement 

as any procurement exercises were undertaken as part of 

an officers normal duties.  

   

 

  

Page 172



The City of Edinburgh Council – 4 May 2023                                                 Page 149 of 159 

 

QUESTION NO 24 
By Councillor Rust for answer by the 
Convener of the Planning Committee 
at a meeting of the Council on 4 May 
2023 

  5 Winton Drive, Planning Appeal 

Question (1) “Interested parties” who made comments on the original 

planning application did not receive notification by the 

Council of the above appeal being submitted: 

a. How many were notified and on what date? 

b. How many were not notified? 

c. What was the reason for the ‘non-notification’? 

Answer (1) a. 298 were notified on 16 March 2023. 

b. There were no people who made representations not 

notified, however a person who made a representation 

contacted the Planning service stating that they had 

not been notified.  

c. Initially it had been thought that it was an 

administrative error that had resulted in the person not 

being notified. However, on further checks it was found 

it was the case that the email address that had been 

supplied to Planning records was different to the email 

address that the person currently used.  

Question (2) Following representations to the Council by interested 

parties regarding the absence of notification that a planning 

appeal had been lodged: 

d. What steps were then taken by the Council to notify 

those who the Council had initially failed to contact?  

e. On what date was the delayed notification to 

interested parties issued by the Council? 

Answer (2) d. Interested parties were renotified. The Planning and 

Environmental Appeals Division of the Scottish 

Government (known as the DPEA) was notified of this 

e. This was done on 7 April 2023.  

Page 173



The City of Edinburgh Council – 4 May 2023                                                 Page 150 of 159 

Additional 

information 

 Following additional information provided by Councillor Rust, 

the Planning service checked its systems further to establish 

why those who had made representations had not received 

notification. While the computer system held all the details of 

people that had made representations, as the notifications 

were being sent out the computer system “timed out” and 

did not send to all individuals. As a consequence of this, 

measures have been put in place to ensure that this does 

not happen again. 

 

  

Page 174



The City of Edinburgh Council – 4 May 2023                                                 Page 151 of 159 

 

QUESTION NO 25 
By Councillor Whyte for answer by 
the Leader of the Council at a 
meeting of the Council on 4 May 2023 

  Smart Bins 

The Leader recently issued a press release about his visit to 

Taiwan to promote Edinburgh as a ‘Smart City’.   It is 

important for the City’s reputation that when we tell the world 

we are doing something it is actually happening.    In the 

press release How hi-tech is helping us plan the city’s future 

– The City of Edinburgh Council  He said:  

“For instance, we’ve been busy installing Scotland’s first 

cloud-connected smart sensors in on-street bins so that we 

can better coordinate collections. 

In recent months we’ve placed over 4000 sensors within 

street litter and communal waste bins across the city, putting 

us on target to hit an impressive 11,000 sensors as part of 

our citywide trial. They will proactively monitor and manage 

fluctuations in how full bins can get – think a hot summer’s 

day in the Meadows versus a rainy Monday in March.” 

As the Leader knows the initiative to install 11,000 sensors 

in bins across the City commenced in July 2022 and is 

planned to be completed by June 2023. I welcome the 

progress with installations of sensors which has increased 

from 2,800 in February (as reported by the Convenor of TEC 

in answer to my Council question on 9 February 2023) to the 

Leader’s report of 4,000 by 5 April 2023.   However more 

than half (7,000 or 63%) of the sensor installations still need 

to be undertaken in the next eight weeks for this project to 

complete ‘on target’ and this compares with actual delivery 

of only 1,200 being installed in the eight weeks between my 

question and the press release. 

Page 175

https://www.edinburgh.gov.uk/news/article/13696/how-hi-tech-is-helping-us-plan-the-city-s-future
https://www.edinburgh.gov.uk/news/article/13696/how-hi-tech-is-helping-us-plan-the-city-s-future


The City of Edinburgh Council – 4 May 2023                                                 Page 152 of 159 

Question (1) Could the Leader provide us and the public with assurance 

that this project is indeed ‘on track’ to complete all 11,000 

installations by June 2023 by providing the following: 

a. Confirmation of the total number of sensors installed at 

4 April 2023  

b. The number of sensors that have now been installed 

as at early May. 

c. The number of installations of sensors that are 

scheduled to be completed in each week between 4 

April 2023 and 30 June 2023.  

Answer (1) The project to deploy smart sensors into on street litter and 

communal bins is on track to hit the target of 11,000 bins by 

30th June 2023. 

a) As of close of play on 4 April 2023 the project team 

deployed 5,669 sensors. This meant the Council hit its 

ERDF funding target of 5,500 by 31 March 2023. 

b) As of close of play on 1 May 2023 the project team 

deployed 7013 sensors. Deployment to on-street litter 

bins is complete and we are continuing to deploy to 

the new bins made available through the communal 

bin review. 

c) At the current rate of 90 sensors per day the Council 

will meet the target of 11,000 by the end of June. 

Question (2) Given that this project is part of a £6.4m of taxpayers’ 

money (£2.5m coming from the European Regional 

Development Fund) can he please outline 

d. the project’s full cost within that £6.4m funding 

e. the success criteria for the project 

f. What he expects to be delivered from the scheme 

given that previous attempts to use smart bin sensors 

in the City have produced no measurable impact and 

are no non-operational and the only justification the 

Convener of TEC could give for the spend in his 

answer on 9 February was that it “could contribute to 

street cleanliness”. 

Page 176



The City of Edinburgh Council – 4 May 2023                                                 Page 153 of 159 

Answer (2) d) The full cost of the project is £3.624m, with £1.064m 

anticipated to be made available through the ERDF 

grant.  

e) Success criteria for this project includes the following: 

• Improve health and well-being of tenants living in 

the social housing provided by the City of 

Edinburgh Council  

• Predict and monitor potential damp damage to the 

property and environmental risks to the tenants’ 

health to ensure better housing quality 

• Proactively monitor and manage housing quality 

such as damp across the city to ensure 

sustainable resource management and good 

health conditions 

• Proactively monitor and manage fluctuations 

waste across the city to protect the environment, 

maintain attractiveness to tourists and ensure 

good quality of the public spaces 

• Ensuring that the right bin capacity, is in the right 

locations, collected on the right frequency. 

• Lay the foundation for Smart Mobility, Smart 

Environment, Smart Living and Smart Governance 

solutions 

• Build analytics and data-driven capabilities across 

service delivery teams 

f) The Smart Cities Operations Centre Phase 1 project is 

expected to deliver an extendable and adaptable 

platform, allowing a network of bin and property 

environment sensors to drive better insight for the City 

of Edinburgh Council and enabling us to take more 

proactive action in delivering services to our citizens. 

Page 177



The City of Edinburgh Council – 4 May 2023                                                 Page 154 of 159 

  Sensors placed in litter and residential communal bins 

around Edinburgh will enable service teams to see 

accurate usage of bins, predict when they will overflow 

and take a proactive action to mitigate that. The 

property environment sensors installed in social 

houses will enable the service team to predict, manage 

and prevent extensive damage to the properties 

caused by issues including but not limited to damp 

conditions and related mould growth. Utilising this 

technology will not only reduce the council’s costs of 

maintaining social housing properties but will also 

improve the health of our citizens due to improvements 

in the quality of living conditions.   

The current smart waste sensor rollout was developed 

using lessons learned around sensor design and 

installation best practice derived from the initial c.400 

sensor trial previously undertaken by Place 

Operational Services. This trial provided Operational 

Services with initial data sets around bin fill levels and 

the opportunity to complete initial upskilling of service 

teams around how to invoke action off the back of 

sensor data received. 

   

 

  

Page 178



The City of Edinburgh Council – 4 May 2023                                                 Page 155 of 159 

 

QUESTION NO 26 
By Councillor Booth for answer by 
the Convener of the Education, 
Children and Families Committee at a 
meeting of the Council on 4 May 2023 

  In relation to the Gaelic Medium Education Secondary 

School Site Review recently circulated to councillors, please 

can the Convener confirm: 

Question (1) What consultation took place with the GME community on 

the terms of reference to this review before it was tendered? 

Answer (1) The purpose for the study – to assess if there was a site 

available that would meet the national SNP manifesto 

commitment to deliver a stand-alone GME secondary school 

in the city centre - was discussed at the Gaelic 

Implementation Group. 

Question (2) Why were the size criteria set as a minimum of 2 hectares? 

Answer (2) This was chosen as it was less than the legislative minimum 

site size for a 600 capacity school (which is 2.02 hectares 

without playing fields).  A new GME secondary school would 

ideally be constructed for a 600 roll as a minimum and the 

clear view from previous consultations is that the city centre 

school must be stand-alone, including sports facilities, to 

ensure full immersion. 

Question (3) Why the location criteria were set using distance from the 

foot of the mound, as opposed to some other criteria such 

as accessibility by public transport? 

Answer  (3) The requirement was for a city centre location was based on 

the national SNP manifesto commitment. The Council asked 

for a 3 mile radius from the city centre as that is the distance 

for the secondary walk to school policy. The consultants 

chose the location as being the foot of the mound.  

Question (4) Was any consideration given to smaller sites in close 

proximity to existing or planned CEC schools, with the ability 

to share sports facilities? 

Answer (4) The focus of this exercise was to see if any sites were 

available to deliver the national SNP manifesto commitment 

for a dedicated city centre stand-alone school.  

Page 179



The City of Edinburgh Council – 4 May 2023                                                 Page 156 of 159 

Question (5) What assumptions were made about the likely future school 

roll? 

Answer  (5) If a site and budget were available, then the construction of 

a new school would ideally be for a minimum of 600 pupils 

with an expansion plan to accommodate any future growth 

in pupil numbers. However, the resulting school building 

could be used for a smaller roll if required. 

Question (6) How many new GME primary schools would be needed to 

achieve the likely secondary school roll in question 5)? 

Answer (6) Approximately 4 streams of primary school children (28 

classes) would be required to sustain a 600 secondary 

school roll. In theory, that could be achieved by one large 4 

stream primary school or a variety of other combinations 

involving two, three or four primary schools. However, there 

are currently no approved plans or budgets allocated to 

develop proposals for additional GME primary schools in 

Edinburgh.  

Supplementary 

Question 

 Please can the Convener clarify, in relation to answer (1), on 

what date this was discussed at the GIG, and on what date 

the Review was commissioned? 

Supplementary 

Answer 

 The purpose of the study was discussed at the GIG on 23 

January 2023.  

There was no tender exercise for the study. It was 

commissioned by Officers through a consultant’s framework 

in late November 2022 to provide additional information in 

relation to the ongoing consideration of options to deliver the 

national SNP manifesto commitment for a dedicated city 

centre stand-alone school. 

 

  

Page 180



The City of Edinburgh Council – 4 May 2023                                                 Page 157 of 159 

 

QUESTION NO 27 
By Councillor Booth for answer by 
the Convener of the Education, 
Children and Families Committee at a 
meeting of the Council on 4 May 2023 

   

Question (1) Please will the Convener list the size (in acres/hectares) of 

each of the City of Edinburgh Council’s secondary schools 

and in each case list whether the size complies with school 

premises regulations? 

Answer (1) The table below includes data based on a desk top exercise.  

Further on site assessment would be recommended to 

obtain definitive site sizes.  

For those schools that do not comply with the legislation, 

they either have a dedicated all weather sports pitch or use 

off site sports facilities (or both). The legislation was 

introduced in 1967 when all weather sports pitches were not 

available therefore this provision is not taken into 

consideration in the legislation.  

Supplementary 

Question 

 Please can the Convener clarify whether a dedicated all-

weather sports pitch and/or use of off-site sports facilities 

has been considered as an option when setting the size 

requirements as part of the GME secondary school site 

review, and if not, why not? 

Supplementary 

Answer 

 Yes, the minimum site size was based on the legislative 

requirements for the school site only without the legislative 

area requirement for sports pitches.  

 

  

Page 181



The City of Edinburgh Council – 4 May 2023                                                 Page 158 of 159 

High School Capacity Total Site (HA) 

School Premises 

Regulations 1967 

Balerno Community HS 850 5.92 Complies 

Boroughmuir HS 1,560 1.67 Does Not Comply 

Broughton HS 1,200 6.83 Complies 

Castlebrae Community HS 700 3.91 Does Not Comply 

Craigmount HS 1,400 6.07 Does Not Comply 

Craigroyston Community 

HS 600 3.89 Does Not Comply 

Currie Community HS 900 8.81 Complies 

Drummond Community 

HS 600 1.93 Does Not Comply 

Firrhill HS 1,150 4.89 Does Not Comply 

Forrester HS 900 9.7 Complies 

Gracemount HS 650 5.59 Complies 

Holy Rood RC HS 1,200 19.49 Complies 

James Gillespie's HS 1,950 4.21 Does Not Comply 

Leith Academy 950 7.34 Complies 

Liberton HS 1,000 7.93 Complies 

Portobello HS 1,400 7.7 Complies 

Queensferry Community 

HS 1,200 6.42 Complies 

St Augustine's RC HS 900 9.7 Complies 

St Thomas of Aquin's RC 

HS 750 0.69 Does Not Comply 

The Royal HS 1,350 9.22 Complies 

Trinity Academy 950 5.09 Does Not Comply 

Tynecastle HS 900 2.26 Does Not Comply 

Wester Hailes HS 750 5.73 Complies 

  

Page 182



The City of Edinburgh Council – 4 May 2023                                                 Page 159 of 159 

 

QUESTION NO 28 
By Councillor Booth for answer by 
the Leader of the Council at a 
meeting of the Council on 4 May 2023 

   

Question (1) Further to his answer to my question on 16 March 2023, 

please can the Council Leader outline whether he 

considered there to be a risk of inquorate meetings of the 

Licensing Board if he reduced the size of the Board from 10 

members to 9? 

Answer (1) Once again, I’m sure the persistent questions regarding the 

new composition of the Licensing Board are not personally 

targeted.  

I have no concerns about the risk of inquorate Licensing 

Board meetings. All members are highly trained and aware 

of their responsibilities, I’m sure they will do their utmost to 

attend meetings and ensure the Licensing Objectives 

continue to be upheld.  

   

 

 

Page 183



This page is intentionally left blank



 

  June 2023 

 Reflections on a busy first year 

 I was delighted this week to announce the launch date for passenger services on the newly completed 

tram line to Newhaven. 

While 7 June will undoubtedly be a day of celebration, it will also be a chance to reflect on what has 

been a major, complex project and I’d like to take the opportunity to thank residents and businesses 

once again for their patience and perseverance throughout its construction.  

Its success owes much to the lessons learned from the previous project, together with a great deal of 

hard work and dedication from our in-house Council team who have led and delivered the project on 

time and on budget. 

This is a major milestone moment for our city but also for me, coming as it does at the 12-month 

mark in my role as Council Leader. Serving the people of Edinburgh has been the greatest privilege of 

my life and I’m delighted to be able to continue the great work we’ve started.  

Over the past year, we and our partners have responded to the many major challenges put in front of 

us, from the city’s humanitarian response to Russia’s illegal war on Ukraine to dealing with the cost of 

living crisis and the death of HM The Queen. 

And we’ve done this while staying true to the priorities laid out in our Business Plan: tackling poverty, 

playing our part in the global fight against climate change by becoming a net zero city by 2030 and 

creating good places to live and work for our residents. 

Creating a green, integrated transport system is essential if we’re to meet our ambitious 2030 targets 

and the successful delivery of the tram will bring huge economic, social and environmental benefits to 

North Edinburgh – and beyond.  But it also links the city centre with one of our most important and 

ambitious developments in decades: the regeneration of Granton Waterfront, creating 3,500 new 

affordable low-carbon homes and Europe’s largest coastal park. 

Meanwhile, we’ve committed to putting in new kitchens, windows and doors and other improvements 

to over 3,000 of our older homes. We’re also investing £173 million over the next year to completely 

overhaul the fabric of hundreds of council homes to address damp, drive down fuel bills and carbon 

emissions and make buildings energy efficient. 

With the chastening news of the Paris Agreement at risk of being breached, it was really encouraging 

that Forbes Advisor ranked Edinburgh amongst the top five UK cities most likely to reach net zero 

targets. To help us achieve this we’ve put together a suite of action plans addressing everything from 

air quality to public transport, cycling and walking improvements to road safety – and we want to 

know what you think. Take part in our online consultation to share your views. 

We’re focusing on improving our everyday services too, from doubling our spend on roads, pavements 

and potholes to £22 million to investing in waste and cleansing – and the latest street cleanliness 

scores tell us that missed kerbside collections are at their lowest level for three years. Reports of 

overflowing communal bins are reducing – by an incredible 85% - and we’ve seen a rise of almost 

10% in mixed recyclables collected citywide. 

We’ve shown over the last year that we can rise to major challenges, and I’ve no doubt that we’ll 

continue to do so over the next 12 months – and beyond.  

 Striking the right balance for our residents 

 Not only is our city visually stunning, but it’s also walkable, filled with historical charm, green spaces 

whilst being diverse and progressive in its outlook. It's always nice to hear others feel the same way 

too.  

Time Out ranked Edinburgh as the best city in the world to visit and, earlier this month, our city 

topped the Totaljobs Quality of Living Index for the cities where workers can find the best work-life 

balance in the UK.  

Clearly, we’re striking a balance between the needs of everyone who lives here and those who visit, 

but this work maintaining everything people love about Edinburgh comes at a cost. As we grapple with 

the challenge of climate change, we also face a growing population and increased pressure on our 

services as a result of the welcome return of tourism post-covid. 

Page 185

Agenda Item 5.1

https://www.edinburgh.gov.uk/news/article/13734/trams-to-newhaven-passenger-services-launch-date-announced
https://www.theguardian.com/environment/2023/may/17/global-heating-climate-crisis-record-temperatures-wmo-research
https://www.forbes.com/uk/advisor/car-insurance/most-promising-cities-for-net-zero/
https://consultationhub.edinburgh.gov.uk/sfc/cmp/
https://www.edinburgh.gov.uk/news/article/13722/new-council-figures-show-communal-bin-roll-out-is-a-success
https://www.edinburgh.gov.uk/news/article/13722/new-council-figures-show-communal-bin-roll-out-is-a-success
https://www.totaljobs.com/recruiter-advice/quality-of-life-index-the-best-uk-cities-to-live-and-work-in-2023


This is, of course, against a backdrop of budget pressures where we remain the lowest-funded Council 

per resident in Scotland. We need to look at additional ways of raising finance to maintain and invest 

in the city and make Edinburgh fairer and greener – and a visitor levy is an important step in the right 

direction.  

I’m delighted, then, that after years of campaigning, the Scottish Government has finally listened to 

our calls, with Parliament publishing a discretionary Visitor Levy Bill just this week. This legislation will 

pave the way for us to introduce a levy and, in doing so, raise much needed funds for improving our 

city. 

Part of Edinburgh’s visitor appeal, of course, is our globally renowned cultural scene, programme of 

festivals and thriving hospitality industry. All these factors make Edinburgh a truly incredible city to 

live in, too. 

We want to make sure everyone can benefit from this so I’m pleased that, through our grants 

programme agreed last week, we were able to reaffirm our commitment to the sector and help 

residents to enjoy cultural activities no matter where they live in the city.  

 Capital conference confronts cost of living crisis 

 The reason we have such a thriving culture scene is, of course, thanks to the thousands of our people 

who work in the industry, across hospitality and tourism too. We know that many of these jobs can be 

seasonal and hourly so it’s really important we foster a culture in our city where workers are treated - 

and paid - fairly.  

I was really pleased, then, to see Kat Brogan appointed co-chair of the Edinburgh Living Wage Action 

Group. As Managing Director of Mercat Tours, a leading Living Wage employer, Kat is a champion for 

fair working across the tourism sector.  

She joined my colleague and fellow co-chair Councillor Jane Meagher this week as Edinburgh’s award-

winning efforts to see workers paid a fair wage for a fair day’s work was celebrated at the inaugural 

Living Wage Places event. 

Bringing together more than 70 delegates from 16 towns and cities across the UK, the conference in 

the City Chambers was a chance to build on our formal recognition in 2021 when we became a Living 

Wage accredited city. It was great too that the members voted overwhelmingly to choose Edinburgh 

as the host city. 

Over 630 Edinburgh-based employers have now signed up to pay the living wage, which is a great 

achievement. With the cost of living crisis serving as a stark reminder of what life on low pay means 

for workers, tackling in-work poverty has never been more vital. We must work together to break 

down barriers and champion the true value of people's jobs. 

  Top marks for our schools and early years 

 Providing the best education for our young people and ensuring they get the best start in life is, of 

course, another key priority for us – so I’m delighted that two of our schools and one nursery have 

been shortlisted for prestigious UK and Scottish education awards. 

Firrhill High School is in the running to be named the best high school in the UK after being nominated 

for the Times Education Supplement Secondary School of the Year category – the only Scottish school 

to make the list. Hope Cottage Nursery, meanwhile, is shortlisted in the ‘Making a Difference’ category 

in the Scottish Education Awards and James Gillespie’s High School has been nominated in the Gaelic 

Education Category. Congratulations to them all – and best of luck at the Awards!  

This is great news for our school community, as is our ongoing commitment to investing in modern, 

state-of-the-art facilities. Following the opening of the outstanding Castlebrae Community Campus last 

year, we’re planning to spend well over £400m on new schools in the next decade. Construction work 

has already started on a new Currie Community High School, one of the first Passivhaus-designed 

schools in the country, and work will shortly begin on a fantastic new community campus to replace 

Liberton High School. 

 When the Apple Ripens: Peter Howson at 65 

 Finally, I’m very much looking forward to the City Art Centre’s new exhibition, When the Apple Ripens: 

Peter Howson at 65, which opens this weekend.  

Spanning all four floors, the exhibition includes Howson’s early work, dominated by depictions of 

working-class Glasgow men – dossers, boxers and bodybuilders – and his more recent work, which 

responds to issues such as the pandemic and ongoing war in Ukraine. The very top floor includes 

seminal major works from the last decade, such as Prophecy and Babylon, as well as a series of new 

paintings. 

I want to pay tribute to the team at the City Art Centre, who have worked tirelessly to bring together, 

what is, a major retrospective of one of the UK’s leading painters, with many of the 100 works never 

seen before in Scotland. 

Visit our Museums and Galleries website to buy your tickets and find out more. 

Page 186

https://www.gov.scot/news/visitor-levy-legislation-introduced/
https://www.edinburgh.gov.uk/news/article/13731/council-leader-commits-support-to-the-capital-s-year-round-cultural-offering
https://www.edinburgh.gov.uk/news/article/13731/council-leader-commits-support-to-the-capital-s-year-round-cultural-offering
https://www.edinburgh.gov.uk/news/article/13733/living-wage-conference-to-confront-the-cost-of-living-crisis
https://www.tes.com/magazine/news/general/revealed-tes-schools-awards-2023-shortlist
https://www.edinburghmuseums.org.uk/


 Get involved 

 Keep up to date with all Council news online. You can watch live Council and committee meetings on 

our webcast service and join the debate on Twitter using #edinwebcast. If you wish to unsubscribe, 

please email us. 

 Follow us on twitter  Follow us on Facebook 

 

 

 

Page 187

https://www.edinburgh.gov.uk/news
http://www.edinburgh.public-i.tv/core/
mailto:leader@edinburgh.gov.uk?subject=Unsubscribe
https://twitter.com/Edinburgh_CC
http://www.facebook.com/edinburghcouncil


This page is intentionally left blank



 

 
City of Edinburgh Council 
 

10.00 am, Thursday 1 June 2023 

Interim Resource – Director of Adult Social Care 

Executive/routine  
Wards  
Council Commitments  

 

1. Recommendations 

1.1 To note that the Chief Executive, in consultation with the Lord Provost and Group 

Leaders, under the urgency provisions set out in paragraph 2.1.16 of the Committee 

Terms of Reference and Delegated Functions commenced with the appointment of 

an Interim Director of Adult Social Care. 

1.2 The Council is asked to note this appointment which will be for up to six months 

duration at a cost of circa £161,356 (based on a 4-day working week) and approve 

budget for this spend.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Andrew Kerr 

Chief Executive 

Contact: Andrew Kerr, Chief Executive  

E-mail: Andrew.kerr@Edinburgh.gov.uk 

 

Page 189

Agenda Item 7.1



 
Report 
 

Interim Resource – Director of Adult Social Care 

2. Executive Summary 

2.1 To allow the recruitment process for the Chief Officer for the Edinburgh Health and 

Social Care Partnership to be scoped out contingency arrangements have been 

considered and put in place to ensure immediate service continuity and leadership. 

 

2.2 The role of Interim Director of Adult Social Care has been established and filled as 

a temporary appointment through the approved Gatenby Sanderson Ltd 

Framework. The Chief Executive in consultation with the Lord Provost and Group 

Leaders approved this arrangement under urgency provisions set out in paragraph 

2.1.16 of the Committee Terms of Reference and Delegated Functions. 

 

2.3 The Interim Director will report directly to the Chief Executive. 

 

3. Main Report  

3.1 As outlined above, interim arrangements have been considered to allow service 

continuity during the recruitment process for the Chief Officer of Edinburgh Health 

and Social Care Partnership. 

 

3.2 The City of Edinburgh Council currently has a Local Government Resource 

Partnership Framework in place with recruitment consultants Gatenby Sanderson 

Limited which allows a direct award to be made for this position. 

 

3.3 A longlist of suitable candidates was considered by the Chief Executive which was 

then followed by a recruitment interview panel. This Panel comprised the Chief 

Executive, Councillors Day, Nicholson, Whyte, Millar and Davidson and was 

convened to meet and interview 3 shortlisted candidates who were deemed suitable 

for appointment. 

 

3.4 All appropriate pre-employment checks including reference checks were confirmed 

and an offer of temporary employment was made, effective from 15 May 2023. The 

contract is for a period of 6 months and the successful candidate is still finalising 

working arrangements, but is expected to be working for City of Edinburgh Council 

for 3-4 days per week.  

 

Page 190



3.5 In line with the contractual arrangements the City of Edinburgh Council is required 

to give 1 week’s notice of intention to cease arrangements within the first month, 

which is then extended to 4 weeks notice for the duration of the contract. 

 

3.6 With regards to role and responsibilities the Interim Director of Adult Social Care will 

be responsible for driving forward the Improvement Plan and providing support and 

leadership to the Partnership. 

 

4. Financial impact 

4.1 The contract is for six months duration at a cost of £161,356 (based on a 4-day 

working week).  

 

5. Stakeholder/Community Impact 

5.1 Not applicable.  

 

6. Background reading/external references 

6.1 Not applicable. 

 

7. Appendices 

6.1 Not applicable. 

Page 191



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 
The City of Edinburgh Council  
 

10am, Thursday, 1 June 2023 

Children, Education and Justice Services Structure  
 

Executive/routine Executive 
Wards All 
Council Commitments  

 

1.  Recommendations 

1.1 It is recommended that Council approve: 
 

1.1.1 The proposed changes to the Children, Education & Justice Services senior 
leadership structure.  

  
1.1.2 The permanent recruitment to the new post to start immediately. This 

appointment would be made in line with our Chief Officer Recruitment Policy 
and would be led by the Recruitment Committee, composed of the appropriate 
elected members. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Amanda Hatton 
Executive Director, Children, Education and Justice Services 
 
E-mail:  Amanda.hatton@edinburgh.gov.uk 
 
 
 
 

Page 193

Agenda Item 7.2

mailto:Amanda.hatton@edinburgh.gov.uk


Council – 1 June 2023 

 
Report 

2.  Executive Summary 

2.1 This report recommends an alternative proposed structure for the senior leadership 
team in Children, Education & Justice Services, responding to a recommendation 
from Recruitment Committee on 20 February 2023 for the Service Director, 
Children’s Services & Criminal Justice.  

 
2.2 Subject to approval by Council, we will use our managing change policy to initiate 

this organisational change and it is recommended that the immediate 
commencement of recruitment to the new permanent position be led by the 
Recruitment Committee of Elected Members, in line with Council’s approved Chief 
Officer Recruitment Policy. 

 

3.  Background 

3.1 The Executive Director Children, Education & Justice Services joined the council in 
November 2021 taking over an interim structure. 

The structure at that time had a combined Service Director for the Children’s 
Services, Criminal Justice and Chief Social Work Officer (CSWO) role. This had been 
put in place on 1 July 2021 after the amalgamation of two Head of Service positions; 
Children’s Services and what was previously Safer and Stronger Communities, the 
CSWO was part of the Head of Safer and Stronger Communities role and had no 
operational responsibility for Children’s or Adult’s social work within the Edinburgh 
Health & Social are Partnership (EHSCP). 

3.2 After due diligence work started to better understand the quality of practice across 
Children’s Services and it became apparent that quality assurance (QA) had not 
been happening in the way that was required. Part of the reason given for this was 
because operational pressures had been prioritised. It also became apparent that 
having QA and operational management in the same part of the structure had lost 
the ability to have necessary critical challenge in the system. Part of the current 
challenges across the service have resulted from an absence of QA and an overly 
optimistic view of delivery. The CSWO also has statutory responsibility for the quality 
of social work practice in EHSCP adult services. Recent Care Inspectorate reports 
have identified significant challenges in EHSCP adult services and there is a need for 
more rigorous QA and improvement activity. Separating the CSWO role from the 
Service Director Children’s Services & Criminal justice generates more capacity to 
focus in this area and prevents the loss of vital QA activity as the stand-alone post 
would not have operational delivery responsibility, rather a focus on performance, 
governance, quality, and improvement. 

 

 

Page 194



Council – 1 June 2023 

4.  Main report 

4.1 This proposal suggests an alternative structure that seeks to ensure that the most 
senior roles within Children, Education & Justice Services are designed in such a 
way that provides the strategic and operational delivery capacity to enable the 
change required in the directorate, especially post the Tanner review and the 
implications of previous poor practice. 

Service Director – Performance, Quality, Governance & Improvement, Chief 
Social Work Officer 

4.2  The proposal will remove the Chief Social Work Officer remit from the Service 
Director Children’s Services & Criminal Justice and align this to a role that also heads 
up Performance, Quality, Governance & Improvement for the service. This provides 
additional capacity to the Service Director Children’s Services & Criminal Justice and 
ensures that the EHSCP adult services elements of the CSWO role can be effectively 
supported. In addition, moving this role from the immediate line management of 
service provision and direct to the Executive Director (with a dotted line to the Chief 
Executive) ensures that there is a greater degree of independence and constructive 
challenge to practice. 

This would also provide greater quality assurance capacity and challenge to both 
Children’s and Adult services within EHSCP. There is also a new post of Principal 
Social Worker in Edinburgh Health & Social Care Partnership with responsibility for 
adult services will take on the depute CSWO role and be supervised by the CSWO.  

4.3 Any further review of the Children, Education & Justice Services structures will follow 
our Managing Change Policy. 

 

5.  Next Steps 

5.1 Subject to Council approval, implementation of the new arrangements will proceed in 
accordance with the Managing Change Policy and the Chief Officer Recruitment 
Policy, led by the Recruitment Committee of Elected Members. 

 

6.  Financial impact 

6.1 Based on 2023/24 salaries, assuming a 3% pay award, the additional cost to the 
service for a full financial year would be £51,840. This is the net cost of the difference 
between a Service Director salary and a grade 12 post as the intention is not to 
replace the recently vacated G12 – Head of Quality Governance and Regulation and 
incorporate the Chief Social Work Officer position into this position. This will be 
funded from available budget released following a service review in 2022/23. 

 

7. Stakeholder/Community Impact 

7.1 Engagement with in-scope colleagues and Trade Unions.  
 

Page 195



Council – 1 June 2023 

8. Background reading/external references 

8.1 Chief Officer Recruitment and Selection Policy   

 

9. Appendices 

9.1 Appendix 1 – Proposed Children, Education and Justice Services Leadership 
Structure  

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 196

https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/Data/Corporate%20Policy%20and%20Strategy%20Committee/20160906/Agenda/$item_72_-_recruitment_and_selection_procedure_-_senior_officers.xls.pdf


Council – 1 June 2023 

 
 
 
 
Appendix 1 – Proposed Children, Education & Justice Services 
Leadership Structure 
_____________________________________________________________

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Chief Executive
Andrew Kerr

Executive Director of Children, 
Education and Justice Services

Amanda Hatton

Service Director
Children & Criminal Justice 

Services
(Kathy Henwood)

Service Director
Education and Chief 

Education Officer
(Lorna French)

Service Director
Performance, Quality, 

Governance & Improvement 
and Chief Social Work Officer

(Proposed new position)

Page 197



This page is intentionally left blank



The City of Edinburgh Council 

10am, Thursday, 1 June 2023 

Heathervale Children’s House 

Item number 
Executive/routine 
Wards 
Council Commitments 

1. Recommendations

1.1 Council are asked to note the work undertaken following the Care Inspectorate 
Inspection at Heathervale Children’s House on the 23 and 24 January 2023, 
following the approved motion by Councillor Key on Heathervale Care Home 
Service on 4 May 2023. 

Amanda Hatton 

Executive Director of Children, Education and Justice 

Services 

Contact: Steve Harte,  Head of Corporate Parenting

E-mail: steve.harte@edinburgh.gov.uk

Page 199

Agenda Item 7.3

mailto:steve.harte@edinburgh.gov.uk


 
Page 2 

City of Edinburgh Council 1 June 2023 v0.4 

 
Report 
 

Heathervale Children’s Home 

2. Executive Summary 

2.1 This report sets out the work undertaken in Heathervale Children’s House following 
the Care Inspectorate inspection which took place on the 23rd and 24th January 
2023 which graded the house as Adequate, following the motion approved at full 
Council on 4 May 2023 by Councillor Key on Heathervale Care Home Service: 

“Council: 

1) Notes the most recent inspection report by the Care Inspectorate of 
Heathervale Care Home Service. 

2) Is very concerned with the quality grading of “Adequate”; this equates to an 
evaluation assessment of 3 on a scale of 1 to 6 and means that “strengths 
only just outweigh weaknesses”. 

3) Is further concerned that this Service is not showing signs of improvement 
and is not achieving the high-quality grades that were evident 5 years ago. 

4) Calls for a report to Council in one cycle that details the improvement plan 
called for by the Care Inspectorate and that assures council that all actions 
called for in the report have been completed satisfactorily. 

5) Is very disappointed that Councillors, in their role as Corporate Parents, 
only became aware of the details of this report through press media 
coverage rather than through a Member’s Brief or other appropriate 
channel. 

6) Calls for a comprehensive report within 2 cycles on all accommodation 
services that provide care to our young people within Edinburgh and to 
arrange Members’ visits to them within this calendar year, 2023. 

  

3. Background 

3.1 As part of their ongoing Inspection programme, the Care Inspectorate attended 
Heathervale on the 23 January 2023.  This was an unannounced inspection which 
took place over two days (Monday 23 January between 10:30 and 18:30 and 
Tuesday 24th January between 14:00 and 17:45). The inspection was undertaken 
by one inspector from the Care Inspectorate. To prepare for the inspection, the 
Care Inspectorate reviewed information about this service which included previous 
inspection findings, registration information, information submitted by the service 
and intelligence gathered since the last inspection. 

Page 200



 
Page 3 

City of Edinburgh Council 1 June 2023 v0.4 

In making our evaluations of the service, the Inspector: 
- spoke with three of the young people who live in the house; 
- spoke with five staff and managers; 
- observed practice, the environment and daily life; and 
- reviewed documents. 

3.2 During the inspection, the Inspector noted that the requirements from the previous 
Inspection, undertaken in December 2019, were met within agree timescales. 
Following the inspection in December 2019, the service was assessed as adequate 
for “How well is our care and support planned?” and “How well do we support 
children and young people’s well-being?”  

3.3 Following the recent Inspection, the Inspector gave verbal feedback to the Acting 
Team Manager for Residential Care who was covering operational duties on 1 
February 2023. At this point, the Inspector shared a number of strengths and 
positives, especially in respect of young people feeling loved and well cared for, but 
noted she would be grading the service as Adequate for the key indicator “How well 
do we support children and young people's rights and wellbeing?” 

 
3.4 Given there were a number of strengths identified by the Inspector during the 

feedback, the Acting Team Manager asked the Inspector to review their score of 
Adequate.  

 

4. Main report 

4.1 The Care Inspector identified four requirements and two Areas for Improvement in 
the report. An Improvement Plan has been created and shared with the Care 
Inspector on the 5 April 2023. Both the Inspection report and Improvement Plan 
were also shared with the Head of Corporate Parenting and the Regulation Officer, 
Children, Education and Justice Services. The staff at Heathervale have also had 
sight of the Care Inspectorate’s Report and Improvement Plan and the latter is 
discussed and  updated by the management team on a regular basis. 

 
4.2 As part of the Improvement Plan, the Technical Operations Manager, Place 

Directorate, visited Heathervale on the 9 February 2023 to complete an inspection 
of the house to identify ongoing maintenance issues. Both the Acting team Manager 
and Assistant Team leader who attended the feedback from the Care Inspector, 
were also in attendance.  From this, a schedule of work was agreed and further 
updated on the 12 May 2023.  

 
4.3 The Executive Director for Children, Education and Justice Services and Operations 

Manager, Childrens Services, visited Heathervale on the 6 April and met with young 
people and staff who took them around the building.  The Executive Director 
immediately raised concerns in relation to the fabric of the building with the 
Executive Director of Place and also agreed that Heathervale staff would produce a 
list of furniture required. Following this the Operations Manager met with the Head 
of Facilities Management to discuss identified issues with progressing work 
requests and further meetings are arranged with colleagues from Place directorate 
who are supporting the progression of the works required at Heathervale.  The 

Page 201



 
Page 4 

City of Edinburgh Council 1 June 2023 v0.4 

young people are involved in decisions around design and  purchasing of new soft 
furnishings for the communal areas and monies have been allocated to progress 
this. 

  

4.4 At the time of the inspection visits, Heathervale had not been running at a full 
staffing compliment due to lengthy periods of sickness absence and unfilled 
vacancies. This has now been resolved and the management team within the house 
is back to full capacity.  Following a recent successful recruitment exercise, new 
colleagues will be joining the house in due course.  This will allow the team to 
implement all the actions from the Improvement Plan timeously. 

 

5. Next Steps 

5.1 The Acting Team Manager for Residential Care and the Team Leader at 
Heathervale, will review the Improvement Plan on an ongoing basis during their 
regular supervision sessions (monthly). Issues are escalated to the Head of 
Service, Corporate Parenting. 

 
5.2 The Care Inspectorate have indicated they will return to Heathervale, early 2024. 

The follow up inspection will look at all requirements and areas for improvement 
from the current report and update on actions taken and the inspectors views 
regarding progress towards this.  

  

6. Financial impact 

6.1 Any financial impact is contained within existing budgets.  

 

7. Stakeholder/Community Impact 

7.1 We have spoken to the young people regarding the ongoing maintenance 
programme and areas they would like to see upgraded and how they would like to 
be involved in this. The Care Inspectorate also send questionnaires to every 
resident and spoke to the young people when they visited. 

7.2 House meetings are held regularly and they include discussions about activities 
young people would like to suggest/ take part in and any issues within the building 
they want to bring to the attention of staff.  

 

8. Background reading/external references 

8.1 All Care Inspectorate Reports are published on their website and the Heathervale 
report can be viewed here: file:///C:/Users/9053942/OneDrive%20-
%20City%20of%20Edinburgh%20Council/Downloads/InspectionReport-314631.pdf 

 

Page 202



 
Page 5 

City of Edinburgh Council 1 June 2023 v0.4 

9. Appendices 

9.1  n/a 

 

 

Page 203



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 
The City of Edinburgh Council 
 

10am, Thursday, 1 June 2023 

Family Swim Sessions in Braidburn Pool 

Item number  
Executive/routine  
Wards  
Council Commitments  

 

1. Recommendations 

1.1 Council are asked to note the update on special needs swimming lessons at 
Braidburn Pool, following the emergency motion by the Administration on the 4 May 
at full council asking;  

 
To agree for a report in one cycle to identify suitable funding sources to allow these 
sessions to continue beyond September 2023 and requests officers investigate 
actions, including additional funding, to secure the immediate resumption of 
Additional Support Needs swimming sessions at Braidburn. 

 

 

 

 

 

Amanda Hatton 

Executive Director of Children, Education and Justice Services 

E-mail: amanda.hatton@edinburgh.gov.uk 

 

 

 

  

Page 205

Agenda Item 7.4

mailto:amanda.hatton@edinburgh.gov.uk


 
Page 2 

City of Edinburgh Council 22 June 2023  

 
Report 
 

Family Swim Sessions in Braidburn Pool 

2. Executive Summary 

2.1 This report sets out the current position with extra-curricular swimming lessons for 
learners with Additional Support Needs, and their families, in response to the 
Emergency motion by the Administration at full council on the 4 May 2023. 

  

3. Background 

3.1 Learners with Additional Support needs have hydrotherapy or swimming lessons in 
their hydrotherapy pools in school during the school day.  This is reliant on qualified 
staff, including physiotherapists, being in post.  At Braidburn School the pool, which 
was not timetabled on Fridays, was made available some years ago for families to 
join in.  Uptake was low due to the time of day.  

 
 Family Swim sessions then took place on a Saturday morning.  Disability services 

funded the Braidburn Family Swim Sessions using the Holiday Hub budget, 
however as the provision is term-time, it does not qualify for further funding from this 
budget. 

 

4. Main report 

4.1 The arrangement to fund this has been extended by the Council until September 
2023.  Edinburgh Leisure (EL) advised that they would look at how else this could 
be continued after September e.g. alternative funding sources, the introduction of 
charges for the sessions. 

 
4.2  The sessions stopped at Braidburn in November 2022 due to health and safety 

concerns and re-located (initially on a temporary basis) to Gracemount Leisure 
Centre. The decision was made to retain the sessions at Gracemount in response 
to the health and safety issues. The change in venue, whilst disruptive, was 
actioned in response to the staffing challenges EL were experiencing and the 
availability of funds (from the Council) for the sessions and to safeguard the 
provision of the ASN family swim sessions.  Information on the rational for the 
decision is detailed below: 

Page 206



 
Page 3 

City of Edinburgh Council 22 June 2023  

4.2.1 Securing the appropriately qualified and experienced staff to deliver the 
sessions has been challenging (like many other organisations and business 
sectors) EL are experiencing staffing challenges and the hours at Braidburn 
were proving particularly challenge to staff and it was especially problematic 
securing the staff to carry out the required training with these staff members.  

 
4.2.2 EL have identified the need for further staffing and supervisory support for 

these sessions to operate safely. There is no additional funding available to 
cover this. EL did not explore the option of introducing charges to cover 
these additional costs as the over-riding issue relates to staffing / resourcing. 

 
4.2.3 Delivering the ASN family swim session within an Edinburgh Leisure venue 

ensures the appropriate staffing and supervisory support is in place. The 
sessions at Gracemount offer exclusive use of the pool for the sessions with 
the staffing arrangements in place to service the venue’s standard opening 
hours. The lifeguards supporting the ASN sessions at Gracemount receive 
the required regular and ongoing training as part of their working week.   

 
4.3 EL were also mindful that the current funding from the City of Edinburgh Council is 

coming to an end in September 2023 with no future funding identified and wanted to 
make sure that the swim sessions are sustainable long term and take away 
uncertainty over whether they will run. EL felt that offering them at Gracemount was 
the best way to do that, not withstanding the need to introduce a charge for the 
sessions. 
 

4.4 EL is aware of the concerns that have been raised about the change of venue: 
 

4.4.1 The pool at Gracemount is not a hydrotherapy pool and whilst the pool 
temperature is raised to 30 degrees for the sessions acknowledge that this 
will not be sufficient for all the children to enjoy their swim session.  

 
4.4.2 EL have considered the importance of a ‘quiet’ environment for the children - 

families attending the session have sole use of the pool area and it is at a 
time when the venue is much quieter compared to other ‘out of school’ 
hours.   

 
4.5  The Council are looking at a number of external funding streams, however even if 

funding is secured still might not be possible to continue at Braidburn due to the 
health and safety issues EL have identified. 

 

5. Next Steps 

5.1 Council Officers will continue to work with Edinburgh Leisure together on how to 
support access to specialist family swim sessions. 

  

Page 207



 
Page 4 

City of Edinburgh Council 22 June 2023  

6. Financial impact 

6.1 The cost of funding this for a year is in the region of £12,000.  There should be no 
financial impact if a third sector funder is sourced. 

6.2  As part of the community mental health contracts we commission Edinburgh Leisure 
to deliver Physical activity to support young people aged 12-18 in Edinburgh, 
experiencing mild to moderate mental health conditions. This could be looked into 
further to see if there is the possibility to expand this to include the swim sessions. 

  

7. Stakeholder/Community Impact 

7.1  Engagement with Edinburgh Leisure. 

 

8. Background reading/external references 

8.1 n/a 

 

9. Appendices 

9.1  n/a 

 

 

Page 208



 
 
 
QUESTION NO 1 By Councillor Doggart for answer by 

the Convener of the Finance and 
Resources Committee at a meeting 
of the Council on 1 June  2023 
 

  Swift IT System - this question in its entirety was 

continued from the meeting on 4 May 2023. 

Question (1) When did officers become aware that social work 

information was held outside the Swift system? 

Answer (1)  

Question (2) When did officers become aware that storing social work 

information outside the Swift IT system was not compliant 

with GDPR? 

Answer (2)  

Question (3) On discovering Swift was not GDPR compliant, what actions 

did officers take to mitigate the data security risks? 

Answer (3)  

Question (4) When did officers report the non-compliance with GDPR to 

the Information Commissioner? 

Answer (4)  

Question (5) Does the current Swift usage remain non-compliant with 

GDPR and do the data security risks remain live? 

Answer (5)  

Question  (6) Did individuals referenced in the Tanner report have 

unrestricted access to sensitive personal data held outside 

Swift? 

Answer  (6)  

 
 

Item no 10.1 

Page 209

Agenda Item 10.1



This page is intentionally left blank



QUESTION NO 2 By Councillor Aston for answer by 
the Convener of Housing, 
Homelessness and Fair Work 
Committee at a meeting of the 
Council on 1 June 2023 

Question (1) Given a number of recent instances where Council

properties have been removed from the disposals list

despite neighbours of those properties having been told that

they would be disposed of, has there been any change to

the policy in relation to acquisitions and disposals

programme which has not been agreed either by the

Housing, Homelessness and Fair Work Committee or by

Council in the last twelve months?

Answer (1) 

Question (2) Can the Convener please state the current policy for the

acquisitions and disposals programme?

Answer (2) 

 

Page 211

Agenda Item 10.2



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 
 
QUESTION NO 3 By Councillor Nicolson for answer by 

the Chair of the Edinburgh 
Integration Joint Board at a meeting 
of the Council on 1 June 2023 

   

Question  After the previous chief officer’s sudden departure from the 

partnership, can you confirm that the person appointed was 

appointed to the whole role of Chief Officer of EIJB? 

Answer   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

 
 

Page 213

Agenda Item 10.3



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 
 
QUESTION NO 4 By Councillor McVey for answer by 

the Convener of the Transport and 
Environment Committee at a meeting 
of the Council on 1 June 2023 

   

Question (1) How many car parking spaces (based on average use on 

available bays) have been reduced through the rollout of the 

CPZ in June 2023? 

Answer (1)  

Question (2) How many of these reductions were due to: 

a) improving connectivity by reducing double parking on 

narrow streets blocking general vehicle and service 

vehicle access?  

b) improving access to local bin hubs and other serviced 

amenities? 

c) improving visibility at junctions?  

d) another reason? 

Answer (2)  

Question (3) For remaining space that has been lost for local residents' 

priority bay parking that don’t meet the rationale for a, b and 

c, what is the explanation for each location? 

Answer (3)  

Question (4) When will the new restrictions be reviewed and when is the 

earliest that residents can expect to see modifications from 

the plans being implemented? 

Answer (4)  

Question (5) When did officers make contact with local essential service 

providers, such as GP practices, police station to explore 

solutions to any potential local impacts? 

Answer (5)  

Page 215

Agenda Item 10.4



Question (6) Can the Convenor commit to ensuring officers make urgent 

contact with those lifeline service providers to ensure any 

issues are quickly overcome to protect local access to 

services? 

Answer (6)  

   

   

   

 
 

Page 216



 
 
 
QUESTION NO 5 By Councillor Key for answer by the 

Convener of the Transport and 
Environment Committee at a meeting 
of the Council on 1 June 2023 

   

Question (1) Given that Council policy on EV charging equipment is to 

site it on the road and not the pavement, can he tell me how 

many EV charging installations are sited on public realm 

pavements in Edinburgh? 

Answer (1)  

Question (2) What is the timescale to have these, incorrectly positioned, 

pavement-mounted EV installations moved into the 

roadway, where they should be? 

Answer (2)  

   

   

   

 
 

Page 217

Agenda Item 10.5



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 
 
QUESTION NO 6 By Councillor McFarlane for answer 

by the Convener of the Culture and 
Communities Committee at a 
meeting of the Council on 1 June 
2023 

   

Question  Following completion of the review of Lifelong Learning can 

the Convenor confirm if any staff have already been put on 

the redeployment list instead of supporting the vital work 

across Edinburgh's community centres? 

Answer   

   

   

   

   

   

 
 

Page 219

Agenda Item 10.6



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 
 
QUESTION NO 7 By Councillor Campbell for answer 

by the Convener of the Culture and 
Communities Committee at a 
meeting of the Council on 1 June 
2023 

   

Question (1) Following completion of the review of Lifelong Learning can 

the convener confirm the overall budget saving that is being 

delivered? 

Answer (1)  

Question (2) Can the convener confirm the full budget that was allocated 

to this service prior to the review, and the new budget 

allocated to the services that have come out of the review? 

Answer (2)  

Question (3) Can the convener ensure this includes staffing costs and 

any other ad-hoc funding or funding provided to support 

delivery of lifelong learning services both before and after 

the review? 

Answer (3)  

   

 
 

Page 221

Agenda Item 10.7



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 
 
QUESTION NO 8 By Councillor Nicolson for answer by 

the Chair of the Edinburgh 
Integration Joint Board at a meeting 
of the Council on 1 June 2023 

   

Question  Recruitment of frontline staff in the Health and Social Care 

Partnership is still an issue impacting all service delivery 

across Health and Social Care.  It is positive that the 

H&SCP have enlisted the Capital City Partnership to 

manage the recruitment of more staff into the workforce.  

What is the additional cost of this and when will the findings 

brought back for councillors to analyse the impact of this 

approach. 

Answer   

   

   

   

   

   

 
 

Page 223

Agenda Item 10.8



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 
 
QUESTION NO 9 By Councillor Macinnes for answer 

by the Convener of the Finance and 
Resources Committee at a meeting 
of the Council on 1 June 2023 

   

Question  Can the convener confirm how much funding was given to 

Edinburgh Council for 2023/24 financial year by the Scottish 

Government, ringfenced to mitigate the impacts of UK 

government policy decisions, including but not limited to the 

bedroom tax, the two-child family cap and the rape clause 

and any funding supplied for the Scottish Welfare Fund and 

crisis grants? 

Answer   

   

   

   

   

   

 
 

Page 225

Agenda Item 10.9



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 
 
QUESTION NO 10 By Councillor McFarlane for answer 

by the Convener of the Transport and 
Environment Committee at a meeting 
of the Council on 1 June 2023 

   

Question  To ask the Convener of the Transport and Environment 

Committee for an update on prospective plans to relocate 

the statue Body and Soul from Hunter Square. 

Answer   

   

   

   

   

   

 
 

Page 227

Agenda Item 10.10



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 
 
QUESTION NO 11 By Councillor Dobbin for answer by 

the Leader of the Council at a 
meeting of the Council on 1 June 
2023 

   

Question (1) What new initiatives, ideas or technologies have been 

brought back from the Smart Cities Summit for review by the 

Council’s Smart Cities Team? 

Answer (1)  

Question (2) Given the visit to Taiwan was approved at Full Council, 

when will the Council Leader be providing a report back to 

Council on the learnings from the visit and the value derived 

for our City. 

Answer (2)  

   

   

   

 
 

Page 229

Agenda Item 10.11



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 
 
QUESTION NO 12 By Councillor Dijkstra-Downie for 

answer by the Convener of the 
Transport and Environment 
Committee at a meeting of the 
Council on 1 June 2023 

   

Question (1) Which streets will see the installation of signage for 

contraflow cycling on one-way streets (as per Council policy) 

between now and the end of the 2023? 

Answer (1)  

Question (2) What metrics are used to determine which streets are 

suitable for the implementation of contraflow cycling 

signage? 

Answer (2)  

Question (3) Is Cockburn Street part of the implementation plan? If not, 

why not? 

Answer (3)  

   

 
 

Page 231

Agenda Item 10.12



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 
 
QUESTION NO 13 By Councillor Caldwell for answer by 

the Convener of the Transport and 
Environment Committee at a meeting 
of the Council on 1 June 2023 

   

Question (1) Several CBR sites in Phase 1, 2 and A (such as South 

Sloan Street and Easter Road) remain incomplete due to 

on-the-ground challenges completing the initial TRO, which 

has left some residents having to use the carriageway to 

use bins. How many outstanding CBR TROs are there to 

advertise in Phases 1, 2 and A? 

Answer (1)  

Question (2) What steps are being taken to ensure binhubs are 

completed for residents at these locations as soon as the 

outstanding CPZ Phase 1 TROs are executed? 

Answer (2)  

Question (3) Since the initial first stage consultation of CPZ Phase 1 to 

present, how many applications (of both new bays and 

removals) have the ‘Disabled Persons Parking’, ‘Controlled 

Parking Zones’ and ‘Parking’ teams received respectively 

which could not be progressed due to the open CPZ Phase 

1 TRO? 

Answer (3)  

Question (4) What steps are being taken to ensure these requests are 

completed for residents at these locations as soon as the 

outstanding CPZ Phase 1 TROs are executed? 

Answer (4)  

   

 
 

Page 233

Agenda Item 10.13



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 
 
QUESTION NO 14 By Councillor Lang for answer by the 

Convener of the Transport and 
Environment Committee at a meeting 
of the Council on 1 June 2023 

   

Question (1) When is it expected that Builyeon Road in Queensferry will 

be diverted through the new housing development? 

Answer (1)  

Question (2) What is the current timetable for turning the existing 

Builyeon Road into an active travel route? 

Answer (2)  

   

   

   

   

   

 
 

Page 235

Agenda Item 10.14



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 
 
QUESTION NO 15 By Councillor Flannery for answer by 

the Convener of the Transport and 
Environment Committee at a meeting 
of the Council on 1 June 2023 

  The decision to progress to legislative TRO for B1 potential 

CPZ in Southside Newington is complex and divisive, 

particularly for residents who live on its Eastern side. Can 

the Convener - 

Question (1) Confirm that progress to Phase 2 of the city-wide CPZ 

scheme has been paused to assess impact of Phase 1 first? 

If this is the case, can the Convener explain why Phase 3, 

which includes the B1 CPZ, will still progress before the 

findings of Phase 2? 

Answer (1)  

Question (2) Can the Convener confirm that the process, starting from 

July 2023, will include a residents’ consultation on 

implementation and design? 

And confirm or rule out the possibility of the Eastern side of 

B1, Waverley  Park, to be considered as part of the B7 

area, which includes Prestonfield to the South of the Ward? 

Answer (2)  

   

 
 

Page 237

Agenda Item 10.15



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 
 
QUESTION NO 16 By Councillor Dijkstra-Downie for 

answer by the Convener of the 
Education, Children and Families 
Committee at a meeting of the 
Council on 1 June 2023 

   

Question (1) a) What information does the Council hold on the type 

and volume of food waste from school meals in primary 

schools in relation to meals or food items cooked but 

not served? 

b) What measures are in place to reduce this type of food 

waste? 

Answer (1)  

Question (2) a) What information does the Council hold on the type 

and volume of food waste from school meals in primary 

schools in relation to meals or food items served but 

not eaten? 

b) What measures are in place to reduce this type of food 

waste? 

Answer (2)  

Question (3) How does the Council assess the popularity of menu 

options? 

Answer (3)  

Question (4) How does the Council act on any information gathered 

under 1, 2 or 3 when it comes to set its menus? 

Answer (4)  

Question (5) How are pupils currently educated about food waste? 

Answer (5)  

   

 
 

Page 239

Agenda Item 10.16



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 
 
QUESTION NO 17 By Councillor Thornley for answer by 

the Convener of the Culture and 
Communities Committee at a 
meeting of the Council on 1 June 
2023 

  Scottish Government Playpark Funding 

Further to answers provided to question 10.10 at the 30 

June 2022 of the Council: 

Question (1) Can the Convener provide the final list of play parks which 

were upgraded from the 2022/23 allocation of Scottish 

Government funding? 

Answer (1)  

Question (2) How much money will the Council receive from the Scottish 

Government for 2023/24 for upgrading play parks? 

Answer (2)  

Question (3) Which play parks are to be upgraded with the 2023/24 

funding? 

Answer (3)  

   

   

 
 

Page 241

Agenda Item 10.17



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 
 
QUESTION NO 18 By Councillor Heap for answer by the 

Convener of the Culture and 
Communities Committee at a 
meeting of the Council on 1 June 
2023 

   

Question  What is the Council doing to reduce the number of empty 

shopfronts, in particular by facilitating community access 

and meantime use? 

Answer   

   

   

   

   

   

   

 
 

Page 243

Agenda Item 10.18



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 
 
QUESTION NO 19 By Councillor Heap for answer by the 

Convener of the Culture and 
Communities Committee at a 
meeting of the Council on 1 June 
2023 

   

Question (1) Will they be meeting artists from the Save Our Studios 

campaign? 

Answer (1)  

Question (2) To provide a summary of this meeting 

Answer (2)  

   

   

   

   

 
 

Page 245

Agenda Item 10.19



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 
 
QUESTION NO 20 By Councillor Heap for answer by the 

Convener of the Culture and 
Communities Committee at a 
meeting of the Council on 1 June 
2023 

   

Question  Whether they will provide a report back from their meeting 

regarding the West Park Place studios held as a result of 

the recent Committee motion regarding the studios? 

Answer   

   

   

   

   

   

   

 
 

Page 247

Agenda Item 10.20



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 
 
QUESTION NO 21 By Councillor Heap for answer by the 

Convener of the Culture and 
Communities Committee at a 
meeting of the Council on 1 June 
2023 

  To provide information on: 

Question (1) The number of meetings they or their officials have had with 

external bodies regarding the Filmhouse over the past three 

months  

Answer (1)  

Question (2) A summary of the content of those meetings  

Answer (2)  

   

   

   

   

 
 

Page 249

Agenda Item 10.21



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 
 
QUESTION NO 22 By Councillor Cowdy for answer by 

the Convener of the Transport and 
Environment Committee at a meeting 
of the Council on 1 June 2023 

  Local Flood Risk Management Plan 2022-28, Action ID 

26603 for the Water of Leith (Page 264), and ID 26803 for 

Niddrie Burn (Page 281) are indicated for delivery 2023-

2025 and state: 

“The volume of water that would overwhelm the sewer 

system and cause flooding from manholes or inside our 

homes is to be assessed, to support understanding of the 

performance of the urban drainage network. 

“Scottish Water will carry out an assessment of sewer flood 

risk within the highest priority sewer catchments, which 

includes the Edinburgh sewer catchment in this target area. 

This will help to improve knowledge and understanding of 

potential surface water flood risk.  

Action delivery lead is Scottish Water in coordination with 

the local authority. 

Outputs of this modelling assessment will be shared with 

local authorities and SEPA.” 

Question  Can the Convener confirm what steps he has taken to 

ensure Scottish Water instigates this action in co-ordination 

with CEC? 

Answer   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

Page 251

Agenda Item 10.22



 
 

Page 252



 
 
 
QUESTION NO 23 By Councillor Cowdy for answer by 

the Convener of the Transport and 
Environment Committee at a meeting 
of the Council on 1 June 2023 

   

Question  Can the Convener provide tonnage data for recycling 

volumes at Household Waste Recycling Centres for the 3 

years up to March 2023. 

Answer   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

 
 

Page 253

Agenda Item 10.23



This page is intentionally left blank



QUESTION NO 24 By Councillor Cowdy for answer by 
the Convener of the Transport and 
Environment Committee at a meeting 
of the Council on 1 June 2023 

Local Flood Risk Management Plan, Action IDs 26605, 

26705, and 26806 require ongoing work that: 

“Community engagement is to continue to be carried out in 

the area by the responsible authorities to raise awareness of 

flood risk. 

Awareness raising should be developed based on the 

outcomes of the surface water management plan and flood 

studies. 

Action delivery lead is The City of Edinburgh Council in 

coordination with responsible authorities and the Scottish 

Flood Forum.” 

Question Can the Convener confirm how CEC is complying with its 

community engagement responsibilities and how it is co-

ordinating with Scottish Flood Forum and responsible 

authorities? 

Answer 

Page 255

Agenda Item 10.24



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 
 
QUESTION NO 25 By Councillor Cowdy for answer by 

the Convener of the Transport and 
Environment Committee at a meeting 
of the Council on 1 June 2023 

  Murrayfield TTROs for concerts 

Question (1) Has an IIA been carried out for the road closures for the 

Murrayfield concerts; whilst it would not be necessary to 

carry out an EIA for each individual closure has one been 

done to assess the impact of closures on adjacent 

residential communities which can only leave or access their 

properties via the A8? 

Answer (1)  

Question (2) Does the Convener consider that the notification process of 

closures for residents is adequate? 

Answer (2)  

   

   

   

   

   

 
 

Page 257

Agenda Item 10.25



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 
 
QUESTION NO 26 By Councillor Mitchell for answer by 

the Convener of the Finance and 
Resources Committee at a meeting 
of the Council on 1 June 2023 

   

Question (1) How many occurrences of Council Tax arrears have been 

caused because an incorrect or already occupied address 

has been used to open a new Council Tax account in each 

of the last five years? 

Answer (1)  

Question (2) What is the total amount of Council Tax arrears 

accumulated for each of the last five years because of this? 

Answer (2)  

Question (3) How much remains to be paid for each of the last five 

years? 

Answer (3)  

   

   

   

 
 

Page 259

Agenda Item 10.26



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 
 
QUESTION NO 27 By Councillor Cowdy for answer by 

the Convener of the Transport and 
Environment Committee at a meeting 
of the Council on 1 June 2023 

  • City Mobility Plan 2021-2030, Policy Measure 

MOVEMENT 2 - Bus Network Review states: 

“Review the city’s bus network to better align with the 

Council’s strategic priorities including improving 

accessibility, integration and reducing congestion in 

the city centre.” 

• Draft Public Transport Action Plan 2030 –  

Page 30, Item 8, Bus Network Review, states: 

 “As this plan (Circulation Plan) is implemented, we will 

agree an evolved integrated public transport system 

including stops, routes and public transport 

interchanges.” 

Page 36, Item 11, Improve Governance and Co-

ordination, states: 

“We will therefore deliver new governance for Council 

owned public transport services with the new company 

set to be in place in 2023.” 

• Transport & Environment Committee, Feb 2023, 

approved a delivery programme based on the draft 

Public Transport Action Plan (PTAP)  

• Elected Member training – Lothian Buses, 16th May 

i) Lothian Buses supported the principle that they need 

to remain a fully commercial operator to “remain 

competitive, offer best value, and deliver a cross-

subsidised holistic network”. 

ii) Several Councillors raised important issues about 

the lack of influence the Council has on Lothian Buses 

including changes to Routes and Timetables. 

In light of the above: 

Question (1) Does the Convener expect Improved Governance of a new 

Public Transport Company will provide CEC with more 

influence over bus Routes and Timetables? 

Answer (1)  

Page 261

Agenda Item 10.27



Question (2) When will the Convener be bringing ideas on how to 

Improve Governance to Transport & Environment 

Committee for debate? 

Answer (2)  

Question (3) Does the Convener still believe a new Public Transport 

Company will be in place in 2023? 

Answer (3)  

Question (4) When will the Bus Network Review be scheduled? 

Answer (4)  

   

 
 

Page 262



 
 
 
QUESTION NO 28 By Councillor Whyte for answer by 

the Convener of the Planning 
Committee at a meeting of the 
Council on 1 June 2023 

   

Question (1) Please provide a copy of the report of the study the Council 

commissioned from MKA Economics entitled "Economic 

Value of Residential and Short Term Lets in Edinburgh".  

Answer (1)  

Question (2) Please also detail the costs involved in commissioning this 

report.   

Answer (2)  

   

   

 
 

Page 263

Agenda Item 10.28



This page is intentionally left blank



QUESTION NO 29 By Councillor Parker for answer by 
the Convener of the Housing, 
Homelessness and Fair Work 
Committee at a meeting of the 
Council on 1 June 2023 

In the last 10 years: 

Question (1) How many tenants in social housing found responsible for

anti-social behaviour have been evicted from their home and

re-housed

Answer (1) 

Question (2) How many tenants in social housing who were/are victims or

targets of anti-social behaviour by other tenants, have been

offered alternative tenancies

Answer (2) 

Question (3) How many tenants in social housing who were/are victims or

targets of anti-social behaviour by other tenants have been

advised to declare themselves homeless and give up their

tenancies

Answer (3)

Page 265

Agenda Item 10.29



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 
 
QUESTION NO 30 By Councillor Booth for answer by 

the Convener of the Development 
Management Sub-Committee at a 
meeting of the Council on 1 June 
2023 

   

Question  Please will the convener provide the following statistics, in 

each quarter from 1 April 2018 to date, and including a 

column of running totals for each of these items to that date: 

a) the number of planning applications received by the 

City of Edinburgh Council for a change of use to short 

term let; 

b) the number of these applications that were refused; 

c) the number of these applications that were granted; 

d) the number of these applications that were withdrawn; 

e) the number of applications received by the City of 

Edinburgh Council for a certificate of lawful use for a 

retrospective change of use to a short term let; 

f) the number of these applications that were refused; 

g) the number of these applications that were granted; 

h) the number of these applications that were withdrawn; 

Answer   

   

   

   

   

   

   

 
 

Page 267

Agenda Item 10.30



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 
 
QUESTION NO 31 By Councillor Nicolson for answer by 

the Chair of the Edinburgh 
Integration Joint Board at a meeting 
of the Council on 1 June 2023 

   

Question (1) On May 23 at Policy and Sustainability Committee, Unison’s 

social care Service Conditions Convenor quoted the EIJB 

Chair as ‘having no knowledge of the change to the public 

consultation’ which has changed from a consultation on the 

future of care homes to a consultation narrowing the scope 

to solely focus on decommissioning care homes? 

Answer (1)  

Question (2) Did officers discuss the decision to narrow the consultation 

with the chair prior to the publication? 

Answer (2)  

Question (3) Did you, as chair, inform the unions you had no knowledge 

of the change prior to the consultation’s publication? 

Answer (3)  

   

   

 
 

Page 269

Agenda Item 10.31



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 
 
QUESTION NO 32 By Councillor Booth for answer by 

the Convener of the Planning 
Committee at a meeting of the 
Council on 1 June 2023 

   

Question (1) Please will the convener provide the following statistics, in 

each quarter from 1 April 2018 to date, and including a 

column of running totals for each of these items to that date: 

a) the number of planning enforcement cases; 

b) the number of planning enforcement cases involving 

an STL; 

c) the number of planning enforcement cases where an 

enforcement notice has been served; 

d) the number of planning enforcement cases involving 

an STL where an enforcement notice has been served; 

e) the number of STL enforcement cases where an 

enforcement notice has been appealed; 

f) the number of STL enforcement appeals where the 

appeal has been dismissed; 

g) the number of STL enforcement appeals where the 

appeal has been upheld. 

Answer (1)  

Question (2) Please will the convener identify the approximate number of 

staff hours spent in 

a) enforcement; 

b)  enforcement of a case involving an STL over each of 

the last 5 years. 

Answer (2)  

   

 
 

Page 271

Agenda Item 10.32



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	Notice of meeting and agenda
	City of Edinburgh Council
	10.00 am Thursday, 1st June, 2023
	Contacts
	1. Order of business
	2. Declaration of interests
	3. Deputations
	4. Minutes
	5. Leader's Report
	6. Appointments
	7. Reports
	8. Motions
	9. Congratulatory Motions
	10. Questions
	Information about the City of Edinburgh Council
	Further information
	Webcasting of Council meetings





	4.1 Minute of 4 May 2023
	5.1 Leader's Report
	7.1 Interim Resource - Director of Adult Social Care
	7.2 Children, Education and Justice Services Structure
	The City of Edinburgh Council
	10am, Thursday, 1 June 2023
	Children, Education and Justice Services Structure
	1.  Recommendations



	Report
	2.  Executive Summary
	3.  Background
	4.  Main report
	5.  Next Steps
	6.  Financial impact
	7. Stakeholder/Community Impact
	8. Background reading/external references
	9. Appendices


	7.3 Heathervale Children's House
	The City of Edinburgh Council
	10am, Thursday, 1 June 2023
	Heathervale Children’s House
	1. Recommendations



	Report
	Heathervale Children’s Home
	2. Executive Summary
	3. Background
	4. Main report
	5. Next Steps
	6. Financial impact
	7. Stakeholder/Community Impact
	8. Background reading/external references
	9. Appendices



	7.4 Family Swim Sessions in Braidburn Pool
	The City of Edinburgh Council
	10am, Thursday, 1 June 2023
	Family Swim Sessions in Braidburn Pool
	1. Recommendations



	Report
	Family Swim Sessions in Braidburn Pool
	2. Executive Summary
	3. Background
	4. Main report
	5. Next Steps
	6. Financial impact
	7. Stakeholder/Community Impact
	8. Background reading/external references
	9. Appendices



	10.1 By Councillor Doggart - Swift IT System
	10.2 By Councillor Aston - Acquisitions and Disposals Programme
	10.3 By Councillor Nicolson - Chief Officer of EIJB
	10.4 By Councillor McVey - Controlled Parking Zones
	10.5 By Councillor Key - EV Charging Equipment
	10.6 By Councillor McFarlane - Lifelong Learning Review
	10.7 By Councillor Campbell - Lifelong Learning Review Budget Savings
	10.8 By Councillor Nicolson -Recruitment of Frontline Staff - Health and Social Care Partnership
	10.9 By Councillor Macinnes - Scottish Government Funding
	10.10 By Councillor McFarlane - Statue Body and Soul from Hunter Square
	10.11 By Councillor Dobbin - Visit to Taiwan
	10.12 By Councillor Dijkstra-Downie - Contraflow Cycling on One Way Streets
	10.13 By Councillor Caldwell - Impact of Controlled Parking Zone TROs on the Communal Bin Review and Disabled Parking Bay Requests
	10.14 By Councillor Lang - Builyeon Road in Queensferry
	10.15 By Councillor Flannery - The Decision to Progress to Legislative TRO for B1 Potential CPZ in Southside Newington
	10.16 By Councillor Dijkstra-Downie - Food Waste in Schools
	10.17 By Councillor Thornley - Play Parks Funding
	10.18 By Councillor Heap - Empty Shopfronts
	10.19 By Councillor Heap - Save Our Studios Campaign
	10.20 By Councillor Heap - West Park Place Studios
	10.21 By Councillor Heap - Filmhouse Meetings
	10.22 By Councillor Cowdy - Assessment of Sewer Flood Risk
	10.23 By Councillor Cowdy - Recycling Centre Volumes
	10.24 By Councillor Cowdy - Raising Awareness of Flood Risk
	10.25 By Councillor Mowat - Murrayfield Road Closures
	10.26 By Councillor Mitchell - Council Tax Arrears
	10.27 By Councillor Cowdy - Bus Network Review
	10.28 By Councillor Whyte - MKA Economics Study
	10.29 By Councillor Parker - Social Housing - Anti-Social Behaviour
	10.30 By Councillor Booth - Planning Application Statistics
	10.31 By Councillor Nicolson - EIJB Public Consultation
	10.32 By Councillor Booth - Planning Enforcement Statistics



